
UNION GAP CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

MONDAY JULY 10, 2023 - 6:00 P.M. 

CIVIC CAMPUS, 102 W. AHTANUM ROAD, UNION GAP 

The pub/le will be allowed to comment on agenda items as they are presented during the meeting. Please 

signal the chair if you wish to comment on an items. Each speaker will have three (3) minutes to address the 

city council. 

I. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

II. CONSENT AGENDA: There will be no separate discussion of these items 
unless a Council Member requests in which event the item will be removed from 
the Consent Agenda and considered immediately following the Consent Agenda. 
All items listed are considered to be routine by the Union Gap City Council and 
will be enacted by one motion 

A. Approval of Minutes: 

Regular Council Meeting Minutes, dated June 26, 2023, as attached to the 
Agenda and maintained in electronic format 

B. Approve Vouchers: 

Claim Vouchers - EFT's, and Voucher No. 106720 through 106793 for July 
10, 2023, in the amount of $1,194,977.96 

III. GENERAL ITEMS 

Public Hearing 

Six Year Transit Development Plan 2024-2029 

Public Works I. Community Development 

Resolution No. - __ - Six Year Transit Development Plan 2024-
2029 

Presentation 

1. Final Draft Housing Action Plan Discussion - Byron Gumz, YVCOG 
Planning Manager 



Union Gap City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 
Monday, July 10, 2023 
Pa e2 

2. Interlocal Agreement - Yakima Consortium for Regional Public 
Safety (YAKCORPS) - Kyle Curtis, County Commission and 
YAKCOPRS Executive Board Chair 

City Manager 

1. Resolution No. - - Interlocal Agreement - Yakima 
Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

2. Resolution No. - - Appointing YVCOG General Membership 
Voting Representative 

3. Resolution No. - - Appointment of Public Safety Council 
Committee Co-Chair 

IV. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

V. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE: - Final Opportunity - The City Council 
will allow comments under this section on items NOT already on the agenda. 
Each speaker will have three (3) minutes to address the City Council. Any 
handouts provided must also be provided to the City Clerk and are considered a 
matter of public record 

VI. CITY MANAGER REPORT 

VII. COMMUNICATIONS/QUESTIONS/COMMENTS 

VIII. DEVELOPMENT OF NEXT AGENDA 

IV. ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING 

Council Chambers is accessible for persons with disabilities. Please let us 
know if you need any special accommodations to attend the meeting. 



Meeting Date: 

From: 

July 10, 2023 

David Dominguez, City Engineer 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Public Hearing - Six Year Transit Development Plan 2024-2029 

SYNOPSIS: Public Hearing, which was set at the June 12, 2023 meeting, to receive public testimony 
on the Transit Development Plan 2024 - 2029. 

Presented by Alejandra Cervantes from Medstar Transportation. 

RECOMMENDATION: Conduct a Public Hearing. 

LEGAL REVIEW: Reviewed by the City Attorney. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

ADDrrlONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Union Gap Transit Development Plan 2024-2029 and 2022 Annual Report 
2. Notice of Public Hearing 



 

Union Gap Transit Development Plan 2024 -2029 
and 2022 Annual Report 

 
 

Union Gap Transit 
Operated by Medstar Transportation 
1904 Fruitvale Blvd 
Yakima, WA 98902  
(509) 248-2004 
 

 
 

Public Hearing 
 

Adopted by Union Gap City Council 
 

Submitted to WSDOT 
 
Acknowledgements 
 
City of Union Gap 
Sharon Bounds, City Manager 
Dennis Henne, Public Works Director 
Karen Clifton, Finance Director 
 
Prepared by:  

Medstar Transportation 
1904 Fruitvale Blvd, Yakima, WA 98902 
 
Contact person: Justin Bergener  
CEO 
Email - discover@gomedstar.com  

Phone: (509) 248-2004 
 

 

 

 

 

mailto:discover@gomedstar.com


 

 

 

 

1 

Table of Contents 

 

Section 1: Organization 1 

Section 2: Union Gap Transit Service Area 3 

Section 3:  Physical Plant 4 

Section 4: Service Characteristics 4 

Section 5: Service Connections 5 

Section 6: Service Development & Improvements 5 

Section 7: Union Gap Transit Development Plan & WSDOT - Operating & Investment Guidelines: 6 

Preservation: 6 

Safety: 6 

Mobility: 6 

Environment: 6 

Stewardship: 7 

Section 8: Plan Assumptions 7 

Section 9: Operating Data 2022  Actual - 2023 – 2029  Estimated Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Union Gap Transit - Operating Revenues and Expenditures 2023-2029 Error! Bookmark not defined. 

All figures in whole dollars Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Section 10: List of Equipment Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Section 11: Route Map and Schedules 15 

Section 12: Dial A Ride Rules and Information 19 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

2 

Section 1: Organization 

Union Gap Transit is governed by the Union Gap City Council.  Their 7 member board approves changes to 
transit operations and service levels.

 
City council meetings are usually held on the second and fourth Monday of each month at the Union Gap Civic 
Hall located at 102 W Ahtanum Rd. Additionally, the Transit Advisory Committee meets as needed to discuss 
any suggestions or ideas for transit development and changes. 
 



 

 

 

 

3 

 
 
As of  06/01/2023 Union Gap Transit contractor employed: 
 
2     full time employees in the operations division 

 
7    full time equivalents in the Dial-A-Ride Paratransit division 

 
.5    full time equivalent in the maintenance division 

 
.5     full time equivalent in the administration division 

 
  1.130 full time equivalent employed by The City of Union Gap transit division 
 
11.13   Total Transit employees 

 

Section 2: Union Gap Transit Service Area 

Union Gap Transit is a municipal transit system as authorized in RCW 35.58.2795 and is located in Yakima 
County.  
 



 

 

 

 

4 

 

Section 3:  Physical Plant 

The contractor’s facility is located at 1904 Fruitvale Blvd., Yakima, WA 98902. The building is owned by their 
contracted services provider Medstar Transportation.   
 

 
 

Section 4: Service Characteristics 
 

Union Gap Transit contracts transit services both fixed route and ADA paratransit services to Medstar 
Transportation. 
 



 

 

 

 

5 

In 2008 the Union Gap Transit Division was created and fully funded through a .02% sales tax. This funding 
supports free passenger fares for both fixed route and paratransit services. This division’s purpose is to 
administer the Union Gap Transit contract and provide essential management and support services to the 
division through oversight, coordination and technical assistance.  
 
Union Gap Transit provides fixed route and ADA paratransit services. Union Gap Transit operates 3 fixed-route 
buses with the 3rd route bus going in a reverse direction Monday-Friday and 2 buses on the weekends. Bus 
service operates Monday through Friday 6:00 a.m. – 7:00 p.m., and Saturday and Sunday 9:00 a.m. – 7:00 p.m. 
The Monday through Friday bus service operates on half-hour headways with the reverse route operating on a 
one-hour frequency. Saturday and Sunday bus services operate on a one-hour frequency. Dial-A-Ride  
paratransit service operates the same service hours as fixed-route service. Additionally, Dial-A-Ride Paratransit 
service also operates Sunday 8:00 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.  For further details on local fixed-route services as well as 
shuttle services, please visit the Union Gap Transit website at https://uniongapwa.gov/transit or see the back 
section of the Yakima Transit Bus book. Union Gap Transit currently offers free service (no boarding fee) to all 
transit riders and complementary paratransit rides for all qualified riders.  
 
Due to the fact that all vehicles used in the provision of transit services are purchased and owned by the 
contractor and not the City of Union Gap, there is no listing for capital expenditures for vehicles in this plan. 
When vehicles are listed as additions to or replacement of vehicles used for transit purposes, it is for fleet 
description only as no capital funds are used at this time. 
 
 
 

Section 5: Service Connections 

Union Gap Transit provides fixed route service to the Sears passenger shelter on Valley Mall Blvd and Main St 
for connections with Yakima Transit routes 7 and 9 as well as connections with Selah Transit. The Pahto Public 
Passage bus routes 1, 4 and 6 connect at the Sears Bus Stop M-F at 10:45 a.m., 2:30 pm and again at 5:10 p.m. 
These connector routes meet up with the CWA Airporter Shuttle for trips to Seattle, the Ellensburg Commuter 
and the Community Connector for trips throughout the Yakima Valley as well as connections to Ben Franklin 
Transit in the Tri Cities.  
                                                                                    

Union Gap Transit offers Dial-A-Ride services within the city limits of Union Gap, and to and from the city limits 
of Yakima and Selah. 

Section 6: Service Development & Improvements 
 

1. Work together with the City of Union Gap and local businesses to promote the service and local 
business. 

2. Provide shuttle service to residents and the public for special events such as the State Fair, 4th of July 
and other events when requested. 

3. Develop innovative ways to streamline operations and efficiencies. 
4. Continue striving for excellence in support of our core values to provide great customer service as well 

https://uniongapwa.gov/transit/


 

 

 

 

6 

as safe reliable transportation. 
5. Work with local businesses to help promote and support commerce. 

 
 

Section 7: Union Gap Transit Development Plan & WSDOT - Operating & 
Investment Guidelines:  

Preservation:    

In 2023, Union Gap Transit will continue to use its resources to maintain service levels in all modes of 
Transportation while meeting all the requirements of the ADA. In the next 6 years, Union Gap Transit will 
maintain or increase levels of service, replace most of the older revenue service vehicles and try to add more 
alternative fuel or hybrid vehicles.  

Safety: 

The continued modernization of the vehicle fleets including fleet software will improve system safety by 
enlisting the latest safety related technology and maintenance systems. The installation of more bus shelters 
will improve system safety by providing a waiting area that is both well lit and away from traffic. The 
installation of cross walks across busy streets will improve safety and efficiency in the long run.  
 
Drivers are certified in First Aid, CPR, Blood Borne Pathogens, Defensive Driving, Passenger Assistance Safety 
& Sensitivity Class, Child Restraint Safety and Fire Suppression upon hire. Drivers are with a driver trainer for 
6 days and signed off on the 7th day. When new training items come up, every driver is sent a request to do 
the updated training in the Google classroom. 
Recertifications are as follows: 

1. First Aid & CPR are done every 2 years. 
2. Blood Borne Pathogens, Child Restraint Safety and Fire Suppression are done every year. 
3. Defensive Driving and Passenger Assistance Safety and Sensitivity Class are done every 3 years. 

 
In 2023 there was one not at fault accident involving the route buses. We plan on keeping accidents or 
incidents low with continued monitoring and surprise inspections from our field supervisor and field 
assistants. With the continued monitoring and surprise inspections we can keep route buses on time, 
maintain the vehicle condition, and keep our drivers and riders safe. In May of 2023, Medstar also 
implemented a Zero Tolerance Policy for Safety Violations and At Fault Accidents or Incidents.  

Mobility: 

In completing this Six Year Transit Development Plan, Union Gap Transit will continue with a totally accessible 
fixed route bus fleet, while increasing service levels in paratransit services for those with disabilities who are 
unable to use the fixed route services. 

Environment: 

In the near future, we hope to have converted all transit vehicles to hybrid or alternative fuel technology to 
enhance a healthy community, promote energy conservation and protect our environment.   



 

 

 

 

7 

Stewardship: 

It is the intent of Union Gap Transit, to work towards greater efficiency and to improve the quality of our on 
demand transportation services with efficient routes and studies for a future investment in micro transit 
services for local and outlying businesses. This could include an on demand rider App which would allow 
riders to easily view the ETA of each vehicle in real time.  

Section 8: Plan Assumptions 

Population – According to the 2022 US Census estimate, the population of the Union Gap is 6,492. 
 

1.  Sales Tax - We are expecting sales tax to remain constant through 2029.  
2.  Inflation Factor - Per historical, CPI for Medstar operating expenses will increase at a rate of 1.5% as 

outlined in the plan through 2029. Although, In 2023 we expect there will be higher than normal 
inflation. 

3.  Fixed Route Bus Service In 2023 Union Gap Transit will provide 14,476 hours of revenue service. 
Ridership will be consistent through 2029 and we will add an electric bus to the fleet, which will 
reduce gas consumption. 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 1: Monthly Ridership. This graph depicts the month ridership totals since the implementation of 

services by Medstar Transportation in 2022.  *Ridership decreased due to Covid-19 starting in March* 



 

 

 

 

8 

 

 
 

 
Figure 2: Monthly Ridership. This graph depicts the monthly ridership totals by Route for 2022. 



 

 

 

 

9 

 
Figure 3: Union Gap Route Daily Average by Month. This graph depicts boardings/exits per day by month 

for 2022. 

 



 

 

 

 

10 

 
 

4.  Dial-A-Ride ADA Paratransit Service  
 
 Union Gap Transit provided 14,473 revenue hours of service in 2022, and forecast to increase at a rate 
of 1% each year through 2029.  

 
 
Figure 4: Dial A Ride Ridership.  
 
This graph shows the total boardings for 2022.  
*Ridership decreased due to Covid-19 starting in March 2020, but started increasing from mid-2022. 
 

 



 

 

 

 

11 

 
 

In future years Dial-A-Ride services may increase due to an increase in the aging population. In order to adhere 
to ADA Americans with Disabilities Act standards and requirements for those with disabilities, it may be 
necessary to consider securing additional revenue to be used exclusively for Dial-A-Ride growth and service 
quality maintenance. Mobility Management may be used to direct riders who are able to the fixed route 
system. 
 

5.   Transit Buses – The Union Gap Fleet consists of 6 Transit Buses in compliance with ADA Wheelchair 
Lifts.  

6.   Paratransit Vehicles – The Dial a Ride Fleet consists of 2 wheelchair accessible Grand Caravans. 
7.   Contract Administration, Operations, Shop and Administration Facility  - Our call center is open 24 

hours with administrative support for 24/7, as well as full time onsite mechanics on duty to ensure 
seamless service 7 days a week for any breakdowns or mechanical failures. 

8. Bus Shelters - In coordination with its contractor the City will determine appropriate locations along 
its arterials for fixed bus stops. Fixed bus stops will increase safety along these corridors for both 
transit riders and motorists. Bus shelters and benches are installed and maintained by the City.  

9.   Flag Stops - Flag stops are a great way to increase ridership along with the many bus shelters and 
benches along the route. With safety in mind, flag stops on major arterials like Main Street and 
Washington Avenue are permitted when it is safe to pull off the road. For all other flag stops, the 
driver must be able to give sufficient notice to the vehicles behind the bus before stopping. 

10. Fares - There is no cost to ride Dial A Ride or the Union Gap Transit bus routes. 

 



 

 

 

 

12 

Section 9: Operating Data 2022 Actual - 2023 – 2029 Estimated (2022 Annual 
Report) 
 
 

Fixed Route 

Service 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 

Revenue vehicle 

miles 169,013 169,013 169,013 169,013 169,013 169,013 169,013 169,013 

Total vehicle 

miles 189,902 189,902 189,902 189,902 189,902 189,902 189,902 189,902 

Revenue vehicle 

hours 14,473 14,473 14,473 14,473 14,473 14,473 14,473 14,473 

Total vehicle 

hours 15,197 15,197 15,197 15,197 15,197 15,197 15,197 15,197 

Passenger trips 19,247 19,247 19,247 19,247 19,247 19,247 19,247 19,247 

Fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reportable injuries 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Collisions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gasoline fuel 

Consumed (gal) 19,793 19,793 19,793 19,793 19,793 19,793 19,793 19,793 

Dial-A-Ride 

Service 

        

Revenue vehicle 

miles 56,775 57,343 57,916 58,495 59,080 59,671 60,268 60,870 

Total vehicle 

miles 63,792 64,430 65,074 65,725 66,382 67,046 67,716 68,394 

Revenue vehicle 

hours 4,846 4,631 4,194 4,235 4,278 4,321 4,364 4,407 

Total vehicle hours 5,702 5,448 4,934 4,983 5,033 5,084 5,134 5,185 

Passenger trips 5,499 5,554 5,610 5,666 5,722 5,780 5,837 5,896 

Fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reportable 

injuries 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Collisions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gasoline fuel 

Consumed (gal) 3,626 3,663 3,699 3,736 3,774 3,811 3,849 3,888 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

13 

Union Gap Transit - Operating Revenues and Expenditures 2021-

2029 (All figures in whole dollars     

 
2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 

Beginning Balance 4,265,505 4,657,400 4,770,451 4,971,099 5,184,229 5,384,715 5,572,431 5,747,249 

Revenues         

Sales Tax 1,390,395 1,470,089 1,470,089 1,470,089 1,470,089 1,470,089 1,470,089 1,470,089 

Fares Box         

Interest 31,840 33,660 33,660 33,660 33,660 33,660 33,660 33,660 

Federal Operating Grants         

State Operating Grants  29,266       

Interfund Loan Proceeds         

Total Available 5,687,740 6,190,415 6,274,200 6,474,848 6,687,978 6,888,464 7,076,180 7,250,998 

Operating Expenses         

Contracted Fixed Route 768,398 833,917 842,256 850,678 859,185 867,777 876,455 885,219 

Contracted Paratransit 

ADA 127,588 165,983 167,643 169,320 171,013 172,723 174,450 176,195 

Contracted Shuttle 

Service         

City Operating Expenses 112,104 239,556 241,952 244,371 246,815 249,283 251,776 254,294 

Total Expenses 1,008,090 1,239,456 1,251,851 1,264,369 1,277,013 1,289,783 1,302,681 1,315,708 

Net Cash Available 4,679,650 4,950,959 5,022,349 5,210,479 5,410,965 5,598,681 5,773,499 5,935,291 

Capital Obligations         

Capital Improvements  166,321 29,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 

Interfund Transfers 22,250 14,187 22,250 22,250 22,250 22,250 22,250 22,250 

Total Capital 

Expenditures 22,250 180,508 51,250 26,250 26,250 26,250 26,250 26,250 

Ending Cash Balance 

12/31 4,657,400 4,770,451 4,971,099 5,184,229 5,384,715 5,572,431 5,747,249 5,909,041 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

14 

Section 10: List of Equipment 
 

Year
 

Make
 

Model
 

VIN #
 

Seats
 

Lift/Ramp
 

Vehicle #
 

2016
 

Dodge
 

   

Caravan
 

2C4RDGBG0GR396557 3
 

YES
 

 67 

2012
 

Dodge
 

   

Caravan
 

2D4CN1AE1AR334613 3
 

YES
 

 44
 

2006
 

Ford
 

E-450
 

1FDXE45S13HA54135 12
 

YES
 

 114
 

2003 Ford
 

E-450
 

1FDWE35S24HA18722 14
 

YES
 

116
 

2006 Ford E-450 IFDXE45576HA69713 14 YES 104 

2009 Ford E-450 1FDFE45S99DA39376 13 YES 108 

2010 Ford E-450                1FDFE4FS6ADA05947 
 

10 YES 109 

2001 Ford      E-450 1FDXE45S91HA12454 14 YES 110 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 



 

 

 

 

15 

 

Section 11: Route Map and Schedules 



 

 

 

 

16 

 



 

 

 

 

17 

 



 

 

 

 

18 

 

 



 

 

 

 

19 

 

Section 12: Dial A Ride Rules and Information 

 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF UNION GAP, WASHINGTON 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on Monday, July 10, 2023, at 6:00 
p.m., or as soon thereafter as possible, the Union Gap City Council will conduct 
a public hearing. The purpose of the hearing is to receive comments on proposed 
Six Year Transit Development Plan. 

At the conclusion of the Public Hearing, the Council will make a final 
determination concerning proposed revisions. Comments may also be emailed 
to the City Clerk at Karen.Clifton@uniongapwa.gov or mailed to P .0. Box 3008, 
Union Gap, Washington, 98903 prior to 5:00 p.m. on July 10, 2023. 

DATED this 12th day of June, 2023. 

ren Clifton, Ci \Clerk 
; I 

j/ 



Meeting Date: 

From: 

July 10, 2023 

David Dominguez, City Engineer 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Resolution - Six Year Transit Development Plan 2024-2029 

---------------------------·--··-----·-·---

SYNOPSIS: The City conducted a public healing on July 10, 2023 to take comments regarding an 
amendment of the Six Year Transit Development Plan. 

Medstar Transportation completed the 2024-2029 Transit Development Plan update. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a resolution adopting the Six Year Transit Development Plan 2024· 
2029. 

LEGAL REVIEW: The City Attorney has reviewed this resolution. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMA110N: N/A 

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATIACHMENTS: Resolution 



CITY OF UNION GAP, WASHINGTON 
RESOLUTION NO. 

A RESOLUTION adopting a Six Year Transit Development Plan 2024-2029. 

WHEREAS, the City operates its own transit system within the City of Union Gap; 

WHEREAS, as a result, the City is required to prepare a Six (6) Year Transit 
Development Plan and submit the same to the Washington State Department of Transportation; 

WHEREAS, the City's contractor, MedStar Transportation has prepared a Six Year 
Transit Development Plan and has received favorable review and comments concerning the Plan; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNION GAP, 
WASHINGTON, HEREBY RESOLVES as follows: 

The Six (6) Year Transit Development Plan, prepared by Medstar Transportation on 
behalf of the City, is hereby adopted as the City of Union Gap's Six (6) Year Transit 
Development Plan. 

PASSED this 10th day of July, 2023. 

John Hodkinson, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Karen Clifton, City Clerk Jessica Foltz, City Attorney 



Meeting Date: 

From: 

July 10, 2023 

David Dominguez, City Engineer 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Presentation - Final Draft Housing Action Plan Discussion - Byron Gumz, 
YVCOG Planning Manager 

SYNOPSIS: Byron Gumz, Planning Manager from YVCOG, will present the final draft Housing 
Action Plan for discussion. 

RECOMMENDATION: Presentation only. 

LEGAL REVIEW: N/A 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: N/A 

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Final Draft Housing Action Plan 



City of Union Gap 

Housing Action Plan 

2023 

Prepared by 
The Yakima Valley Conference of Governments 



Union Gap  
Housing Action Plan 2023 

2 
 

 

Table of Contents 
Housing Terminology ...................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................... 5 

Housing Needs Key Findings ......................................................................... 5 

Land Capacity Key Findings .......................................................................... 6 

Policy Review Key Findings ........................................................................... 6 

Introduction ................................................................................................. 7 

Development of the Housing Action Plan ............................................................ 8 

Outreach Strategy ...................................................................................... 8 

Housing Needs Assessment Data and Procedure .............................................. 8 

Objectives and Strategies ..............................................................................10 

Objective 1: Maintaining and rehabilitating existing housing stock .....................10 

Objective 2: Strategic expansion of infrastructure ...........................................13 

Objective 3: Providing opportunities for “missing middle” housing options ..........14 

Objective 4: Serving households with special housing needs .............................19 

Implementation and Monitoring ......................................................................31 

Appendices ..................................................................................................35 

Appendix 1: Outreach Report and Results ......................................................35 

Appendix 2: Housing Needs Assessment ........................................................46 

Appendix 3: Policy Review ...........................................................................78 

Appendix 4: Housing Strategies ...................................................................87 

Appendix 5: Displacement Prevention Strategies ........................................... 117 

 

 

  



 

3 
 

Housing Terminology 
This guidebook uses some terminology, acronyms, or data sources that may be 

unfamiliar. Here are some definitions.  

 

Affordable Housing  

The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) considers 

housing to be affordable if the household is spending no more than 30 percent of its 

income on housing costs. A healthy housing market includes a variety of housing 

types that are affordable to a range of different household income levels. However, 

the term “affordable housing” is often used to describe income-restricted housing 

available only to qualifying low-income households. Income-restricted housing can be 

located in public, nonprofit, or for-profit housing developments. It can also include 

households using vouchers to help pay for market-rate housing (see “Vouchers” 

below for more details).  

 

American Community Survey (ACS)  

This is an ongoing nationwide survey conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau. It is 

designed to provide communities with current data about how they are changing. The 

ACS collects information such as age, race, income, commute time to work, home 

value, veteran status, and other important data from U.S. households. We use data 

from the ACS throughout this needs assessment.  

 

Area Median Income (AMI)  

This is a term that commonly refers to the area-wide median family income 

calculation provided by the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD) for a county or metropolitan region.23 Income limits to qualify for affordable 

housing are often set relative to AMI. In this report, unless otherwise indicated, AMI 

refers to the HUD Area Median Family Income (HAMFI).  

 

Cost Burden  

When a household pays more than 30 percent of their gross income on housing, 

including utilities, they are “cost-burdened.” When a household pays more than 50 

percent of their gross income on housing, including utilities, they are “severely cost-

burdened.” Cost-burdened households have less money available for other essentials, 

like food, clothing, transportation, and medical care.  

 

Household  

A household is a group of people living within the same housing unit.24 The people 

can be related, such as family. A person living alone in a housing unit, or a group of 

unrelated people sharing a housing unit, is also counted as a household. Group 

quarters population, such as those living in a college dormitory, military barrack, or 

nursing home, are not considered to be living in households.  

 

  



 

4 
 

Household Income  

The census defines household income as the sum of the income of all people 15 years 

and older living together in a household.  

 

Income-Restricted Housing  

This term refers to housing units that are only available to households with incomes 

at or below a set income limit and are offered for rent or sale at below-market rates. 

Some income-restricted rental housing is owned by a city or housing authority, while 

others may be privately owned. In the latter case the owners typically receive a 

subsidy in the form of a tax credit or property tax exemption. As a condition of their 

subsidy, these owners must offer a set percentage of all units as income-restricted 

and affordable to household at a designated income level.  

 

Low-Income  

Households that are designated as low-income may qualify for income-subsidized 

housing units. HUD categorizes families as low-income, very low-income, or 

extremely low-income relative to HUD area median family incomes (HAMFI), with 

consideration for family size.  

 

Income Category Household Income  

Extremely Low-Income  30% of HAMFI or less  

Very Low-Income  50% of HAMFI or less  

Low-Income  80% of HAMFI or less  

 

Median Family Income (MFI)  

The median income of all family households in an area. Family households are those 

that have two or more members who are related. The median income of non-family 

households is typically lower than for family households, as family households are 

more lily to have more than one income-earner. Analyses of housing affordability 

typically group all households by income level relative to HUD area median family 

income (HAMFI), which is calculated for the county or metropolitan region.   



 

5 
 

Executive Summary 

Housing Needs Key Findings 
• Housing in the City of Union Gap does not meet demand. The city of 

Union Gap has a diverse and relatively evenly distributed economy that reflects 

retail, wholesale trade, hospitality, manufacturing, and agriculture. However, 

the job-to-housing ratio is 2.3, which means that there is not enough housing 

for the jobs that exist in the city. This has resulted in a substantial portion of 

Union Gap workers commuting from out of town.  

• Income in Union Gap has risen over the last ten years, but so have 

home values and rental prices. The median home value in Union Gap has 

risen by 43% between 2011 to 2021. Rental prices have risen by 16%. Over 

the same period, the median family income has only increased by 37%. This 

indicates homeownership is getting further and further out of reach for many 

prospective buyers, though rental prices still remain within reach, when 

available.  

• Many households in Union Gap are cost burdened. In 2021, 29% of all 

households in Union Gap were considered cost-burdened, with over 10% being 

considered extremely cost-burdened. Cost-burdened households spend a large 

portion (over 30%) of their available income on housing costs, while extremely 

cost-burdened households spend over 50% of their available income on 

housing costs. This leaves less money available for other vital needs like food, 

transportation, clothing, and education.  

• Most workers in Union Gap commute from elsewhere. Over 5,000 

workers commute to their workplace in Union Gap. Additionally, over 2,000 

workers who live in Union Gap commute elsewhere. Fewer than 300 residents 

of Union Gap work within Union Gap. Ideally, a city should provide enough 

housing for its work force, with a smaller proportion commuting into the city 

from elsewhere. 

• Union Gap has a substantial need for subsidized housing. Union Gap has 

an above-average population of people with special housing needs, whether 

they be low-income, seniors, disabled individuals, or people who require 

assisted living for other reasons. Despite this need, there are very few options 

available within the city to accommodate these individuals.  

• Union Gap needs more housing diversity. Over 60% of all housing in City 

of Union Gap are single-family homes. Not all households require, or can 

afford, that much space. For example, about 25% of all households in Union 

Gap are singles living alone, and another 25% are couples. Yet only 5% of 

housing units in Union Gap are studios and only 7% have just one bedroom. 

Increasing the diversity of housing options available will increase housing 

supply and provide more choices for residents seeking more affordable housing 



 

6 
 

that meets their current needs.  

• Countywide there is a shortage of seasonal farmworker housing. There 

are approximately 4,600 beds of seasonal farmworker housing provided 

throughout the county, despite over 45,000 seasonal jobs available in the 

busiest summer months.22 Identifying safe and sanitary housing facilities for 

seasonal workers is an important gap to address in Yakima County. 

 

Land Capacity Key Findings 
• Currently, there is room for approximately 2,402 housing units in the 

residential zoning districts in Union Gap. However, the majority of these 

are found exclusively in the R-3 zoning district, which would accommodate up 

to 1,088 housing units at a density of 20 dwelling units/net residential acre 

(DU/NRA). The other zoning district that can accommodate a large number of 

housing units it he Planned Recreational (PrC) zoning district, which is 

comprised of 9 parcels covering approximately 211 acres, and could 

accommodate 843 dwelling units.  

• Density restrictions in residential zoning districts are relatively strict. 

In both the R-1 Single Family 1, and R-2 Single Family 2 zoning districts, 

density limits are 5.5 DU/NRA and 7 DU/NRA respectively. While this does 

maintain neighborhood character, it can also be a barrier to meeting housing 

needs in single-family residential zones. Both of these zoning districts are 

limited when it comes to available land for development. 

 

Policy Review Key Findings 
• The population of Union Gap is expected to grow moderately by 2040, 

but a recent construction boom has helped the city meet the needs of a 

growing community. However, in order to meet this need, construction rates 

must remain at least as robust as they have been in recent years, and housing 

availability for different income levels must be considered, as well as housing 

for those with special housing needs.  

• There is a strong desire for a wider variety of housing options. While 

the current ordinance does allow for varying densities, outreach results indicate 

a desire for more housing types, especially “missing middle” types as identified 

in this document. Cottage housing, townhouses, and accessory dwelling units 

were the most requested housing types outside of more single-family detached 

housing.  

• More could be done to meet the needs of those with special housing 

needs. The comprehensive plan identifies meeting these needs as a priority, 

but current efforts have resulted in only a handful of available units for those 

with special housing needs, whether they are low-income households, 

individuals of senior status, or those with other housing needs.   



 

7 
 

Introduction 
The purpose of a Housing Action Plan is to review current and projected 

circumstances for housing availability within a community, determine the priorities of 

the community, and provide some options for the best path forward regarding 

housing. The entire process is one that involves cooperation between the authors 

(the Yakima Valley Conference of Governments), city staff, community members, 

developers, and various county and state organizations. The result is a tool that can 

be used by the city and by developers in order to determine needs, shape policy, act 

as a foundation for grants and other funding opportunities, and act as a source of 

information for any housing initiatives that may be undertaken by public or private 

entities.  

The document is comprised of a number of elements. The Housing Needs Assessment 

is an overview of demographic, employment, construction, and various other sectors 

of data, and identifies potential gaps that may exist presently and in the future. 

Current housing policy is also assessed, and potential barriers and bottlenecks are 

identified that may be changed in the future in order to allow for various housing 

types or for development to be more streamlined. Community outreach supplements 

these findings by asking community members what gaps they see regarding current 

housing, and what types of housing and efforts they would like to see employed by 

the city and by developers. The Housing Action Plan considers these gaps and 

desires, and provides some strategies that may be employed by the city in order to 

work with developers to meet those needs. It prioritizes strategies based on the 

priorities presented by city staff and council, and provides some alternative strategies 

in the appendices.   



 

8 
 

Development of the Housing Action Plan 

Outreach Strategy 
In order to craft a Housing Action Plan that accurately represents the needs and 

desires of the community, public outreach is crucial. The Yakima Valley Conference of 

Governments (YVCOG) engaged in a number of activities in order to ensure that the 

public’s voices were heard. There were a handful of events in which the YVCOG 

received community feedback, and an online survey that asked community members 

about their opinions on housing options and interests, desired housing types, and 

housing needs they saw in the community. The events included school events and the 

distribution of posters and postcards that linked to the online survey. The survey 

returned 22 results, 15 of which were in English and 7 of which were in Spanish.  

In addition to outreach activities, the YVCOG also made several presentations to the 

Union Gap City Council. These presentations focused on the Housing Needs 

Assessment, strategies for increasing housing availability and options within the city, 

and a policy analysis that looked at the goals of the Union Gap comprehensive plan. 

These presentations were informative, but also provided the opportunity for 

community feedback. The Housing Action Plan presented here incorporated this 

feedback throughout. 

Housing Needs Assessment Data and Procedure 
The Housing Needs Assessment synthesizes data from a variety of sources in order to 

highlight needs that exist within the community. It is comprised of community and 

workforce profiles, a current housing inventory, a gap analysis based on projected 

growth and construction, an assessment of the current displacement risk in the 

community, and a land capacity analysis that considers housing opportunities based 

on vacant, under-utilized, and under-developed parcels.  

The data for these analyses is taken from a variety of sources. Demographic data 

comes primarily from the United States Census Bureau, and includes both Census 

results and predicted numbers based on previous population counts and projected 

growth estimates. Construction data, household information, and some employment 

data also comes from the U.S. Census Bureau, and that source is indicated on the 

graphs/data listed in the Housing Needs Assessment, as well as the corresponding 

American Community Survey chart where the information was found. Population 

predictions were done using a combination of current census data/estimates, 

projections based on the Washington State Office of Financial Management, and 

Yakima County predictions by jurisdiction.  

Employment data was also gathered from the Washington State Employment Security 

Department, which tabulates current employment information by county, as well as 

projected employment in each economic sector over the next ten years. Data on 

income brackets and household income comes from the Office of Housing and Urban 

Development, specifically the Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy, which 



 

9 
 

takes census data and categorizes it by income bracket with the goal of highlighting 

housing needs within communities.  

The methodologies involved in tabulating and presenting the data vary. Some of the 

work involved simply graphically representing the data as it was presented in these 

sources. Other elements involved some in-house calculation by the Yakima Valley 

Conference of Governments, and those processes are generally articulated in the 

Housing Needs Assessment.  

The process of determining displacement risk was established by the Federal Agency 

for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry, which developed a mapping system for the 

Center for Disease Control in order to evaluate social vulnerability. The result, the 

Social Vulnerability Index (SVI) has been used by various organizations since then to 

understand the likelihood of displacement in the event of a hazardous event, which in 

this context could mean events such as job loss, death in the family, an increase in 

rent, or other unforeseen economic circumstances.  

The Land Capacity Analysis element of the Housing Needs Assessment involved 

utilizing Geographic Information Systems to consider whether parcels within a 

community were developed, vacant, under-developed (a parcel large enough to be 

subdivided in order to provide more housing units), or under-utilized (a parcel large 

enough to support a higher density of housing, such as a duplex or triplex). The 

results of this process were maps that indicated parcels that fall within these 

categories, and data tables that provide specific numbers for parcels and total 

acreage that could be utilized to meet a community’s housing needs.  

  



 

10 
 

Objectives and Strategies 
The objectives and strategies found in this section were developed as a result of data 

analysis, public outreach, and consultation with the elected officials and staff of the 

City of Union Gap. While the strategies presented here may be helpful in meeting 

these objectives, other strategies are being developed all the time, and the city 

should not feel bound by the options found here. Additionally, many of these 

objectives and strategies overlap, so engaging in a strategy to achieve a certain goal 

will likely have a positive impact on another objective. It is up to the elected officials 

and staff of the City of Union Gap to determine which strategies best suit their 

priorities, and implement them to meet those ends.  

Objective 1: Maintaining and rehabilitating existing housing stock 
Preserving and rehabilitating existing housing stock is a crucial part of ensuring 

community members have enough housing. While housing development can add 

housing stock to the market, if houses are lost due to neglect, then the result will be 

a net zero gain. There are numerous strategies that can be employed to maintain and 

rehabilitate existing housing stock, including utilizing community development block 

grants, partnering with non-profit organizations, and adopting a plan for historic 

preservation. Below are some other strategies that may be employed to preserve 

housing stock in Union Gap, along with some best practices for implementing these 

strategies and resources for these types of efforts.  

Local Housing Trust Fund 

Housing trust funds are distinct funds established by local governments that receive 

an ongoing source of dedicated funding to support housing affordability. They can be 

designed to meet the most critical housing needs in each community.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

Communities with sufficient capacity to manage a housing trust fund and generate 

sufficient capital for desired outcomes. Can also be coordinated at the county and 

regional level.  

Potential Drawbacks  

Requires management of the fund.  

Policies 

• Leverage additional funding from state or national programs (e.g., Community 

Development Block Grants) to maximize the benefit of dollars raised. 



 

11 
 

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Staff time to report on the distribution and use of funds.  

Resources  

• General Information on Housing Trust Funds at Housingtrustfundproject.org  

• Bellingham Home Fund  

Funding Resources for Affordable Housing 

There are a variety of sources of funding for affordable housing, and normally several 

forms of funding are required to make a project feasible. Below are some of the more 

prominent funding sources available.  

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program. This program is a federal 

initiative that authorizes affordable housing developers to sell tax credits to investors 

to generate equity for development costs. Investors can use the credits to reduce 

their federal tax liability. In Washington, this program is administered through the 

Washington State Housing Finance Commission (WSHFC) for projects building units 

affordable at the 60% area median income (AMI) level for 30 years. Through LIHTC, 

there is a 9% tax credit program and 4% tax credit program. Nationally, the LIHTC 

program has helped to create over 3 million affordable housing units over 30 years, 

according to the National Multifamily Housing Council.  

Washington State Housing Trust Fund. The Department of Commerce manages 

these funds that provide amortized loans, deferred loans and recoverable grants to 

support projects that acquire, build and/or rehabilitate affordable housing. Units must 

be accessible to households earning up to 80% of the AMI, with federal HOME 

funding requiring affordability at 50% AMI. A covenant is typically secured to ensure 

that the required affordability of units is maintained for 40 years.  

HUD/FHA Loans. These loan programs support affordable housing projects by 

allowing for more favorable lending terms than private-market providers will offer. 

The Section 221(d)(4) program insures construction loans for new construction or 

substantial rehabilitation of moderate- and low-income rental housing that contains 

five units or more. The Section 223(f) program insures mortgages for the purchase or 

refinance of existing multifamily housing.  

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Grant and Loan Programs. 

The USDA offers a variety of programs aimed at increasing affordable multifamily 

rental housing in rural areas. These include: Housing Preservation and Revitalization 

Demonstration Loans and Grants, Housing Preservation Grants, Multifamily Housing 

Direct Loans and Multifamily Housing Loan Guarantees.  

Community Development Block Grants (CDBGs). These grants are federal funds 

administered to smaller cities/towns and counties for projects that improve the 

economic, social and physical environment. CDBG funding cannot be used for new 

housing construction. It can, however, be used for housing rehabilitation, 

homeownership assistance, affordable housing plans and infrastructure projects that 

support affordable housing development. Specific CDBG grants are available to Native 



 

12 
 

communities through the Indian Community Development Block Grant Program 

(ICDBG). ICDBG funds have added flexibility that allows for land acquisition to 

support new housing and, under some circumstances, new housing construction. 

Some communities get funding directly from HUD; Commerce administers funds for 

the balance of the state.  

Resources:  

Information Resources from WSHFC, including list of all active LIHTC rental properties 

in Washington  

Housing Trust Fund Handbook  

HUD/FHA loan information  

USDA programs for developers  

Department of Commerce description of various CDBG funding programs and 

resource lists: https://www.commerce.wa.gov/serving-communities/community-

development-block-grants/  

Local CDBG program manager contact information: 

https://www.hud.gov/states/washington/community/cdbg  

 

Strategic Acquisition and Financing  

of Existing Multi-family Housing 

To better retain affordable housing, cities and housing authorities can catalog 

naturally occurring affordable housing and housing with income restrictions or 

covenants that are about to expire. Some of this information could be found in the 

HNA or with further analysis of HNA data. Cities, counties, and housing authorities 

may then identify funds to acquire existing multifamily buildings that serve low- or 

moderate-income residents to avoid displacement of residents. Selected properties 

should be likely targets for redevelopment with residents otherwise unable to afford 

to stay in the neighborhood or projects with expiring affordability contracts. 

Alternatively, public funds can support private or non-profit owners of buildings with 

expiring affordability covenants, as discussed in the next strategy. This practice 

preserves existing communities and retains long-term affordable housing stock.  

Support Third-Party Purchases  

of Existing Affordable Housing 

Community-based organizations, non-profits and community land trusts can be 

important property owners within a neighborhood. Using public resources to empower 

trusted institutions can preserve or create affordable housing and space for 

community-serving organizations and businesses. Municipal and other funds can 

assist these institutions in land and property acquisition efforts that preserve 

affordable housing and prevent displacement within a neighborhood.  

  

https://www.hud.gov/states/washington/community/cdbg


 

13 
 

Objective 2: Strategic expansion of infrastructure 

Infrastructure is essential for expanding city services to housing developments. 

However, the process is often expensive, and sometimes prohibitive for especially 

smaller developers. Strategic expansion of infrastructure is an effective way of 

ensuring that future developments will be able to access these services. Below are 

two strategies that support strategic expansion of infrastructure. Additionally, the 

City of Union Gap requires developers to expand services if not already available, 

which keeps the cost burden of expanding these services off of the tax payer.  

Strategic Infrastructure Investments 

One of the costs associated with development is the cost of upgrading existing or 

developing new infrastructure to serve development. In some cases, a community 

may wish to identify priorities for investment in sewer or water extensions or 

sidewalks to support upzones, or to catalyze development around new amenities such 

as transit hubs or community centers. Strategic selection of infrastructure priorities in 

the capital facilities element can help support your housing program.  

In Washington state, the community revitalization financing (CRF) program 

authorizes cities, towns, counties and port districts to create a tax “increment area” 

and finance public improvements within the area by using increased revenues from 

local property taxes generated within the area (RCW 39.89). The best locations for 

such a program are undeveloped and underdeveloped areas because this program 

depends on an increase in property value. In 2020, HB 2497 amended this program 

to add permanently affordable housing to the list of public improvements that could 

use program funds. Here, “permanently affordable housing” is defined as 40 years for 

rental housing and 25 for ownership housing.  

Reduce Minimum Lot Sizes 

Reducing minimum lot sizes is a key strategy to make efficient use of public 

infrastructure and increase affordability. It increases a community’s capacity by 

allowing a greater number of dwelling units, particularly in areas close to transit and 

other amenities. It also provides ways to develop lots with smaller yards that do not 

require a lot of time or effort to maintain. In growing communities with significant 

vacant tracts of land, reductions in the minimum lot size carry one of the best 

opportunities to accommodate growth needs within compact areas. This can limit the 

need to expand the urban growth area and expand infrastructure to serve it. Such 

changes also increase opportunities for homeownership. 

Policies 

• Establish design standards for lots smaller than 5,000 square feet to ensure 

layouts that create an attractive streetscape and provide usable private open 

space for residents. 

• Allow zero lot line development and shared-access lots. 

• Minimum lot sizes for detached single family dwellings should not be smaller 

than 2,500 square feet. 



 

14 
 

Objective 3:  

Providing opportunities for “missing middle” housing options 

The housing in Union Gap is predominantly single-family detached homes, comprising 

approximately 61% of all housing in the city, with manufactured/mobile homes 

comprising the second largest portion at 24%. Reviewing data from the Housing 

Needs Assessment, results from community outreach surveys, and the goals of the 

Housing Element of the Union Gap Comprehensive plan, as well as consulting with 

staff and council from the City of Union Gap, indicate that a high priority is expanding 

housing options. Expanded housing options provide more opportunities for a variety 

of people, whether they are first-time home owners, multi-generational families, or 

people who have been displaced due to financial hardship or other circumstances. In 

the English language survey of 22 community members, most respondents indicated 

that they wanted a wider variety of housing options in the city, with cottage housing 

and townhouses all receiving substantial portions of the voting for what types of 

housing they would like to see. There are a number of different initiatives and 

strategies that a city can take to encourage greater housing variety, and provide 

options for the “missing middle.” Some are included below, with others found in the 

appendix on Housing Strategies. 

Potential Strategies: 

In many communities, the only housing choices are single-family homes on large lots 

or medium to large multifamily buildings. Such limited options do not reflect the wide 

range of needs of differing family sizes, household incomes and cultural groups. One 

solution is encouraging a larger variety of housing types, often referred to as the 

“missing middle” as they are middle-sized housing, aimed at people with middle-

incomes.  

In general, these types are more affordable than detached single-family homes and 

offer a greater range of design and locational choices than apartment buildings can 

offer. They also offer more flexible ways for communities to add compatible density 

into established neighborhoods and provide more opportunities for residents to have 

stability and build wealth through homeownership. 

In some cases, such housing types and configurations may not be explicitly 

prohibited, but code standards such as density limits, lot size minimums, setbacks or 

parking requirements, along with a lack of code support, creates unpredictability and 

discourages their construction. Another factor in these housing types “missing” in 

communities is that local developers, particularly areas outside of the Puget Sound 

region, lack experience and interest in building these housing types due to greater 

uncertainty in the financial return. The 2000 Census of housing structures by type 

shows that 8% of units in incorporated areas in Washington state are two, three and 

four units. The following are some potential options for “missing middle” housing, as 

well as some potential policies that can be employed to allow or encourage these 

housing types, as well as best practices when considering these housing types: 



 

15 
 

Cottage Housing 

Cottage housing typically refers to a cluster of small dwelling units (generally less 

than 1,200 square feet) around a common open space. The cluster arrangement 

around a common open space also offers a model that’s been very attractive to 

empty nesters, singles, couples and even some small families. They offer a 

development approach that is appropriate and compatible with low-density 

residential neighborhoods. While the construction cost per square foot is often higher 

than a larger traditional single-family home, their smaller size makes them more 

affordable than a typical single-family residence. While cottage clusters may be on a 

single lot and rented like an apartment complex or divided into separate 

condominiums, most cottages today are built on fee simple lots with common areas 

maintained by a homeowners' association. 

Policies 

• Include standards to ensure that porches are required and orient towards 

common open space(s) and are wide enough to be useful (seven feet wide or 

more is preferred). 

• Create design standards for both common open spaces and semi-private open 

spaces for individual cottages. Common open spaces should be the focal point 

of a development with at least half of the cottages in a cluster directly facing 

the space. 

• Require areas for shared use. Ex) lawn areas should be paired with an adjacent 

hard surfaced patio area. A shared community building could provide a space 

for gathering and sharing tools. 

• Provided shared parking areas off to the side or rear of the development. 

Attached storage garages are limited to a single vehicle in size and shall be 

designed to minimize visual and functional impacts on the common open 

space. 

Duplexes, Triplexes and Fourplexes 

Duplexes are broadly defined as a building that includes two dwelling units. They can 

be side by side, stacked, or a combination of the two. They are an efficient form of 

housing often integrated into pre-war residential neighborhoods. Triplexes and 

fourplexes are similar with three or four units.  

Policies 

• Create design guidance to help multi-unit housing fit into existing 

neighborhoods. Key design issues include: 

o Emphasize that unit entries and windows are directed towards the street. 

o Locate driveways and garages to the side of the construction if possible.  

o Encourage articulated facades/rooflines to promote neighborhood 
compatibility. 

o Ensure usable private open space. 
 



 

16 
 

• Allow duplexes on corner lots in single-family zones when they are designed to 

look more like single-family homes. 

• Create separate minimum setbacks for private garages to reduce their visual 

impacts and provide enough off-street parking without obstructing sidewalks.  

• Consider removing single-family zoning and renaming it low-density residential. 

Townhouses 

Townhouses are dwelling units that share walls with other residential units, but have 

their own front stoop or porch, yard or balcony, and are usually owner-occupied. 

Townhouse buildings typically contain between three to six units. Most units feature 

their own private garage, located underneath the dwelling unit. Most modern 

townhouses feature two bedrooms, though many integrate three or four bedrooms.  

Policies 

• Remove lot size minimums to allow flexibility in the size and design of 

townhouses, or if lot size standards are used, they should be sized to allow 

typical two-bedroom units, which typically have a footprint of around 500 

square feet. Typical townhouse lots range from 14 feet for a unit with a single 

car-width garage to 30 feet for larger townhouses. 

• Exempt townhouses from internal side yard setbacks. 

• Create design standards to ensure that townhouses fit into the existing or 

desired neighborhood context. Key design issues include: 

o Location and design of driveways and garages in relation to the sidewalk 

and pedestrian environment 

o Location and design of private internal roads  

o Location and design of unit entries 

o Articulated facades/rooflines  

o Provisions for usable open space 

o Fire department access and service vehicle circulation 

 

Some general policies that can encourage greater diversity in housing types can be 

found here: 

Increase or Remove Density Limits 

Regulating the maximum number of units per acre is one of the most commonly used 

tools to regulate the intensity of residential development in Washington jurisdictions. 

However, there are two notable drawbacks to the units/acre regulating approach 

beyond simply limiting density: 

1. They penalize smaller units by design, as each dwelling unit, whether it is 500 

square feet or 5,000 square feet, counts as one dwelling unit. As such the 

standard can shift development towards larger, more expensive units. 

2. Most residents have a difficult time understanding what density looks like. 

When quizzed on the subject, community members often convey that the 



 

17 
 

design of the streetscape, front yards and building frontages matter more to 

them. 

Removing or relaxing such density limits are ways to increase the supply, diversity 

and affordability of housing.  

Policies 

• Communicate the need for such change, such as information from the housing 

needs assessment. 

• Communicate the benefits of the strategy and link to community goals and 

policies. 

• Illustrate case studies and example development scenarios to show how 

proposed changes would work on a key site. 

• Couple with other tools to mitigate negative impacts and enhance the design of 

development. Effectively communicate those tools to community participants. 

Notable examples: 

• Form-based code or design standards and/or guidelines 

• Height limit, setbacks and minimum open space standards 

• Floor area ratio caps 

• Streetscape improvements (most notably planting strips with street trees) 

• Consider and clarify community infrastructure and service implications. 

 

Revise ADU Standards 

Accessory dwelling units (ADUs) are small dwelling units that are either attached to 

the primary dwelling or in a detached structure that is typically placed to the side or 

rear of the primary dwelling. ADUs have long been an important option for 

communities to add variety and housing choice in single-family neighborhoods. 

ADUs can provide low-cost housing in established neighborhoods. They provide 

dwelling opportunities for extended family members and small households that 

prefer a neighborhood setting over apartment living.  

Typical ADU ordinances require that such units be placed within or to the rear of a 

home. This configuration minimizes visual impacts of such units on the streetscape 

Policies 

• Collaborate with homeowners and prospective ADU developers and renters to 

help design ADU provisions that balance housing needs while minimizing 

neighborhood impacts. 

• Consider allowing an ADU on any lot regardless of lot size. 
• Consider offering pre-designed plans to encourage more ADU development. 

• Consider allowing modular units and tiny homes (small dwelling units on a 

foundation with between 150- 

• 400 square feet of habitable floor area) as ADUs. 

• Consider allowing the conversion of garages to ADUs. 

 



 

18 
 

Offer Density and/or Height Incentives  

for Desired Unit Types 

In communities with a deficit of small affordable units and areas where height and/or 

density bonuses are under consideration, such bonuses to allow for buildings 

integrating a certain percentage of small units (under a specific size, such as 600 

square feet) may be a good option. Alternatively, communities could adjust the way 

that density is measured to allow for discounts for very small units (i.e., density unit 

equivalent). On the other hand, many urban communities have a shortage of larger 

multi-bedroom apartment units to serve families with children. Density bonuses 

could be used to incentivize developments with such units. 

Policies 

• Small affordable unit incentives will be effective only where market analysis 

shows a gap in smaller studio and one-bedroom units. 

• Consider reducing parking requirements if impacts to the neighborhood from 

on-street parking demand can be avoided or mitigated. 

• Compatibility due to increased density or height may need to be addressed 

through other provisions. 

• Consider the need to meet affordability thresholds when crafting the incentives 

and requirements for larger multi-bedroom units. 

 

  



 

19 
 

Objective 4: Serving households with special housing needs 

Both low- and middle- income housing have been identified as priorities for current 

and incoming residents to the community. Fortunately, there are a number of 

strategies that can ensure that there is a diversity of housing options that can serve 

the current and future residents of Union Gap. Some of those strategies can be found 

below. Many of these options overlap with those efforts that create more diverse 

housing, since offering more housing diversity often coincides with affordability. 

Reduce Minimum Lot Sizes 

Reducing minimum lot sizes is a key strategy to make efficient use of public 

infrastructure and increase affordability. It increases a community’s capacity by 

allowing a greater number of dwelling units, particularly in areas close to transit and 

other amenities. It also provides ways to develop lots with smaller yards that do not 

require a lot of time or effort to maintain. In growing communities with significant 

vacant tracts of land, reductions in the minimum lot size carry one of the best 

opportunities to accommodate growth needs within compact areas. This can limit the 

need to expand the urban growth area and expand infrastructure to serve it. Such 

changes also increase opportunities for homeownership. 

Policies 

• Establish design standards for lots smaller than 5,000 square feet to ensure 

layouts that create an attractive streetscape and provide usable private open 

space for residents. 

• Allow zero lot line development and shared-access lots. 

• Minimum lot sizes for detached single family dwellings should not be smaller 

than 2,500 square feet. 

Increase Allowed Housing Types  

in Existing Zones (See Objective 1) 

In many communities, the only housing choices are single-family homes on large lots 

or medium to large multifamily buildings. Such limited options do not reflect the wide 

range of needs of differing family sizes, household incomes and cultural groups. One 

solution is encouraging a larger variety of housing types, often referred to as the 

“missing middle” as they are middle-sized housing, aimed at people with middle-

incomes.  

In general, these types are more affordable than detached single-family homes and 

offer a greater range of design and locational choices than apartment buildings can 

offer. They also offer more flexible ways for communities to add compatible density 

into established neighborhoods and provide more opportunities for residents to have 

stability and build wealth through homeownership. 

In some cases, such housing types and configurations may not be explicitly 

prohibited, but code standards such as density limits, lot size minimums, setbacks or 



 

20 
 

parking requirements, along with a lack of code support, creates unpredictability and 

discourages their construction. Another factor in these housing types “missing” in 

communities is that local developers, particularly areas outside of the Puget Sound 

region, lack experience and interest in building these housing types due to greater 

uncertainty in the financial return. The 2000 Census of housing structures by type 

shows that 8% of units in incorporated areas in Washington state are two, three and 

four units. 

Increase or Remove Density Limits (See Objective 1) 

PUD/PRD and Cluster Subdivisions 

PUDs and PRDs stand for "planned unit development" and "planned residential 

development," respectively. The terms generally refer to large integrated 

developments that offer special design, use/housing type mix and development 

intensity flexibility, provided they conform to the comprehensive plan. Specifically, 

PUDs and PRDs typically offer flexibility in lot sizes and housing types provided the 

overall development meets the density provisions of the zone. Some PUDs and PRDs 

offer density bonuses for achieving specific goals or integrating community amenity 

features. PUDs and PRDs often also allow flexibility in the design of street and other 

public improvements, provided they meet specific criteria. Thus, PUDs and PRDs can 

be a good tool to integrate a greater mix of lot and housing types to meet community 

demographic needs while providing environmental benefits of clustering housing to 

help preserve sensitive natural areas and/or provide a greater amount of usable 

community open space. 

 

Some communities are increasingly allowing the clustering and lot size averaging 

benefits of PUDs and PRDs through standard zoning and subdivision provisions. 

Clustering usually includes the grouping of lots together on smaller-than-normal 

parcels to provide opportunity to preserve open spaces, critical areas or unique 

landforms that otherwise would not likely be preserved. Lot size averaging allows 

developers to subdivide land into a variety of lot sizes, provided the average lot size in 

the development meets the minimum, often allowing for more efficient use of land 

and potential for additional housing units. These tools also provide for more compact 

roadway arrangements, expanded common open space and allow the possibility for 

different size home choices. This arrangement within the standard subdivision 

process can create more predictability for the applicant by simplifying the 

development review process and eliminating or minimizing the possibility of costly 

conditions of approval. 

 

Policies 

• Allow cluster subdivision design in the standard subdivision process, without 

the need to go through additional review procedures typical of PRD or PUDs. 

• Consider compatibility standards to avoid major differences in lot sizes 

compared to existing development.  



 

21 
 

• Consider density or other incentives to increase the diversity and affordability 

of lot and housing types in cluster subdivisions. 

Manufactured Home and Tiny House Communities 

Some cities are starting to adopt local codes to allow tiny houses as an affordable 

housing option that is in line with community desires for sustainability, limited visual 

impact, and preservation of open space.  

Policies 

• Consider allowing different options for tiny house integration, including: 

• Tiny houses as detached accessory dwelling units.  

• Tiny house clusters or villages – designed in a manner similar to cottage 

housing clusters.  

• Tiny house density/massing and review process: 

• Consider allowing a higher number of these units than typical units for the 

zone, due to the small size of tiny houses. Some density increase is essential 

because the units are smaller and usually more expensive to build on a cost-

per-square-foot basis.  

• Consider applying a maximum floor area ratio limit or an across-the-board 

allowed density for tiny houses, such as one tiny house per 1,200-square-foot 

lot area. 

• Tiny house design elements: Provide design standards in a manner similar to 

cottage housing clusters: 

• Consider providing design standards for both common open spaces and semi-

private open spaces for individual units. 

• Permit construction of a shared community building to provide a space for 

gathering and sharing tools.  

• Consider how parking can be integrated with tiny house clusters. 

 

In addition to the zoning/process strategies found above, additional strategies 

address affordable housing incentives. Some of these can be found below: 

Multifamily Tax Exemption 

A multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) is a waiver of property taxes to encourage 

affordable housing production and redevelopment in "residential targeted areas" 

designated by cities. The goal of MFTE programs is to address a financial feasibility 

gap for desired development types in the target areas, specifically to develop 

sufficient available, desirable and convenient residential housing to meet the needs of 

the public. The urban centers that are the typical targets for this tax exemption policy 

are often near transit, jobs and amenities, and MFTE programs are designed to 

encourage denser growth in areas with the greatest capacity and significant 

challenges to development feasibility.  

RCW 84.14 allows certain cities planning under the GMA to grant qualified residential 

and mixed-use projects a property tax exemption under an MFTE program for the 



 

22 
 

value of new residential improvements, rehabilitation, or conversion of residential 

buildings in the designated areas. This can currently take two forms:  

• An eight-year tax exemption can be offered for multifamily projects which 

meet base requirements.  

• A 12-year exemption is allowed for projects that incorporate a minimum 

percentage (typically 20%) of income-restricted units.  

Cities can also limit MFTEs specifically to projects that incorporate only income-

restricted units. 

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very low-income housing  

• Housing near transit, amenities and/or jobs  

When and Where Applicable  

Available to cities with 15,000 or higher population, or others as determined by RCW 

84.14.  
• Eight-year MFTE programs with no affordability requirements are most 

effective and appropriate in cities having trouble attracting private developers 

to build multifamily housing anywhere within their borders.  

• Cities with strong housing markets that are already seeing multifamily 

development may consider offering only a 12-year option to encourage the 

inclusion of income-restricted affordable housing development. When both 

options are available, profit-motivated developers will typically select the eight-

year option.  

• MFTE “residential target areas” should be selected in conjunction with 

designated urban centers that lack residential housing options, including 

affordable housing.21  

• Recommended in areas of high demand, such as along transit corridors and 

near amenity clusters or job centers.  

Potential Drawbacks  

• Loss of property tax revenue through the eight- or 12-year term of exemption 

on the value of residential improvements.  

• If the incentive is offered to projects that would otherwise already be feasible, 

this policy may have little practical benefit. A 2019 report showed that in the 

majority of areas, rents for "affordable units" were higher than market rents.22  

• Affordability covenants expire after 12 years and cannot be renewed, which 

means that affordable MFTE units are not part of the long-term affordable 

housing supply.  

Policies 

• Carefully map target zones for implementation to meet local goals.  



 

23 
 

• Conduct pro forma analyses of sample projects to estimate a developer’s 

expected return on investment under different scenarios. This can be helpful to 

calibrate requirements such as the amount of affordable units and affordability 

levels to maximize the benefits without discouraging use of the incentive by 

developers. Some local governments require this analysis as part of the 

application.  

• Affordability levels are set within statute but may be adjusted to meet local 

circumstances. Review market rents to ensure that affordability levels provided 

by the exemption are reduced rents compared to market rents.  

• Layering MFTE with other incentives for affordable housing, such as density 

bonuses, fee reductions or planned actions, can magnify the overall effects.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

In-house staff can perform policy design and implementation. Annual monitoring of 

affordability of the designated units will be needed (RCW 84. 14.100). 

Resources  

• Affordable Housing - MRSC (see Multifamily Tax Exemption section)  

• Housing Market Policy Dashboard - City of Tacoma - Allows users to explore 

the potential outcomes of housing policy scenarios (including MFTE and 

inclusionary zoning) on the feasibility of development and projected affordable 

housing development.  

• Bellingham code 17.82.030: Eight-year exemptions are available for projects in 

residential target areas and 12-year exemptions for projects incorporating 20% 

or more income-restricted affordable housing units.  

• Vancouver code 03.22: Target areas include the downtown core and a buffer 

surrounding their BRT service route. An eight-year exemption is offered for all 

projects of four+ units, and a 12-year exemption for projects incorporating 

20% of income-restricted units for residents at 60% area median income 

(AMI).  

Alternative Development Standards for Affordable Housing 

Jurisdictions can relax development regulations in return for affordable housing 

development as an incentive. One common strategy is to reduce minimum parking 

requirements  for projects that include affordable housing. This is often implemented 

by reducing or eliminating the required number of parking stalls per unit only for the 

income-restricted affordable units in a new development. Other alternative 

development standards that are commonly used to encourage affordable housing are 

Reducing Minimum Lot Sizes, Increasing Building Height, Offering Density and/or 

Height Incentives for Desired Unit Types, and Reducing Setbacks, Lot Coverage 

and/or Impervious Area Standards. In return for flexibility in development standards, 

RCW 36.70A.540, Affordable Housing Incentive Programs, requires affordability for at 

least 50 years.  



 

24 
 

Gaps Addressed  

• Housing diversity  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Very-low income housing  

 
When and Where Applicable  

• Parking minimums will be most effective/applicable for multifamily housing, 

especially where expensive structure parking would otherwise be needed.  
• Minimum lot size reductions are most meaningful in older residential areas 

where the original platted lot size is smaller than the zoning district’s minimum 
lot size or in residential zones with undeveloped tracts that could be 
subdivided.  

 
Potential Drawbacks  

See relevant housing strategies for details.  

Policies 

• These often work most effectively as part of a broader package of incentives to 

encourage affordable housing production.  

• Where flexibility is allowed by code, ensure flexibility for affordability is clear.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

See relevant housing strategies for details. Annual monitoring of affordability of the 

designated units will be needed.  

Resources  

RCW 36.70A.540: Affordable Housing Incentive Programs  

Pierce County offers several alternative design standards in its Affordable Housing 

Incentives. See Pierce County Affordable Housing Incentives: Independent Evaluation 

and Recommendations to Increase Effectiveness (BERK Consulting, 2019).  

Fee Waivers for Affordable Housing 

Fee waivers reduce the up-front cost of construction for residential development. 

Fees, such as impact fees, utility connection fees and project review fees, can run in 

the thousands per unit for residential properties in some jurisdictions. Waiving some, 

or all, of these fees for income-restricted units can be a valuable incentive for 

encouraging the creation of income-restricted affordable units. This incentive is most 

effective when paired with a larger incentive package for affordable housing.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  



 

25 
 

When and Where Applicable  

All residential and mixed use areas  

Useful to promote integration of affordable housing units within market rate 

developments  

Potential Drawbacks  

• Loss of revenue for public amenities such as parks, schools and infrastructure 

improvements  

• For impact fees, municipalities may need to backfill a portion of payments for 

waived fees (RCW 82.02.060(3))  

Policies 

• Offer this incentive along with a suite of financial and/or regulatory incentives 

to promote income-restricted affordable housing.  

• Ensure that the length of time units are required to remain affordable and the 

income brackets to whom they must cater are in parity with the benefits 

received for the community and authorizing statute.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Planning department staff can implement regulatory benefit and annual monitoring of 

affordability of the designated units. Coordination with other city departments on fee 

waivers will be needed. 

Resources  

Affordable Housing - MRSC (See "Waiver of Fees or Standards" Section)  

RCW 82.02.060(3) authorizes cities, counties and towns to grant impact fee 

exemptions for affordable housing. Jurisdictions may choose a partial exemption of 

not more than 80% of impact fees, in which case there is no explicit requirement to 

pay the exempted portion of the fee from public funds other than impact fee 

accounts; or provide a full waiver, in which case the remaining percentage of the 

exempted fee must be paid from public funds other than impact fee accounts.  

A city or town may waive or delay collection of tap-in charges, connection fees or 

hookup fees for low-income persons connecting to water, sanitary or storm sewer 

service, electricity, gas and other means of power and heat (RCW 35.92.380 (1980), 

RCW 35.92.020(5)).  

RCW 36.70A.540 authorizes affordable housing incentive programs including fee 

waivers or exemptions.  

Pierce County Code 18A.65: Fee waivers are offered for building fees, traffic impact 

fees, school impact fees, park impact fees, sanitary sewer system/facilities charge 

and preliminary plat application fees.  

 

  



 

26 
 

There are also multiple ways to support funding affordable housing. Some of those 

options are found below:  

Local Option Taxes, Fees and Levies 

Cities may provide direct project funding, through grants or loans, to encourage the 

production of income-restricted affordable housing. Securing this funding can occur in 

different ways:  

A local housing tax levy, authorized through RCW 84.52.105, can allow up to 

$0.50 per $1,000 of property tax to be allocated toward an affordable housing fund 

for projects serving very-low income households (50% median family income or less) 

if approved by a majority of the voters of the taxing district. Housing levy funds may 

be used for a variety of purposes detailed in an affordable housing finance plan such 

as for matching funding for not-for-profit housing developments. This support can 

improve a project’s competitiveness for receiving additional financing from state or 

national sources. The county, city or town that imposes the levy must declare an 

emergency with respect to the availability of housing that is affordable to very low-

income households in the district. SB 6212 (laws of 2020) expands the use of this tax 

to include affordable homeownership, owner-occupied home repair and foreclosure 

prevention programs for low-income households up to 80% of median family income 

as of October 1, 2020.  

Sales and use tax: With voter approval, counties can pass a sales and use tax of up 

to 0.1% to fund affordable housing programs serving households with incomes below 

60% of the AMI and within specific categories. These categories include individuals 

with mental illness, veterans, senior citizens, homeless families with children, 

unaccompanied homeless youth, persons with disabilities, or domestic violence 

victims (RCW 82.14.530).  

Real Estate Excise Tax (REET 2): A city or town planning under GMA can impose 

an additional 0.25% real estate excise tax ("REET 2") under RCW 82.46.035. This 

requires voter approval only for communities voluntarily planning under GMA. 

Revenues may be used only for financing “capital projects” in the capital facilities 

plan element of the comprehensive plan, which may include building, 

rehabilitating/repairing and/or purchasing affordable housing.  

Other funds: See MRSC's Revenue Guide for Washington Cities and Towns for 

updated information.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  



 

27 
 

When and Where Applicable  

This strategy is best suited for communities that face a shortage of very low income-

restricted affordable housing whose community would support such a tax, fee or 

ballot measure (if required).  

In the case of REET 2, this is most effective in communities that are seeing active 

markets and significant real estate sales.  

Potential Drawbacks  

• A housing levy must be approved by the voters and may be assessed for only 

10 years.  

• There is a financial cost to local residents subject to the property tax levy, or to 

new homeowners with REET 2.  

• REET 2 funding is restricted to projects in the capital facilities plan.  

• A sales and use tax must be approved by the voters. No more than 10% of the 

revenue may be used to supplant existing local funds. If a county imposes this 

tax after a city located within that county has imposed this tax, the county 

must provide a credit against its tax for the full amount imposed by the city.  

Policies 

• Coordinate city funding with other known funding sources for maximum 

impact.  

• Work with area groups to develop information about ballot initiatives, 

demonstrating the types of housing needs in the community.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Staff time to create and administer program, including development of an affordable 

housing financing plan or amendments to the Capital Facilities Plan to direct the 

expenditure of funds.  

Resources  

• Affordable Housing - MRSC (See "Affordable Housing Property Tax Levy" 

Section)  

• Affordable Housing - MRSC (See "Affordable Housing Sales Tax" Section)  

• Real Estate Excise Tax - MRSC  

• Example legislation from Bellingham and program description in Vancouver  

• Sample real estate tax ordinance from San Juan County  

Local Housing Trust Fund 

Housing trust funds are distinct funds established by local governments that receive 

an ongoing source of dedicated funding to support housing affordability. They can be 

designed to meet the most critical housing needs in each community.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  



 

28 
 

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

Communities with sufficient capacity to manage a housing trust fund and generate 

sufficient capital for desired outcomes. Can also be coordinated at the county and 

regional level.  

Potential Drawbacks  

Requires management of the fund.  

Policies 

• Leverage additional funding from state or national programs (e.g., Community 

Development Block Grants) to maximize the benefit of dollars raised. 

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Staff time to report on the distribution and use of funds.  

Resources  

• General Information on Housing Trust Funds at Housingtrustfundproject.org  

• Bellingham Home Fund  

Partner with Local Housing Providers 

Local governments may want to coordinate with local housing groups and non-profit 

developers to look for shared goals and identify ways both groups can work together. 

This may include identifying property, crafting incentives, developing housing 

assistance programs, supporting grant applications, code enforcement, property 

owner assistance or other programs to help increase affordability and reduce 

homelessness.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

• Any town can work with its development community to craft custom solutions 

that address most urgent needs and leverage available resources. If assisting 

with low-income housing tax credit (LIHTC) applications, it is important to 

remember distinctions between the 9% and 4% programs.  

• The 9% program is administered through a competitive application process, 

with preference for projects targeting lower-income households.  

• The 4% program is typically preferred for for-profit developers and often 

focuses on workforce housing. Although nominally it was not designed as a 

competitive process, limited availability of the associated bonds has meant that 

this process has become competitive as well.  



 

29 
 

Potential Drawbacks  

• Jurisdictions have limited capacity. Forging partnerships and developing 

concepts that achieve shared goals can be a time-intensive process.  

• Projects owned by private or non-profit developers may have affordability 

covenant expiration dates.  

Policies 

• Reach out broadly to identify local organizations, resources and housing needs 

of high-need groups, such as the disabled, elderly or homeless.  

• The city can support applications, but tax credits are applicable for developers 

only.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Work can be done in-house. Established relationships with the development 

community can help promote partnerships that lead to positive outcomes.  

Resources  

• ULI Guidebook on successful Public-Private Partnerships  

• Snohomish County Affordable Housing Trust Fund  

Funding Resources for Affordable Housing 

There are a variety of sources of funding for affordable housing, and normally several 

forms of funding are required to make a project feasible. Below are some of the more 

prominent funding sources available.  

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program. This program is a federal 

initiative that authorizes affordable housing developers to sell tax credits to investors 

to generate equity for development costs. Investors can use the credits to reduce 

their federal tax liability. In Washington, this program is administered through the 

Washington State Housing Finance Commission (WSHFC) for projects building units 

affordable at the 60% area median income (AMI) level for 30 years. Through LIHTC, 

there is a 9% tax credit program and 4% tax credit program. Nationally, the LIHTC 

program has helped to create over 3 million affordable housing units over 30 years, 

according to the National Multifamily Housing Council.  

Washington State Housing Trust Fund. The Department of Commerce manages 

these funds that provide amortized loans, deferred loans and recoverable grants to 

support projects that acquire, build and/or rehabilitate affordable housing. Units must 

be accessible to households earning up to 80% of the AMI, with federal HOME 

funding requiring affordability at 50% AMI. A covenant is typically secured to ensure 

that the required affordability of units is maintained for 40 years.  

HUD/FHA Loans. These loan programs support affordable housing projects by 

allowing for more favorable lending terms than private-market providers will offer. 

The Section 221(d)(4) program insures construction loans for new construction or 

substantial rehabilitation of moderate- and low-income rental housing that contains 

five units or more. The Section 223(f) program insures mortgages for the purchase or 

refinance of existing multifamily housing.  



 

30 
 

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Grant and Loan Programs. 

The USDA offers a variety of programs aimed at increasing affordable multifamily 

rental housing in rural areas. These include: Housing Preservation and Revitalization 

Demonstration Loans and Grants, Housing Preservation Grants, Multifamily Housing 

Direct Loans and Multifamily Housing Loan Guarantees.  

Community Development Block Grants (CDBGs). These grants are federal funds 

administered to smaller cities/towns and counties for projects that improve the 

economic, social and physical environment. CDBG funding cannot be used for new 

housing construction. It can, however, be used for housing rehabilitation, 

homeownership assistance, affordable housing plans and infrastructure projects that 

support affordable housing development. Specific CDBG grants are available to Native 

communities through the Indian Community Development Block Grant Program 

(ICDBG). ICDBG funds have added flexibility that allows for land acquisition to 

support new housing and, under some circumstances, new housing construction. 

Some communities get funding directly from HUD; Commerce administers funds for 

the balance of the state.  

Resources:  

Information Resources from WSHFC, including list of all active LIHTC rental properties 

in Washington  

Housing Trust Fund Handbook  

HUD/FHA loan information  

USDA programs for developers  

Department of Commerce description of various CDBG funding programs and 

resource lists: https://www.commerce.wa.gov/serving-communities/community-

development-block-grants/  

Local CDBG program manager contact information: 

https://www.hud.gov/states/washington/community/cdbg  

 

  



 

31 
 

Implementation and Monitoring 

The objectives in this Housing Action Plan can be addressed in a variety of ways. This 

plan has included a number of strategies that have been recommended, but the city 

is not limited to these options. However, in order to implement these strategies, some 

actions can be taken. Below are some of the strategies recommended in this plan, as 

well as implementation actions that can be taken in order to employ those strategies. 

For some of the objectives/strategies, the path forward is self-explanatory, but 

potential actions are included for those strategies that are not clear. The 

implementation actions vary with regards to the cost and staff time required to 

employ them.  

Objective 1: Preserving and Restoring Existing Housing Stock 

Strategy: Local Housing Trust Fund 

Potential Actions: 

• Leverage additional funding from state or national programs (i.e. Community 

Development Block Grants) to maximize the benefit of dollars raised. 

 

Objective 2: Strategic Expansion of Infrastructure 

Strategy: Reduce Minimum Lot Sizes 

• Reducing minimum lot sizes allows for higher density, which allows more 

households to be served with less public infrastructure and services. However, 

when doing this it is important to establish design standards that create 

attractive streetscape and does not damage the character of the neighborhood.  

 

Objective 3: Creating more diverse/”missing middle” housing options 

Strategy: Missing Middle Housing Types (Cottage Housing, 

Duplexes/Triplexes/Fourplexes, Townhouses) 

Potential Actions:  

• Define missing middle housing types in the land use section of the municipal 

code, and determine which zoning districts would support this type of housing. 

The land use table should reflect where these housing types are permitted, and 

what level of review is required;  

• Include design criteria for missing middle housing options that are consistent 

with the goals of the city with regards to space, aesthetics, and function;  

• Consider parking requirements, and whether they will be associated with each 

individual unit or as a communal parking lot; 

• Consider removing single-family zoning and renaming it low-density 

residential, with density requirements rather than unit requirements.  



 

32 
 

Strategy: Increase or Remove Density Limits 

Potential Actions: 

• Utilize outreach to communicate the benefits of such a change, and the 

potential for allowing more housing types; 

• Employ design criteria that ensures that while density may increase, 

neighborhood character, space, aesthetics, and function would remain 

consistent; 

• Consider and communicate that higher density relieves pressure on public 

services by serving more people with less infrastructure.  

Strategy: Implement/Revise Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU)/Accessory 

Apartment Standards 

Potential Actions: 

• Work with homeowners and developers to develop ADU provisions that balance 

housing needs while minimizing neighborhood impacts; 

• Define Accessory Dwelling Unit/Accessory Apartment in the land use section of 

the municipal code, and determine which zoning districts would support this 

type of housing. The land use table should reflect where this housing type is 

permitted, and what level of review is required; 

• Offer pre-designed and pre-approved plans for ADU’s to encourage more ADU 

development; 

• Allow conversion of garages to ADU’s. 

 

Objective 4: Serving Households with Special Housing Needs 

Strategy: Reducing Minimum Lot Sizes 

Potential Actions: 

• Establish design criteria to ensure that while lot sizes might be diminished, 

neighborhood character, space, aesthetics, and function would remain 

consistent; 

• Reduce setback requirements, even to the point of allowing zero lot line 

development and shared-access lots 

Strategy: Increase Allowed Housing Types in Existing Zones 

Potential Actions: 

• Define a variety of housing types in the land use section of the municipal code, 

and determine which zoning districts would support these types of housing. 

The land use table should reflect where these housing types are permitted, and 

what level of review is required;  

• Include design criteria for housing options that are consistent with the goals of 

the city with regards to space, aesthetics, and function. 

 



 

33 
 

Strategy: Planned Unit Development (PUD)/Planned Residential 

Development (PRD) 

Potential Actions: 

• Allow PUD/PRD’s that have their own design criteria, design standards, and 

allow for higher density; 

• Allow PUD/PRD’s to undergo standard subdivision process rather than 

additional review procedures typical of PUD/PRD’s;  

• PUD/PRD’s are an opportunity to be flexible with design criteria such as 

setbacks, building height requirements, and parking requirements. This may 

allow for higher density and more “missing middle” housing options. 

 

Strategy: Manufactured Home and Tiny House Communities 

Potential Actions: 

• Consider allowing higher density for tiny houses and manufactured homes, 

since their footprint is substantially smaller than conventional homes; 

• Consider allowing smaller lot sizes for tiny houses and manufactured homes; 

• Consider providing design standards for both common open spaces and semi-

private open spaces for individual units.  

• Consider if parking would be required for individual units or if a communal 

parking lot would suffice. 

 

Monitoring 

The goal of a Housing Action Plan is to ensure that housing is available for all 

members of the community, and that those with special housing needs have their 

needs met.  

Key Indicator 1: Housing Production by Type 

In order to monitor progress of these goals, monitoring programs must be developed 

that track the number and types of housing available, and the number and types of 

housing that is being produced. To do this, one best practice is monitoring building 

permits processed by the city over the course of the year. When doing this, it is 

important to note the type of housing that is being produced, so that it’s clear that 

the needs of the community are being met. Additionally, any housing that is being 

produced that accommodates those with special housing needs (income-restricted 

households, seniors, those with independent living difficulties, etc.).  

Types of housing to be counted include single-family housing, duplexes, triplexes, 

fourplexes, accessory dwelling units/accessory apartments, multi-family housing 

complexes, manufactured home/tiny homes, and any additional “missing middle” 

housing types the city may incorporate.  



 

34 
 

Key Indicator 2: Cost Burdened Households 

One of the key indicators of housing needs within the community is the number of 

households that are cost-burdened. A cost-burdened household spends over 30% of 

their annual income on housing, which includes mortgage/rent payments, taxes, 

utilities, etc… An extremely cost-burdened household spends over 50% of their 

income on housing and affiliated costs. Communities vary substantially when it comes 

to cost-burdened households. For example, for some communities, renter-occupied 

households are more likely to be cost-burdened, whereas in other communities 

owner-occupied households suffer from being cost-burdened more frequently. In all 

situations, however, a cost burden indicates that housing is not affordable for those 

who live within that community. By monitoring the number of cost-burdened 

households within a community, the city can react based on the results (for example 

implementing some of the strategies found in this Housing Action Plan that address 

specific concerns). The Department of Housing and Urban Development, specifically 

the Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) data, reflects current 

trends with regards to income brackets and cost-burdened households. However, 

cities may also engage in more localized efforts to determine the extent of cost-

burdened households within their communities.  

Key Indicator 3: Vacancy Rate 

Vacancy rates are an indicator of the number of vacant housing units within a 

community, and can be broken down by rentals and houses for sale. If the vacancy 

rate is too low, prices and displacement risk rise. The ideal vacancy rate, for both 

rentals and houses for sale, is approximately 5%. A 5% vacancy rate allows for 

flexibility within the market, but also ensures that the market continues to grow at a 

manageable rate. If the city maintains a record of vacancy rates, it can respond to 

shortages by utilizing some of the strategies included in this housing action plan. 

There are various ways that vacancy rates can be calculated. Census data provides 

some predictions on vacancy rates, but utility bills are also a good indicator of the 

vacancy rate within a city. Other tools for doing this include utilizing code 

enforcement officers, tracking certificates of occupancy, and developing localized 

programs for tracking vacancies.  

  



 

35 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Outreach Report and Results

 
 



 

36 
 

 



 

37 
 

 



 

38 
 

 



 

39 
 

 

 



 

40 
 

 

  



 

41 
 

 



 

42 
 



 

43 
 

 

 

 



 

44 
 

 



 

45 
 

 

  



 

46 
 

Appendix 2: Housing Needs Assessment 

City of Union Gap 
 

 
 

 

 
 

2023 Housing Needs Assessment 
 

 

 

 

 

Yakima Valley Conference of Governments 
Regional Partnerships, Regional Solutions 



 

47 
 

City Of Union Gap 

2023 HOUSING NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 

Table of Contents  
 

Introduction 

Summary of Key Findings  

Housing Terminology  

Community Profile  

 Population  

 Households  

 Household Income and Cost-Burdened Households 

 Residents with Special Housing Needs  

Workforce Profile  

 Countywide Employment  

 City Employment Trends  

 Employment Projections  

Housing Inventory  

 Housing Supply Characteristics  

 Subsidized Housing  

Gap Analysis  

 Current and Future Housing Disparity 

 Disparity by Income Level 

Housing Displacement Risk 

 Risk Mapping Methodology 

 Displacement Risk 

 Social Vulnerability Index 

Land Capacity Analysis 

 R-1 Single Family Residential 

 R-2 Single Family 2 Residential 

 R-3 Multi-Family Residential 

 R-4 Corridor Multi-Family Residential 

 PrC Planned Recreational 

 Underutilized Lots 

 



 

48 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The City of Union Gap has a Professional Service Contract with the Yakima Valley 

Conference of Governments to develop a Housing Action Plan.  This plan will 
identify a set of actions the city can take to support and encourage housing 

production that meets local housing needs. The purpose of this plan is to increase 
housing choice and affordability for Union Gap residents and workers of all income 
levels. 

  
This Housing Needs Assessment will help inform and guide the selection of actions 

to include in the Housing Action Plan. It provides an evaluation of current housing 
supply and housing needs in Union Gap, across the full spectrum of household 

types and income levels, by answering the following kinds of questions:  
 

• Who lives and works in Union Gap and what are their socioeconomic 

characteristics?  

• What types of housing are available in Union Gap?  

• Are there any groups of people who are not able to find housing that is safe, 

affordable, and meets their household needs?  

• How much housing, and what types of housing, are needed to meet current 
and future housing needs of Union Gap residents?  

 

The data in this Needs Assessment will be synthesized with information gathered 

through engagement. 
 
 

  



 

49 
 

SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS  

 

• Housing in the City of Union Gap does not meet demand. The city of Union 

Gap has a diverse and relatively evenly distributed economy that reflects retail, 

wholesale trade, hospitality, manufacturing, and agriculture. However, the job-

to-housing ratio is 2.3, which means that there is not enough housing for the 

jobs that exist in the city. This has resulted in a substantial portion of Union Gap 

workers commuting from out of town.  

• Income in Union Gap has risen over the last ten years, but so have home 

values and rental prices. The median home value in Union Gap has risen by 

43% between 2011 to 2021. Rental prices have risen by 16%. Over the same 

period, the median family income has only increased by 37%. This indicates 

homeownership is getting further and further out of reach for many prospective 

buyers, though rental prices still remain within reach, when available.  

• Many households in Union Gap are cost burdened. In 2021, 29% of all 

households in Union Gap were considered cost-burdened, with over 10% being 

considered extremely cost-burdened. Cost-burdened households spend a large 

portion (over 30%) of their available income on housing costs, while extremely 

cost-burdened households spend over 50% of their available income on housing 

costs. This leaves less money available for other vital needs like food, 

transportation, clothing, and education.  

• Most workers in Union Gap commute from elsewhere. Over 5,000 workers 

commute to their workplace in Union Gap. Additionally, over 2,000 workers who 

live in Union Gap commute elsewhere. Fewer than 300 residents of Union Gap 

work within Union Gap. Ideally, a city should provide enough housing for its work 

force, with a smaller proportion commuting into the city from elsewhere. 

• Union Gap has a substantial need for subsidized housing. Union Gap has 

an above-average population of people with special housing needs, whether they 

be low-income, seniors, disabled individuals, or people who require assisted 

living for other reasons. Despite this need, there are very few options available 

within the city to accommodate these individuals.  

• Union Gap needs more housing diversity. Over 60% of all housing in City of 

Union Gap are single-family homes. Not all households require, or can afford, 

that much space. For example, about 25% of all households in Union Gap are 

singles living alone, and another 25% are couples. Yet only 5% of housing units 

in Union Gap are studios and only 7% have just one bedroom. Increasing the 

diversity of housing options available will increase housing supply and provide 

more choices for residents seeking more affordable housing that meets their 

current needs.  

• Countywide there is a shortage of seasonal farmworker housing. There 

are approximately 4,600 beds of seasonal farmworker housing provided 



 

50 
 

throughout the county, despite over 45,000 seasonal jobs available in the busiest 

summer months.22 Identifying safe and sanitary housing facilities for seasonal 

workers is an important gap to address in Yakima County. 

  



 

51 
 

HOUSING TERMINOLOGY  
 

This guidebook uses some terminology, acronyms, or data sources that may be 

unfamiliar. Here are some definitions.  

Affordable Housing  

The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) considers 

housing to be affordable if the household is spending no more than 30 percent of its 

income on housing costs. A healthy housing market includes a variety of housing 

types that are affordable to a range of different household income levels. However, 

the term “affordable housing” is often used to describe income-restricted housing 

available only to qualifying low-income households. Income-restricted housing can 

be located in public, nonprofit, or for-profit housing developments. It can also 

include households using vouchers to help pay for market-rate housing (see 

“Vouchers” below for more details).  
 

American Community Survey (ACS)  

This is an ongoing nationwide survey conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau. It is 

designed to provide communities with current data about how they are changing. 

The ACS collects information such as age, race, income, commute time to work, 

home value, veteran status, and other important data from U.S. households. We 

use data from the ACS throughout this needs assessment.  
 

Area Median Income (AMI)  

This is a term that commonly refers to the area-wide median family income 

calculation provided by the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD) for a county or metropolitan region.23 Income limits to qualify for affordable 

housing are often set relative to AMI. In this report, unless otherwise indicated, AMI 

refers to the HUD Area Median Family Income (HAMFI).  
 

Cost Burden  

When a household pays more than 30 percent of their gross income on housing, 

including utilities, they are “cost-burdened.” When a household pays more than 50 

percent of their gross income on housing, including utilities, they are “severely cost-

burdened.” Cost-burdened households have less money available for other 

essentials, like food, clothing, transportation, and medical care.  
 

Household  

A household is a group of people living within the same housing unit.24 The people 

can be related, such as family. A person living alone in a housing unit, or a group of 

unrelated people sharing a housing unit, is also counted as a household. Group 

quarters population, such as those living in a college dormitory, military barrack, or 

nursing home, are not considered to be living in households.  
 



 

52 
 

Household Income  

The census defines household income as the sum of the income of all people 15 

years and older living together in a household.  

 

Income-Restricted Housing  

This term refers to housing units that are only available to households with incomes 

at or below a set income limit and are offered for rent or sale at below-market 

rates. Some income-restricted rental housing is owned by a city or housing 

authority, while others may be privately owned. In the latter case the owners 

typically receive a subsidy in the form of a tax credit or property tax exemption. As 

a condition of their subsidy, these owners must offer a set percentage of all units as 

income-restricted and affordable to household at a designated income level.  
 

Low-Income  

Households that are designated as low-income may qualify for income-subsidized 

housing units. HUD categorizes families as low-income, very low-income, or 

extremely low-income relative to HUD area median family incomes (HAMFI), with 

consideration for family size.  
 

Income Category Household Income  

Extremely Low-Income  30% of HAMFI or less  

Very Low-Income  50% of HAMFI or less  

Low-Income  80% of HAMFI or less  

 

Median Family Income (MFI)  

The median income of all family households in an area. Family households are those 

that have two or more members who are related. Median income of non-family 

households is typically lower than for family households, as family households are 

more lily to have more than one income-earner. Analyses of housing affordability 

typically group all households by income level relative to HUD area median family 

income (HAMFI), which is calculated for the county or metropolitan region.  

  

 

  



 

53 
 

COMMUNITY PROFILE 

 
Union Gap is located at the eastern foothills of the Cascade Mountains, beginning 

where the Yakima River runs between the “gap” of two mountains and abutting the 

city of Yakima. It is known for its historical significance as a trading center and the 

original settlement in the Yakima Valley. Today, the city is a blend of tradition and 

contemporary ideas. It is a retail center, home to the Valley Mall and other large- 

and small-scale retail businesses. It is also home to the Central Washington 

Agricultural Museum and a variety of other historical and green spaces. It has a 

diverse economy of retail, manufacturing, hospitality, and agricultural wholesale 

trade.   

 
Population 

Union Gap’s population was estimated to be 6,499 in 2021 and has grown by 

approximately 9% over the past decade. The 2011 estimate for population was 

approximately 5,984. Based on predicted growth from a county level, the 

population of Union Gap is expected to reach approximately 7,245 by the year 

2040. As of 2021, the population breakdown by age bracket can be found in Figure 

1. Union Gap is a relatively young city, with a median age of 33.4. 27% of the 

population is under the age of 18, 62% falls within the workforce age of 18 to 64, 

and 10% of the population is over the age of 65.  

 

  

27%

63%

10%

Union Gap Population by Age Group

Under 18

18 to 64

65 and
Over

Figure 1: Source ACS Survey Chart 
DP05 



 

54 
 

 
Households 
 

The U.S. Census Bureau identified 2,198 housing units in 2021. 1,364 of these units 

were owner-occupied, while 709 were renter-occupied. Average occupancy per 

household was approximately 3.1, with 25% of households having 1 person, 24% 

having 2 people, 13% having 3 people, and 38% having 4 or more people living in 

the household (Figure 2). Compared to other housing units in the county, the 

occupancy of housing units in Union Gap is split relatively evenly.  

 

 

 

  

Owner-occupied
66%

Renter-occupied
34%

HOUSING UNITS BY TENURE

Figure 2: Source ACS Survey Chart DP04 



 

55 
 

Household Income and Cost-Burdened Households 

Residents of Union Gap represent a variety of income levels. The median household 

income is $52,552, with median income for owner-occupied households being 

$63,696, and renter-occupied households being $40,382. A breakdown of the 

household incomes by bracket can be found in Figure 3.  

 

Despite a relatively high annual median income, approximately 29% of households 

in Union Gap are considered cost-burdened. Cost-burdened households spend more 

than 30% of their annual income on housing, whereas extremely cost-burdened 

households spend more than 50% of their annual income on housing. Figure 4 

shows the number of overall cost-burdened households, with Figures 5 and 6 

showing what those figures look like for renter-occupied and owner-occupied 

households respectively. Out of 2,198 occupied households in Union Gap, 

approximately 640 (29%) are considered cost-burdened, and 220 (10%) are 

extremely cost-burdened. 

87 49

155 141
106

179

291

492

201

312

60

        Less
than

$5,000

        $5,000
to $9,999 $10,000 to

$14,999
$15,000 to

$19,999
$20,000 to

$24,999
$25,000 to

$34,999
$35,000 to

$49,999
$50,000 to

$74,999
$75,000 to

$99,999
$100,000

to
$149,999

$150,000
or more

Union Gap Population by Annual Income

Figure 3: Source ACS Survey Chart S2503 

210

240

140

30 20

HOUSEHOLD INCOME <= 
30% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>30% TO <=50% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>50% TO <=80% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>80% TO <=100% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>100% HAMFI

Households with a Cost Burden >30% at Each Income 
Bracket

Figure 4: Source CHAS 



 

56 
 

Figure 5: Source CHAS 

Figure 6: Source CHAS 

 
Residents with Special Housing Needs 

Compared to other communities in the county, Union Gap has a relatively high 

number of residents with special housing needs. These needs can be a result of 

households that fall within one of the low, very low, or extremely low-income 

brackets, are individuals with disabilities, seniors who require assistance, and a 

variety of other reasons. While these specific needs are addressed in other sections 

of the Housing Needs Assessment, some general takeaways can be seen in Table 1.  

Special Housing Need 
Number of 

individuals/households 
Percentage of overall 

individuals/households 

Low, very low, extremely low income 1185 households 57% 

Population over the age of 65 640 individuals 10% 

People with a disability 981 individuals 15.3% 

People with self-care difficulty 187 individuals 3.2% 

People with independent living difficulty 330 individuals 7.1% 

Table 1: Source ACS Survey Table S1810 

85

150

45 0 0

HOUSEHOLD INCOME <= 
30% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>30% TO <=50% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>50% TO <=80% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>80% TO <=100% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>100% HAMFI

Renter-Occupied Households with a Cost Burden >30% at 
Each Income Bracket

130

90 90

30 20

HOUSEHOLD INCOME <= 
30% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>30% TO <=50% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>50% TO <=80% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>80% TO <=100% HAMFI

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
>100% HAMFI

Owner-Occupied Households with a Cost Burden >30% at Each 
Income Bracket



 

57 
 

WORKFORCE PROFILE 

 

Note: Some of the information used for this report was gathered in 2019, prior to 

the COVID pandemic. The pandemic had a significant impact on the economy, 

resulting in changes in employment and an increase in remote work. Future reports 

will reflect these changes. Additionally, projections in this report are based on 

existing data, and are a best guess as to future employment numbers.  

 

Countywide Employment 

In Yakima County, out of a labor force of approximately 137,157 (as of Oct 2022), 

130,754 are employed, representing 4.7% unemployment, slightly higher than the 

4.0% unemployment seen statewide. The median income in the county is $31,950 

for individuals, with the median household income being $61,012. Inflation-

adjusted per capita income in the county in 2020 was $49,099, compared to the 

state rate of $67,126 and the national rate at $59,510. The primary industries for 

the county include agriculture, forestry and fishing (27.8%), health services 

(14.9%), local government (11.8%), retail trade (9.6%), and manufacturing 

(7.2%). Payroll for these industries generally reflects their share of the labor force, 

with agriculture, forestry, and fishing accounting for 22.5%, health services for 

16%, local government for 14.6%, manufacturing for 8.9%, and retail trade for 

7.7%.  

The commuting time for the county averages 20.8 minutes, with about 20.3% of 

the working population of the county commuting over 30 minutes to their places of 

work. The most common means of transportation was driving in a car, truck, or van 

alone. 77% of the county’s population travels to work in a vehicle alone, 12.5% of 

the population carpools, 1.8% of the population walks or rides a bicycle, and .1% of 

the population takes public transportation. 7.5% of the county does their work from 

home.  

The poverty rate in the county in 2020 was 14.8%, higher than the state’s average 

of 9.5% and the national average of 11.4%.  

Source: Washington State Employment Security Department, Yakima County Profile and United States Census Bureau.   

  



 

58 
 

City Employment Trends 

The employment trends for the City of Union Gap are diverse, and don’t generally 

align with trends seen throughout the county. Its urban setting sets it apart, and so 

the top industries differ and there is a large influx of employees who live outside 

the city limits. The top industries include retail trade (23%), manufacturing (18%), 

accommodation and food services (15%), wholesale trade (13%), and public 

administration (7%) (Figure 7). Construction jobs constitute 7% of the current 

workforce, but this sector is predicted to grow rapidly in the next ten years. Median 

family income for individuals in the city is approximately $30,188, with median 

household income being approximately $52,552. 

Figure 7: Employment by Industry in Union Gap, 2021; Source: United States Census Bureau, 2021: 

ACS 5-Year Estimates Data Profiles, OnTheMap 

4% 7%

18%

13%

23%

4%

1%

1%
0%

3%

2%

15%

2%

7%

Union Gap Workforce by Industry

Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale trade

Retail trade

Transportation and warehousing, and utilities

Information

Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing

Professional, scientific, and management, and administrative and waste management
services
Health Care and social assistance

Educational services

Arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and food services

Other services, except public administration



 

59 
 

The area has a job-housing ratio of 2.37, exceeding the preferable range of .75-1.5. 

This has resulted in the majority of employees within the city living outside city 

limits. As is seen throughout the county, commuting to or from Union Gap is 

common. Approximately 66.8% of those living in Union Gap have a commute time 

of less than 10 miles, mostly to the City of Yakima. Roughly 21.7% of the workforce 

who lives in Union Gap commutes over 25 miles, with 17.9% commuting over 50 

miles. For those who commute into Union Gap for work, approximately 58.2% 

commute 10 miles or less, whereas 31.4% commute over 25 miles. Overall, 

approximately 2,486 people live in Union Gap but commute elsewhere for work, 

whereas approximately 5,097 people live outside Union Gap and work in the area. 

Only approximately 289 people both live and work in Union Gap (Figure 8).  

 

  

Figure 8: Inflow/Outflow Counts of All Jobs for Union Gap, 2019; Source: 
United States Census Bureau, OnTheMap 



 

60 
 

Employment Projections 
 

The Washington State Employment Security Department maintains projected 

growth in industries on a regional basis. For non-farm labor, the city of Union Gap 

falls into the South-Central region of the state, and so employment growth in the 

city is calculated by applying the presumed growth in the region to the breakdown 

in workforce by industry. Farm labor is calculated at the county level, and so that 

rate has also been calculated and included for the agricultural sector. The results 

can be found in Table 1, and can be used as a best guess for future growth within 

these industries in the city. The total number of workers can be found in the first 

column (2021), with projected jobs in the 2025 and 2030 columns.  

 

Source: Washington Employment Security Department 

 

  

Additional Jobs  
Predicted in 2025, 2030 in Union Gap, WA 

 Current Projected 2020-2025 Projected 2025-2030 

Total Jobs 5386 5643 5807 

Retail Sales 1179 1231 1252 

Manufacturing 924 937 958 

Accommodation and 

Food Services 
805 955 955 

Wholesale Trade 672 684 690 

Public Administration 348 358 366 

Construction 345 366 380 



 

61 
 

HOUSING INVENTORY 

 

The housing inventory data was gathered through a variety of sources including the 

U.S. Census Bureau, local housing providers and nonprofit organizations.  Data is 

organized into type of housing, number of bedrooms, own or rent, and subsidized 

housing. The intent is to provide a snapshot of the type of housing that currently 

exists to determine if it is meeting the community’s projected needs. 

 

Housing Supply Characteristics 

Housing units in Union Gap are predominantly single-family detached houses, 

comprising 61% of the total housing units. The next largest portion is made up of 

mobile homes with 24%, with 1-unit attached and duplexes each comprising 4%. 

The remaining 7% is made up primarily of multi-family housing of various types 

(Figure 9).  

 

Tenure in Union Gap is also predominantly owner-occupied, at 66%, with only 34% 

of housing units in the city being renter-occupied. The average household size for 

the city of Union Gap is 3.1 people per household. As of the time of writing, 

approximately 125 housing units are vacant, though very few homes are for sale 

(see Gap Analysis). 

1349

80

91

33

31

23

72

519

0

        1-unit, detached

        1-unit, attached

        2 units

        3 or 4 units

        5 to 9 units

        10 to 19 units

        20 or more units

        Mobile home

        Boat, RV, van, etc.

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

Housing Units by Type

Figure 9: Source ACS Survey Chart DP04 



 

62 
 

The largest proportion of housing units in Union Gap are 3-bedroom housing units, 

comprising nearly half of the homes in the city. 2-bedroom units comprise the next 

largest proportion, at 30%, while 0-, 1-, and 4-bedroom units each comprise 

approximately 7% each. Only 2% of housing units in the city have 5 bedrooms or 

more (Figure 10).  

  

Subsidized Housing 

Despite a relatively high need, Union Gap has limited options when it comes to 

subsidized housing. Currently there are only 3 homes dedicated to lower-income 

households. Additional options are available throughout the county, but in order to 

serve those with special housing needs in the community, much must be done. 

Units are required for those people of low, very low, and extremely low income, as 

well as those with disabilities, senior status, and assisted living requirements.  

 

 

  

144

185

653

1022

149

45

        No bedroom

        1 bedroom

        2 bedrooms

        3 bedrooms

        4 bedrooms

        5 or more bedrooms

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Housing Units by Number of Bedrooms

Figure 10: Source ACS Survey Chart DP04 



 

63 
 

GAP ANALYSIS 

The City of Union Gap compares favorably to many of the communities in the state 

when it comes to housing availability and the stability of housing prices, but 

proactive planning is required in order to meet the current demands and continue 

to provide housing to a diverse population. Additionally, as construction has 

occurred the lowest income brackets are often left with fewer options for affordable 

housing. A low vacancy rate has made living in the city difficult for some, especially 

the most vulnerable. This section will illustrate the gap that presently exists, 

present some rough forecasts on the development of this disparity, and describe 

the housing that will be required at various income levels within the city. 

Current and Future Housing Disparity 

The current population of the City of Union Gap is estimated to be 6,568, occupying 

approximately 2,073 households. The occupied households are split with a marked 

majority of housing units being owner-occupied rather than renter-occupied (Table 

3). The overall vacancy rate for the city is approximately 6%, exceeding the desired 

standard for vacancy. However, for owner-occupied homes, the vacancy rate is 

approximately 0%, whereas for rentals it is approximately 4%, both falling outside 

of the desired standard. The majority of the vacancy rate is classified as for rent, 

but a large proportion is classified as either “Sold, not occupied” or “Other Vacant,” 

which the census defines as “year-round units which were vacant for [other] 

reasons: For example, held for settlement of an estate, held for personal reasons, 

or held for repairs.” Other potential reasons include foreclosure, legal proceedings, 

preparation to rent/sell, storage, abandonment, or extended absence. While the 

vacancy rate falls almost within the desirable standard, the reality is that the 

vacancy rate is better reflected by the 4% and 0% rates that exist for owner-

occupied and renter-occupied homes. 

Vacancy 

Occupied Vacant Total Vacancy Rate 

2073 125 2198 6% 

Vacancy Status 

For Rent For Sale Sold, not occupied/Other Total 

78 8 47 125 

Housing Tenure 

Owner Occupied Renter Occupied Total  

1364 709 2073  

Additional Units Required to Meet 5% Vacancy 

Owner Occupied Renter Occupied Total  

68 7 75  
Table 3: Current Housing Vacancy in Union Gap, WA (Source: ACS B25002, B25004, DP04) 



 

64 
 

 

Projections for future building are encouraging, based on numbers from 2011-2021. 

By 2040, the population of Union Gap is expected to reach approximately 7,245. 

With an average household size of 3.2, this will require an additional 214 housing 

units serving a variety of income levels. From 2011 to 2021, Union Gap underwent 

a housing boom, with the average annual number of housing units constructed 

being 26.5 housing units per year. If that trend continues, by 2040 there will be 

477 new housing units, creating a surplus of 263 housing units. This would surpass 

the goal of 214 housing units by 2040, but income level and variety of housing units must also 

be considered.  

Housing Disparity by Income Level 

In Union Gap, the population represents a broad spectrum of income levels, and in 

order to prevent these groups from being cost-burdened, housing needs to reflect 

that diversity. The median household income for the City of Union Gap is $52,551, 

with 80% of Annual Median Income (AMI) being $42,041, 50% AMI being $26,276, 

and 30% AMI being $15,765. The percentage of the population of Union Gap that 

falls within these income brackets can be seen in Figure 11, and their relative 

affordable housing limits can be seen in Table 4. The calculations in Table 4 were 

completed with the understanding that spending more than 30% of a household 

income on housing results in a household becoming cost-burdened.  

 
Figure 11: Income Levels in Union Gap, WA (Source: HUD's Office of Policy Development and Research) 

 

0%

50%

100%

17%

17%

23%

18%

25%

Households by Income Level in Union Gap, WA

Household Income <= 30% HAMFI Household Income >30% to <=50% HAMFI

Household Income >50% to <=80% HAMFI Household Income >80% to <=100% HAMFI

Household Income >100% HAMFI



 

65 
 

Income 
Distribution 

Annual Household 
Income 

Affordable 
Monthly Rent 

Affordable Home 
Value 

100% AMI (Household 
Median Income) 

$52,552 $1,314 $248,137 

80% AMI $42,042 $1,051 $198,506 

50% AMI $26,276 $657 $124,068 

30% AMI $15,766 $394 $74,438 
Table 4: Affordable Monthly Rent and Home Value by Income Bracket 

 

Based on current housing trends, options available to lower-income households are 

limited. The current median rental value (as of 2021) is approximately $883/mo., 

exceeding the affordable monthly rent of people that fall below approximately 67% 

of median household income. Similarly, homes in Union Gap have a median home 

value of $140,200, exceeding the affordable home value for people who fall below 

approximately 57% of median household income. It should also be noted that home 

value calculations are done using assessor data, rather than fair market value from 

real estate sales, and only consider principal and interest payments and not 

insurance, HOA, or taxes.  

Furthermore, for both monthly rent and home values, the median has been steadily 

increasing over the previous ten years and is forecasted to continue to increase. 

Figures 12 and 13 illustrate the projected increase in monthly rent and home value 

respectively.  

 

  

Figure 12: Historical and Projected Median Monthly Rent 2010-2040 (Source: ACS Table DP04) 



 

66 
 

 

 

By 2030, median rent is projected to reach approximately $1,046/mo., with median 

home value reaching $275,528. By 2040, rent is projected to reach $1,217/mo., 

with home values reaching $427,769. For home values, this steep rise in prices is 

likely attributed to the last few years. Between 2017 and 2021, housing unit prices 

increased by 44%, skewing the data upwards. It is unlikely that this trend will 

continue at such a rate, but consideration must be taken to keep housing prices at 

an accessible rate for the residents of Union Gap. This increase has been driven by 

increasing prices across the board, but also a decline in affordable units. From 2010 

to 2021, the number of rentals available at less than $500/mo. fell from 157 to 15, 

a 90% decrease. Similarly, the number of homes valued at less than $150,000 fell 

from 626 to 339, representing a 54% decrease.  With approximately one third of 

the households in Union Gap falling under 50% HAMI, this has put housing further 

and further out of reach, with projected housing following a similar trend.  

Of the 214 housing units projected to be needed by 2040, 36 should be affordable 

to those falling into the 30% AMI income bracket or below, 37 should be affordable 

to those between 30% AMI and 50% AMI, 49 should be affordable to those 

between 50% AMI and 80% AMI, and 93 should be affordable to those at 100% 

AMI and above. Overall, 34% of new housing should be affordable to those 

households living at 50% AMI or below. An additional 41% of new housing should 

be affordable to those making 50%-100% of Union Gap’s AMI, and 25% of new 

housing should be affordable to those making over 100% of Union Gap’s AMI or 

above (Table 5).  

Figure 13: Historical and Projected Median Home Value 2010-2040 (Source: ACS Table DP04) 



 

67 
 

 

Income Bracket 
Number of Housing Units 

Required by 2040 
Percentage of Overall 

Housing Unit Production 

30% AMI 36 17% 

50% AMI 37 17% 

80% AMI 49 23% 

100% AMI 38 18% 

>100% AMI 55 25% 

Total 214 100% 
Table 5: Required Housing at Each Income Level by 2040 in Union Gap, WA 

 

  



 

68 
 

HOUSING DISPLACEMENT RISK 

Housing displacement risk is a complex issue that refers to the risk of being forced 

out of one's home or community due to various economic, social, or environmental 

factors. The consequences of housing displacement can be severe and long-lasting, 

often leading to homelessness, social dislocation, and economic hardship. 

Economic forces, such as rising housing costs, gentrification, and redevelopment, 

are among the most common causes. As cities grow and prosper, land values 

increase, and property owners seek to maximize their profits by converting low-

income housing into more expensive properties. This can lead to the displacement 

of low-income residents who can no longer afford to live in their communities. 

Environmental factors can also play a significant role in housing displacement risk. 

Natural disasters, such as hurricanes, floods, and wildfires, can destroy homes and 

force residents to relocate. Climate change, including rising sea levels and 

increasing temperatures, is also exacerbating housing displacement risk by making 

some areas uninhabitable or too expensive to live in. 

Social factors, such as discrimination and displacement due to political conflicts or 

war, can also lead to housing displacement. In some cases, marginalized 

communities are forcibly removed from their homes to make way for development 

projects or to create "safer" neighborhoods. 

Homelessness, social dislocation, and economic hardship are common outcomes for 

those who are displaced from their homes. Displaced residents may struggle to find 

affordable housing in a new location or may have to leave behind important social 

networks and support systems. Displacement can also disrupt educational 

opportunities for children and lead to lower educational outcomes. 

The impact of housing displacement is particularly acute for vulnerable populations, 

such as low-income households and immigrants. These groups often face significant 

barriers to accessing affordable housing and may be more likely to experience 

housing displacement. 

Addressing housing displacement risk requires a comprehensive approach that 

includes policy solutions, community engagement, and equitable development 

strategies to ensure that all residents have access to safe, affordable, and stable 

housing. It also requires investment in affordable housing and infrastructure to 

support sustainable communities.  

 

Housing Displacement Risk Mapping – Methodology 

The Washington State Department of Commerce has provided guidance on mapping 

displacement risk within communities. That guidance relies on information that isn’t 

readily available to communities in Eastern Washington. Therefore, a replacement 

measurement has been identified as a means to assess displacement risk within our 



 

69 
 

communities. That measurement is the Federal Agency for Toxic Substances and 

Disease Registry (ATSDR). 

ATSDR has developed a mapping system for the Center for Disease Control and 

Prevention’s (CDC) Social Vulnerability Index (SVI) that identifies communities that 

are likely to be at the highest risk for needing support during or after hazardous 

events. The SVI mapping uses many metrics that also illustrate displacement risk. 

Those metrics fall into four groups: Socioeconomic Status, Household Composition 

and Disability, Minority Status and Language, and Housing Type and Transportation. 

Those metrics combined result in an Overall SVI Value, which is used to gauge 

displacement risk. 

The Overall SVI Value is a number that ranges from 0 to 1. A ranking of 0 means 

that there is low displacement risk, with 1 being a high displacement risk. The SVI 

mapping is broken down into Census Tracts. 

Housing Displacement Risk – Union Gap 

There are four Census Tracts in Union Gap, as can be seen on the map below. The 

four SVI Values are 0.7359, 0.8988, 0.9378, and 0.9825. The average Overall SVI 

Value for the City of Union Gap is 0.8888, meaning that most of the population 

living in Union Gap is at moderately high to high risk for displacement. 

 

0.7359

0.8988

0.9378

0.9825

Overall Union Gap SVI 0.8888 



 

70 
 

LAND CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A Land Capacity Analysis (LCA) is a methodology conducted by counties and cities 

to determine the amount of vacant, developed, under-developed, and under-utilized 

lands. This process identifies the potential for land within a community's boundaries 

to accommodate anticipated housing growth, given its current zoning restrictions. 

This was done for Union Gap by reviewing the Zoning Ordinance to determine which 

zoning districts allow for residential development, and then identifying which 

parcels were either developed, under-developed, or vacant. Maps and tables have 

been created showing the location of the parcels as well as the total land area for 

each classification.  

Vacant lands are lands without any residential development located on them. 

Developed lands are lands with housing developed. Underdeveloped lands are lands 

that are large enough to be divided and more housing units built upon them. 

Under-utilized lands are lands that could be developed with a higher density than 

currently exists.  

Union Gap has five zoning districts that allow for residential development. The table 

below shows the breakdown of those zoning districts, their minimum lot sizes, and 

the resulting residential density shown as the number of dwelling units per net 

residential acre. The highest density possible is then used to determine the total 

density possible from the vacant lands remaining in each district to determine if 

there is enough land available to fulfill the needs for the predicted number of 

houses. 

Zoning District Minimum Lot Size (sq ft) Density 
R-1 – Single Family 1 

Residential 

7000 for SFR 

6500 for zero lot line 

7500 for attached SFR 

8500 for duplex  

<=5.5 DU/NRA  

R-2 – Single Family 2 

Residential 

6000 for SFR 

5000 for zero lot line 

7000 for attached SFR 

7500 for duplex 

<=7 DU/NRA 

R-3 – Multi-family Residential 5000 for SFR 

4000 for zero lot line 

5000 for attached SFR 

5000 for duplex 

Up to 20 DU/NRA 

R-4 – Corridor Multi-family 

Residential 

5000 for SFR 

4000 for zero lot line 

5000 for attached SFR 

5000 for duplex 

Up to 12 DU/NRA 

PrC – Planned Recreational 10000 for SFR 

10000 for zero lot line 

10000 for attached SFR 

10000 for duplex 

<= 4 DU/NRA 



 

71 
 

The analyses below show that there is enough capacity within Union Gap’s vacant 

lands for an additional 2,402 housing units. 
  



 

72 
 

R-1 – Single Family 1 Residential  

The R1 Residential District has a total of 45 parcels totaling approximately 124.5 

acres. Only 1.16 acres of that area is developed lands, while 46.37 acres are 

undeveloped and 76.95 are considered underdeveloped.  

The map below illustrates the location of the properties within Union Gap that are 

within the R1 Zoning District and where they are located within the city. Using the 

highest density allowed in the zoning district, vacant lands have the potential to 

accommodate an additional 255 housing units, based on a density of 5.5 dwelling 

units per net residential acre. 

  



 

73 
 

R-2 – Single Family 2 Residential  

The R2 Residential District has a total of 1,388 parcels totaling approximately 384.7 

acres. 6.4% of that area, or 24.6 acres, is vacant land. Approximately 69.4% is 

developed, with the remaining 24.2% under-developed. 

The map below illustrates the parcels that are within the R2 Residential Zoning 

District and where they are within the city. 

Using the highest density allowed in the zoning district, vacant lands have the 

potential to accommodate an additional 172 housing units, based on a density of 7 

dwelling units per net residential acre.  

  



 

74 
 

R-3 – Multi-family Residential  

The R3 Residential District has a total of 113 parcels totaling approximately 81.3 

acres. 31% of that area, or 26 acres, is developed land. Approximately 1% is 

under-developed, with the remaining 67% vacant.  

The map below shows the location of parcels within the R3 Residential District. 

Using the highest density allowed in the zoning district, vacant lands have the 

potential to accommodate an additional 1,088 housing units, based on a density of 

20 dwelling units per net residential acre.  

 

 



 

75 
 

 

R-4 – Corridor Multi-family Residential  

The R4 Residential District has a total of 163 parcels totaling approximately 48.6 

acres. 7.6% of that area is currently vacant, with 50.3% being underdeveloped and 

the remaining 41.9% developed.  

The map below shows the location of parcels in the R4 Residential District. With a 

maximum density of 12 DU/NRA, if the vacant lots of the R4 Residential District 

were developed, they could provide 44 additional housing units. 

 

 

 



 

76 
 

PrC – Planned Recreational  

The Planned Recreational Zoning District allows for several types of housing with a 

very low maximum density. Currently, the PrC zoning district is vacant, and is 

comprised of 9 parcels covering 210.8 acres. At a maximum density of 4 DU/NRA, 

the PrC zoning district could provide for 843.2 dwelling units. The location and area 

of the PrC can be found on the map below.   



 

77 
 

Under-utilized Lots 

Under-utilized lots were determined by identifying which lots are large enough to 

allow for a duplex at a minimum, but currently have a single-family residence 

placed on them. There are 836 parcels that meet the definition of under-utilized 

and are shown below. 

 
 

  



 

78 
 

Appendix 3: Policy Review 
 

Analysis of Progress to Meet Housing Goals 

The 2017 Union Gap Comprehensive Plan update predicted substantial 

population growth in Union Gap, expecting just over 1,000 new residents by 

2040. This new population would require an addition 348 housing units. The 

Housing Needs Assessment included here does not predict quite as extensive 

growth, but due to a housing construction boom in Union Gap, there should 

be enough housing units for all residents by 2040. According to current data, 

the population of Union Gap is approximately 6,568, occupying 

approximately 2,073 households. By 2040, the predicted population is 

7,245, requiring an additionally 214 housing units. At current housing 

construction rates, this goal should be met by the target date. However, 

housing availability for different income levels must also be considered, and 

the specific projected housing needs can be found in the attached Housing 

Needs Assessment.  

 

Comprehensive Plan Review 

Union Gap Housing Element Goals and Policies 

Goal HS 1: Support the provision of a wide range of housing types and densities 

for all City residents that are safe, sanitary, and affordable.  

Policy Reviewed: 

Pol. HS 1.1 Conserve the City's existing housing stock through code 

enforcement, appropriate zoning, anticipation in rehabilitation programs, and 

by discouraging conversion to inappropriate nonresidential uses.  

Analysis: Preservation of existing housing stock is an important aspect of 

the effort to provide adequate housing for the community. If housing stock is 

constructed, but other existing housing stock is destroyed, repurposed, or let 

to be abandoned due to neglect, then housing availability will suffer. There 

are many strategies that can be employed to this end, including maintaining 

stringent code enforcement standards, prohibiting repurposing of housing 

stock for commercial or industrial use, and utilizing municipal and state 

programs to maintain housing stock through maintenance efforts. 

Community development block grants are one such way to do this, while 

developing a historic preservation program is another. The CDBG program 

has been used to maintain aging housing stock, while historic preservation 

can offer tax credits, special valuations, and grants to restore historic places 

within the community.  



 

79 
 

Policy Reviewed:  

Pol. HS 1.2 Maintain the stability of existing neighborhoods by promoting 

the installation of appropriate supporting infrastructure.  

Analysis: The Union Gap Comprehensive Plan outlines a robust set of goals 

and policies regarding transportation, utilities, and capital facilities. The 

municipal code also requires subdivisions to meet certain improvement and 

design standards that ensure that new neighborhoods and developments in 

Union Gap remain consistent with requirements currently found in the city.  

Pol. HS 1.3 Coordinate the City's affordable housing policies with adjacent 

jurisdictions.  

Analysis: The City of Union Gap is continuing to look for opportunities to 

partner with adjacent jurisdictions to coordinate housing strategies for 

affordabout housing. 

Policy Reviewed: 

Pol. HS 1.4 Review residential land development regulations and ensure that 

development of a variety of housing densities and types is encouraged.  

Analysis: Zoning ordinance and the zoning element of the comprehensive 

plan ensure a variety of densities and different housing types. Additional 

housing type recommendations can be found in this Housing Action Plan, with 

an emphasis on housing that is accessible to those of lower and medium 

income households.  

Additionally, survey results indicate a strong desire for a wider variety of 

housing options. In the English language survey, 79% of respondents saw a 

need for a wider variety of housing options, and in the Spanish language 

survey all respondents saw that need. And while single-family homes 

remained the most requested housing type, cottage housing, townhouses, 

and accessory dwelling units also saw high demand. Specific data on these 

outreach surveys can be found in this Housing Action Plan. 

Policy Reviewed: 

Pol. HS 1.5 Encourage development of housing with a pedestrian orientation 

to promote a sense of community and safety.  

Analysis: The transportation element of the comprehensive plan identifies 

sidewalk improvements as a top priority for transportation planning, with an 

emphasis on safe routes for students and arterials. Title 11 of the municipal 

code outlines the requirements for the Complete Street Policy, which includes 

multimodal travel as a key goal of street improvements.  

Pol. HS 1.6 Allow home occupations in residential areas that are incidental 

to or conducted in a dwelling place, and do not change the home's residential 

character.  



 

80 
 

Policy Reviewed: 

Pol. HS 1.7 Allow accessory apartments in residential zones for residents 

with low to moderate incomes, small families, and single persons or seasonal 

occupants, as long as the units are designed with appropriate residential 

character and quality living environment.  

Analysis: While identified as a potential housing solution in the 

comprehensive plan, the Union Gap Municipal Code currently has no 

ordinance relating to accessory apartments/accessory dwelling units.  

Policies Reviewed: 

Pol. HS 1.8 Encourage local participation in state programs such as the 

Housing Assistance Program and the State Housing Finance Commission's 

home ownership loan program that aid home ownership by low and 

moderate-income families.  

Pol. HS 1.9 Encourage local participation in available funding programs that 

provide assistance to homeowners to repair, rehabilitate, and renovate 

existing housing units.  

Pol. HS 1.10 Encourage public, private, and nonprofit associations and joint 

public-private partnerships to provide housing for elderly, disabled, special 

need populations, and low- and moderate-income families.  

Analysis: While the city is determined to encourage making housing more 

accessible to lower-income residents and those with special needs, the city 

currently has limited options when it comes to subsidized housing. Despite a 

relatively high need compared to other communities in the county, there are 

currently only 3 homes dedicated to lower-income households. Additional 

options are available throughout the county, but in order to serve those with 

special housing needs in the community, much more must be done. Units are 

required for those people of low, very low, and extremely low income, as well 

as those with disabilities, senior status, and assisted living needs. 

Policy Reviewed: 

Pol. HS 1.11 Participate in local and regional public and private sector 

efforts to address the housing, social, health care, and educational needs of 

the large county agricultural worker population.  

Analysis: There is a large population of county agricultural workers, over 

45,000 seasonal jobs in the busiest months of the summer within the county. 

Despite that, only approximately 4,600 beds are available for those seasonal 

farmworkers. Additionally, it is difficult to predict the impact that these 

workers have on a local economy and housing needs. Identifying safe and 

sanitary housing facilities and options for these workers is an important gap 

to address county-wide, and in Union Gap.  



 

81 
 

Pol. HS 1.12 Assess the community's success in meeting housing demand 

and monitor the achievement of these housing policies not less than once 

every five years. 

Analysis: This Housing Action Plan assesses housing demand and 

construction progress, and further efforts will monitor progress towards 

meeting housing goals. 

 

 

Zoning and Subdivision Code Review 

The City of Union Gap has four different categories of residential zoning 

ranging in density from Single-Family Residential (R-1) to Multi-family 

Residential (R-3). Title 17 of the Union Gap Municipal Code regulates these 

zoning districts, whereas Title 16 regulation subdivisions and their 

requirements. Specifics regarding many missing middle housing categories 

such as cottage housing, accessory dwelling units/accessory apartment, and 

townhouses are not specifically defined and regulated. As written, the zoning 

and subdivision ordinance aligns relatively well with the goals and policies of 

the comprehensive plan, with some omissions and contradictions as noted in 

the assessment of the comprehensive plan.  

Zoning Districts 
The Union Gap Municipal Code allows for housing in the following residential 

zoning districts: 

Single-Family 1 Residential (R-1). The single-family 1 residential district is 

intended to:  

a. Establish and preserve residential neighborhoods for detached single-family 

dwellings, free from other uses except those which are compatible with and 

serve the residents of this district; and 

b. Locate low-density residential development, up to five and one-half dwelling 

units per net residential acre, in areas served by public water and sewer. 

Detached single-family dwellings are the primary use in the district. The district is 

characterized by up to fifty (50) percent lot coverage; access to individual lots by 

local access streets; large front, rear, and side yard setbacks; and one and two 

story structures. The density in the district is generally five and one-half dwelling 

units per net residential acre, or less. Public water, sewer, and other urban services 

are generally available throughout the district. All new development should be 

served with paved streets with curbs, gutters, and sidewalks. 

Single-Family 2 Residential (R-2). The purpose of the single-family 2 residential 

district is to: 



 

82 
 

a. Establish and preserve residential neighborhoods, primarily for detached 

single-family dwellings, duplexes, and other uses compatible with the intent 

of the district; and 

b. Locate residential development, with densities up to seven dwelling units per 

net residential acre, in areas receiving a full range of public services including 

public water and sewer service, police, and fire protection 

The district is characterized by up to fifty (50) percent lot coverage, access via local 

access streets and collectors, one and two story buildings, some clustering of units, 

and large front, rear, and side yard setbacks. Typical uses in this district are single-

family dwellings and duplexes. The densities in this district generally range up to 

seven dwelling units per net residential acre. All new development should be served 

with paved streets with curbs, gutters, and sidewalks. 

Multi-family Residential District (R-3). The multi-family residential district is 

intended to: 

a. Establish and preserve high-density residential districts by excluding 

activities not compatible with residential uses; and 

b. Locate high-density residential development, up to twenty (20) dwelling units 

per net residential acre, in areas receiving the full range of urban services; 

and 

c. Locate high-density residential development near neighborhood shopping 

facilities; and 

d. Locate high-density residential development so that traffic generated by the 

development does not pass through lower-density residential areas. 

The district contains a variety of attached or clustered multi-family dwellings. Paved 

roads, extending to the arterial, must serve the development. Direct access to 

arterial streets is to be allowed only when local access streets are not available. 

When unavoidable, access points to an arterial are to be limited, and when possible 

combined with adjacent properties. Densities exceeding twenty (20) units per net 

acre may be allowed on those occasions when the reviewing official finds that the 

location site plan of the project is such that the higher density would be compatible 

with neighboring land uses, the level of public services, and is consistent with the 

goals and objectives in the Union Gap comprehensive plan.  

Corridor Multi-Family Residential District (R-4). The corridor multi-family 

residential district is intended to: 

a. Provide for moderate density residential, the development of up to twelve 

(12) dwelling units per net acre along the corridors of heavily traveled 

arterials in areas receiving full urban services; and 

b. Provide a transition and buffer from heavily traveled arterials to areas of 

lower density residential development; and 

c. Allow for neighborhood-oriented commercial development that is pedestrian-

oriented and can be integrated with the residential development, subject to 

public review. 



 

83 
 

Paved roads extending to the arterial must serve the development. Direct access to 

arterial streets is to be allowed only when local access streets are not available. 

When unavoidable, access points to an arterial are to be limited, and when possible 

combined with adjacent properties.  

Planned Recreational (PrC). The purpose of the planned recreational district is to 

allow primarily passive recreational uses to be supplemented by limited single 

family homes, small-scale multi-family or condominium dwellings, and retail uses 

accommodating innovation, creativity, and design flexibility that would not be 

possible by typical lot by lot development. Development in this category must 

provide for adequate amounts of open space; protect sensitive areas including 

streams, wetlands, floodplains and floodways; include pedestrian orientation; 

encourage creative site design and placement of structures; minimize traffic 

congestion; and avoid or minimize potential conflicts to adjacent land uses, 

including any agricultural activities.  

Types of Housing 

The Union Gap Municipal Code provides the following definitions for the 

types of housing allowed within the city: 

Boardinghouse means an establishment providing both lodging and meals 

for not more than ten persons residing in the facility on a permanent or 

semi-permanent basis. 

Converted dwelling means a structure which, due to alterations, has been 

modified to increase the number of dwelling units. This definition does not 

apply to multi-family structures constructed under the provisions of UGMC 

Title 17.02.020. 

Dwelling means a structure, or portion thereof, designed exclusively for 

residential purposes. 

Dwelling, Multiple Family means a structure, or portion thereof, designed 

for occupancy by three or more families living independently of each other 

and containing three or more attached dwelling units on a lot. 

Dwelling, Single Family means a structure designed to contain a single 

dwelling unit. Single-family dwellings are further classified by their nature of 

construction as follows: 

a. “Site Built” means constructed primarily at the occupancy site and 

permanently affixed to the ground by a foundation; 

b. Modular Home; 

c. Manufactured Home; 



 

84 
 

Dwelling, Single Family Attached means two single-family dwellings that 

are attached, but with each dwelling unit located entirely on its own lot. This 

definition does not include row houses or other housing types with more 

than two attached single-family dwellings. 

Dwelling, Two Family means a structure designed exclusively for 

occupancy by two families living independently of each other and containing 

two attached dwelling units on the same lot. This definition includes the term 

“duplex.” 

Dwelling unit means one or more rooms in a dwelling for the occupancy of 

one family and providing complete and independent living facilities, including 

permanent provisions for living, sleeping, cooking, eating, and sanitation. 

"Group home" means a residence that is licensed as either a boarding 

home or an adult family home by the Washington State Department of Social 

and Health Services under Chapter 388-76 or 388-78A WAC. Group homes 

provide community residential instruction, supports, and services to two or 

more clients who are unrelated to the provider. "Group home" does not 

include homes for individuals residing in crisis residential centers (as defined 

in RCW 74.15.020(1)(c)), group homes licensed for juvenile offenders, or 

other facilities, whether or not licensed by the state, where individuals are 

incarcerated or otherwise required to reside pursuant to court order under 

the supervision of paid staff and personnel. Group homes shall be a 

permitted use in all areas permitting single-family homes. 

"Manufactured home" means a dwelling on one or more chassis for towing 

to the point of use which bears an insignia issued by a state or federal 

regulatory agency indicating that the structure complies with all applicable 

construction standards of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development definition of a manufactured home. Manufactured homes are 

further classified as follows: 

"Class A" means a new manufactured home having a minimum width of not 

less than seventeen (17) feet as measured at all points perpendicular to its 

length and meeting the manufactured home appearance standards as 

defined in this title; 

"Class B" means a new manufactured home having a width less than 

seventeen (17) feet as measured at any point perpendicular to its length and 

meeting the manufactured home appearance standards as defined in this 

title and a used manufactured home having a minimum width of not less 



 

85 
 

than seventeen (17) feet as measured at all points perpendicular to its 

length and meeting the manufactured home appearance standards as 

defined in this title; 

"Class C" means a new or used manufactured home of any width. The 

home must be in good condition and safe for human occupancy. 

"Mobile home" means a dwelling on one or more chassis, for towing to the 

point of use, which does not meet applicable HUD manufactured housing 

standards of June 15, 1976. This definition does not include modular homes, 

manufactured homes, commercial coach, recreational vehicles or motor 

homes. 

"Mobile home park" means a parcel of land under single ownership used 

for the placement of two or more mobile or manufactured homes used as 

dwellings. This definition shall not apply to the placement of a temporary 

hardship unit on the same parcel with another home. 

"Modular home" means a residential structure that meets the 

requirements of the Uniform Building Code, is constructed in a factory, and 

transported to the building site. Modular homes are not subject to special 

review; they are subject to the same review standards as a site built home. 

"Planned residential development" means, in the residential districts, 

the coordinated development of a single lot of not less than twelve thousand 

square feet with a number of residential units (not less than three), 

residential structures and/or dwelling types, including, but not limited to: 

apartment complexes and mobile home parks, which are designed to: 

Maintain the character of the residential neighborhood; 

Provide compatibility between various types of dwelling units, off-street 

parking and other uses within the site; 

Share such site amenities as off-street parking, access drives, open space 

and recreational facilities. 

This definition includes the clustering of residential units on a single lot. In 

commercial districts, "planned residential development" means a mixed-use 

development combining multi-family residential and commercial use(s) into 

a single coordinated project. 

"Retirement home" means an establishment providing domestic care for 

elderly persons who are not in need of medical or nursing treatment, except 



 

86 
 

in the case of temporary illness. This definition does not include nursing, 

convalescent or rest homes, hospitals, or sanitariums. 

Types of housing allowed in each residential zoning district: 

 R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 PrC 

Maximum Density 
<=5.5 

DU/NRA 

<=7 

DU/NRA 

Up to 20 

DU/NRA 

Up to 12 

DU/NRA 

<=4 

DU/NRA 

Single-Family 
Detached 

1 1 2 2 3 

Zero Lot Line Single-
Family Dwelling 

2 2 2 2 3 

Two-Family/Duplex 3 2 1 1 3 

Multi-family Housing 

up to 5.5 DU/NRA 
2 2 1 1 3 

5.6-7 DU/NRA X 3 1 1 3 

7.1-12 DU/NRA X X 2 2 3 

12.1-20 DU/NRA X X 3 X 3 

Manufactured Home 
Parks 

3 3 3 3 X 

Boarding House 3 3 2 2 X 

Nursing Home X 3 2 2 X 

1 – Class 1 Use   2 – Class 2 Use    3 – Class 3 Use  X – Not Permitted 

  



 

87 
 

Appendix 4: Housing Strategies 

Zoning and Housing Option Strategies 

Common housing needs include increasing housing supply, increasing housing 

diversity, affordable homeownership, middle-income rental housing, senior housing, 

and very low-income housing. The following housing strategies seek to address 

these needs, and include options for amending zoning restrictions, diversifying 

housing options, and increasing infrastructure accessibility. 

Organization of Each Strategy  

Each housing strategy on the following pages is organized in the following manner:  

• Introduction – describes the strategy and some of its components  

• Gaps addressed – identifies the type of housing gaps that can be typically 

addressed via this strategy  

• When and where applicable – clarifies the community typology or specific 

type of zoning or situation the strategy applies to  

• Potential drawbacks – highlights potential downsides to consider in 

implementation  

• Tips for success – identifies the details and/or supporting actions that will 

improve chances for success based on experience with the strategy in other 

communities  

• Time/capacity/skill needed – notes situations where additional expertise 

or capacity may be required to develop and implement elements of a 

strategy, which may influence its feasibility  

• Resources – provides additional external resources that can give further 

assistance with the development and implementation of the strategy  

 

Reduce Minimum Lot Sizes 

Reducing minimum lot sizes is a key strategy to make efficient use of public 

infrastructure and increase affordability. It increases a community’s capacity by 

allowing a greater number of dwelling units, particularly in areas close to transit 

and other amenities. It also provides ways to develop lots with smaller yards that 

do not require a lot of time or effort to maintain. In growing communities with 

significant vacant tracts of land, reductions in the minimum lot size carry one of the 

best opportunities to accommodate growth needs within compact areas. This can 

limit the need to expand the urban growth area and expand infrastructure to serve 

it. Such changes also increase opportunities for homeownership. 



 

88 
 

Policies 

• Establish design standards for lots smaller than 5,000 square feet to ensure 

layouts that create an attractive streetscape and provide usable private open 

space for residents. 

• Allow zero lot line development and shared-access lots. 

• Minimum lot sizes for detached single family dwellings should not be smaller 

than 2,500 square feet. 

Integrate Floor Area Ratio Standards 

Floor area ratio (FAR) is the ratio of a building's total floor area (gross floor area) to 

the size of the piece of land upon which it is built. Since FAR focuses entirely on 

building massing, it’s often seen as a good alternative to density regulations 

(maximum number of lots or dwelling units per acre) in multifamily and mixed-use 

zones. This option can allow for a greater number and mix of unit types and sizes 

since the number of units isn’t regulated. FAR standards are also often used in 

addition to density regulations where there’s a strong desire to limit the number of 

dwelling units and the size of buildings. 

Policies 

• Create design guidelines to ensure that such buildings can be well integrated 

into the existing and planned community context. 

• Consider creating a 3-D massing model to test FAR limits and help to 

communicate how potential development might be integrated into the 

community context. Use caution with such models, however, and clearly 

communicate that such models are for illustrative purposes only. Carefully 

consider the appropriate level of detail that might work best for your 

particular context (e.g., conceptual massing models will be less expensive to 

develop and may be more effective in some cases, while a more detailed 

photo-realistic model might be more appropriate where ground level views 

are sought). 

• Consider how FAR is calculated. The basic concept is to calculate all visible 

floor area (i.e., floor area above grade). The terms should clarify what’s 

included in floor area calculations (e.g., partial floors? vaulted ceiling space? 

below-grade space?). Some communities don’t count desired elements, such 

as structured parking, affordable units, community meeting rooms or other 

communal spaces. 

• Consider using FAR for infill development to complement the scale of existing 

development. For example, examine the typical FARs of existing residential 

buildings and consider applying an FAR standard that’s generally consistent 

with the established pattern. Then adjust the list of permitted housing types 

and/or density to match objectives. Additional setback, lot coverage and/or 



 

89 
 

other site/building design standards might supplement the FAR standards to 

help meet community design and compatibility goals. 

 

Increase Allowed Housing Types in Existing Zones 

In many communities, the only housing choices are single-family homes on large 

lots or medium to large multifamily buildings. Such limited options do not reflect 

the wide range of needs of differing family sizes, household incomes and cultural 

groups. One solution is encouraging a larger variety of housing types, often referred 

to as the “missing middle” as they are middle-sized housing, aimed at people with 

middle-incomes.  

In general, these types are more affordable than detached single-family homes and 

offer a greater range of design and locational choices than apartment buildings can 

offer. They also offer more flexible ways for communities to add compatible density 

into established neighborhoods and provide more opportunities for residents to 

have stability and build wealth through homeownership. 

In some cases, such housing types and configurations may not be explicitly 

prohibited, but code standards such as density limits, lot size minimums, setbacks 

or parking requirements, along with a lack of code support, creates unpredictability 

and discourages their construction. Another factor in these housing types “missing” 

in communities is that local developers, particularly areas outside of the Puget 

Sound region, lack experience and interest in building these housing types due to 

greater uncertainty in the financial return. The 2000 Census of housing structures 

by type shows that 8% of units in incorporated areas in Washington state are two, 

three and four units. 

Housing Structure by Type in Washington State 
 

 
Based on 2000 U.S. Census data for statewide occupied housing units in incorporated areas, www.ofm.wa.gov. 

http://www.ofm.wa.gov/


 

90 
 

“Missing Middle” Housing Types 

Subsection 
Housing 

Type 
Examples 

Density 

Range (net) 

Z-6a 
Cottage 

Housing 

        

6-20 DU/acre 

Z-6b 
Duplex, 
triplex, 

four- plex 

 

       

8-32 DU/acre 

Z-6c Townhouse 

 

       

12-40 DU/acre 

Z-6d 
Courtyard 

Apartments 

 

        

12-40 DU/acre 

Z-6e 
Micro-

housing 

 

       

40-400+ 
DU/acre 

 

Note: du/acre = dwelling units per acre 

 

Cottage Housing 

Cottage housing typically refers to a cluster of small dwelling units (generally less 

than 1,200 square feet) around a common open space. The cluster arrangement 

around a common open space also offers a model that’s been very attractive to 

empty nesters, singles, couples and even some small families. They offer a 

development approach that is appropriate and compatible with low-density 

residential neighborhoods. While the construction cost per square foot is often 

higher than a larger traditional single-family home, their smaller size makes them 

more affordable than a typical single-family residence. While cottage clusters may 

be on a single lot and rented like an apartment complex or divided into separate 

condominiums, most cottages today are built on fee simple lots with common areas 

maintained by a homeowners' association. 



 

91 
 

Policies 

• Include standards to ensure that porches are required and orient towards 

common open space(s) and are wide enough to be useful (seven feet wide or 

more is preferred). 

• Create design standards for both common open spaces and semi-private 

open spaces for individual cottages. Common open spaces should be the 

focal point of a development with at least half of the cottages in a cluster 

directly facing the space. 

• Require areas for shared use. Ex) lawn areas should be paired with an 

adjacent hard surfaced patio area. A shared community building could 

provide a space for gathering and sharing tools. 

• Provided shared parking areas off to the side or rear of the development. 

Attached storage garages are limited to a single vehicle in size and shall be 

designed to minimize visual and functional impacts on the common open 

space. 

 

Duplexes, Triplexes and Fourplexes 

Duplexes are broadly defined as a building that includes two dwelling units. They 

can be side by side, stacked, or a combination of the two. They are an efficient form 

of housing often integrated into pre-war residential neighborhoods. Triplexes and 

fourplexes are similar with three or four units.  

Policies 

• Create design guidance to help multi-unit housing fit into existing 

neighborhoods. Key design issues include: 

o Emphasize that unit entries and windows are directed towards the street. 

o Locate driveways and garages to the side of the construction if possible.  

o Encourage articulated facades/rooflines to promote neighborhood 
compatibility. 

o Ensure usable private open space. 
 

• Allow duplexes on corner lots in single-family zones when they are designed 

to look more like single-family homes. 

• Create separate minimum setbacks for private garages to reduce their visual 

impacts and provide enough off-street parking without obstructing sidewalks.  

• Consider removing single-family zoning and renaming it low-density 

residential. 

 



 

92 
 

Townhouses 

Townhouses are dwelling units that share walls with other residential units, but 

have their own front stoop or porch, yard or balcony, and are usually owner-

occupied. Townhouse buildings typically contain between three to six units. Most 

units feature their own private garage, located underneath the dwelling unit. Most 

modern townhouses feature two bedrooms, though many integrate three or four 

bedrooms.  

Policies 

• Remove lot size minimums to allow flexibility in the size and design of 

townhouses, or if lot size standards are used, they should be sized to allow 

typical two-bedroom units, which typically have a footprint of around 500 

square feet. Typical townhouse lots range from 14 feet for a unit with a single 

car-width garage to 30 feet for larger townhouses. 

• Exempt townhouses from internal side yard setbacks. 

• Create design standards to ensure that townhouses fit into the existing or 

desired neighborhood context. Key design issues include: 

o Location and design of driveways and garages in relation to the 

sidewalk and pedestrian environment 

o Location and design of private internal roads  

o Location and design of unit entries 

o Articulated facades/rooflines  

o Provisions for usable open space 

o Fire department access and service vehicle circulation 

Courtyard Apartments 

Courtyard apartments are small multifamily buildings surrounding a courtyard that 

opens onto a street. Courtyard apartments are typically up to three stories and 

consist of multiple side-by-side and/or stacked dwelling units accessed from a 

courtyard or series of courtyards. The courtyards provide space for social 

connections among residents.  

Policies 

• Consider as an option in higher-intensity single-family zones or low-intensity 

multifamily zones where standard apartment complexes may be less 

acceptable to the community. 

• Create design standards to ensure that courtyard apartments fit into the 

existing or desired neighborhood context. Key design issues include: 

o Courtyard size and design standards 



 

93 
 

o Location and design of unit entries (oriented towards courtyard) 

o Location and design of parking areas 

o Articulated facades/rooflines (to promote neighborhood compatibility) 

Micro-housing 

Micro-housing is a very small dwelling unit. Sightline Institute describes them as 

the modern-day equivalents of rooming houses, boarding houses, dormitories and 

single-room occupancy (SRO) hotels, and they come in two main forms: 

1. Congregate housing “sleeping rooms” are often in the 140-200 square-foot 

range and may include private bathrooms and kitchenettes.  Shared facilities 

include kitchens, gathering areas and other common amenities for residents. 

2. A small efficiency dwelling unit (SEDU) is a very small studio apartment 

including a complete kitchen and bathroom.  

These very small units provide a relatively affordable unsubsidized option for 

renters.  

Policies 

• Create design standards to enhance site and building design and promote 

neighborhood compatibility. 

• Require open space standards. 

• Reduce parking requirements to reflect unit size and tenant mix. 

• Review zoning standards to increase maximum density limits. 

• Update building and zoning codes for minimum apartment size requirements. 

Increase or Remove Density Limits 

Regulating the maximum number of units per acre is one of the most commonly 

used tools to regulate the intensity of residential development in Washington 

jurisdictions. However, there are two notable drawbacks to the units/acre regulating 

approach beyond simply limiting density: 

3. They penalize smaller units by design, as each dwelling unit, whether it is 

500 square feet or 5,000 square feet, counts as one dwelling unit. As such 

the standard can shift development towards larger, more expensive units. 

4. Most residents have a difficult time understanding what density looks like. 

When quizzed on the subject, community members often convey that the 

design of the streetscape, front yards and building frontages matter more to 

them. 

Removing or relaxing such density limits are ways to increase the supply, diversity 

and affordability of housing.  



 

94 
 

Policies 

• Communicate the need for such change, such as information from the 

housing needs assessment. 

• Communicate the benefits of the strategy and link to community goals and 

policies. 

• Illustrate case studies and example development scenarios to show how 

proposed changes would work on a key site. 

• Couple with other tools to mitigate negative impacts and enhance the design 

of development. Effectively communicate those tools to community 

participants. Notable examples: 

• Form-based code or design standards and/or guidelines 

• Height limit, setbacks and minimum open space standards 

• Floor area ratio caps 

• Streetscape improvements (most notably planting strips with street trees) 

• Consider and clarify community infrastructure and service implications. 

 

Revise ADU Standards 

Accessory dwelling units (ADUs) are small dwelling units that are either attached to 

the primary dwelling or in a detached structure that is typically placed to the side or 

rear of the primary dwelling. ADUs have long been an important option for 

communities to add variety and housing choice in single-family neighborhoods. 

ADUs can provide low-cost housing in established neighborhoods. They provide 

dwelling opportunities for extended family members and small households that 

prefer a neighborhood setting over apartment living.  

Typical ADU ordinances require that such units be placed within or to the rear of a 

home. This configuration minimizes visual impacts of such units on the streetscape 

Policies 

• Collaborate with homeowners and prospective ADU developers and renters to 

help design ADU provisions that balance housing needs while minimizing 

neighborhood impacts. 

• Consider allowing an ADU on any lot regardless of lot size. 
• Consider offering pre-designed plans to encourage more ADU development. 

• Consider allowing modular units and tiny homes (small dwelling units on a 

foundation with between 150- 

• 400 square feet of habitable floor area) as ADUs. 

• Consider allowing the conversion of garages to ADUs. 

 



 

95 
 

Offer Density and/or Height Incentives  

for Desired Unit Types 

In communities with a deficit of small affordable units and areas where height 

and/or density bonuses are under consideration, such bonuses to allow for buildings 

integrating a certain percentage of small units (under a specific size, such as 600 

square feet) may be a good option. Alternatively, communities could adjust the way 

that density is measured to allow for discounts for very small units (i.e., density 

unit equivalent). On the other hand, many urban communities have a shortage of 

larger multi-bedroom apartment units to serve families with children. Density 

bonuses could be used to incentivize developments with such units. 

Policies 

• Small affordable unit incentives will be effective only where market analysis 

shows a gap in smaller studio and one-bedroom units. 

• Consider reducing parking requirements if impacts to the neighborhood from 

on-street parking demand can be avoided or mitigated. 

• Compatibility due to increased density or height may need to be addressed 

through other provisions. 

• Consider the need to meet affordability thresholds when crafting the 

incentives and requirements for larger multi-bedroom units. 

Reduce Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Parking facilities add substantial cost in the development of new housing, whether 

it’s surface or structured parking. In suburban and small city settings, such parking 

facilities are more important but should be balanced with aesthetics and the impact 

on the yield of land. 

Policies 

• Consider parking maximum standards in downtowns, neighborhood 

commercial districts and commercial corridors with good existing or planned 

transit service. 

• Consider reducing or eliminating parking requirements in areas where non-

conforming on street parking exists, especially for change of use and 

redevelopment, to ensure historic and compact downtown character can be 

retained. 

• Consider reducing requirements in areas planned for redevelopment and 

affordable housing. 

• Consider adding additional parking tools, such as contracting with car-share 

providers, providing transit passes to residents, shared use parking, and off-

site parking. 



 

96 
 

• Allow developers to reduce parking stalls if the city accepts a parking study 

by a certified transportation planner or engineer that demonstrates minimum 

impacts to surroundings. 

• Encourage housing and parking to be rented separately. 

Relax Ground Floor Retail Requirements 

While a mix of uses can be useful for neighborhoods, especially along main streets, 

many municipalities require retail uses on the ground floors of all new multifamily 

residential projects. This may oversupply the local retail and office market, reducing 

the financial feasibility of projects with space that is less profitable to developers. 

Strategically applying ground-floor retail requirements to essential streets or blocks 

can limit the barrier to housing development. 

Policies 

• Limit ground floor commercial standards to those block-fronts that reinforce 

existing storefront patterns or to the minimum area necessary to achieve the 

community’s specific storefront use and design goals. Also limit to where 

current/anticipated market conditions can support the subject commercial 

floor area. 

• Review what types of commercial uses are allowed and consider allowing 

live/work units to qualify as a ground floor commercial use on certain block-

fronts. 

• Consider allowing or clarifying allowance for residential lobbies that serve 

upper levels. 

• Where there’s a desire to retain commercial uses along block-fronts, but the 

lots are deep, consider applying the ground level commercial use 

requirement only to the front 30-60 feet of the block-front. This allows 

greater flexibility to integrate residential development on such properties. 

• While retail space demands may be declining, there’s often a strong desire to 

encourage a mixture of 

• restaurants, personal and general service uses, and other non-residential 

uses such as salons, restaurants and coffee shops, professional studios, pet 

day care businesses, yoga and martial arts studios, and entrepreneurial 

start-ups. Consider offering height or density bonuses in exchange for 

providing ground level space for non-residential uses. 

• Apply design standards for ground level residential uses facing the street in 

commercial and mixed-use districts to enhance the streetscape environment 

and provide for the privacy, comfort, and livability of the adjacent residential 

units. 



 

97 
 

• Allow for the accommodation of live-work units into projects, where private 

residential space above is combined with space for limited office/personal 

service uses such as home occupations on the ground floor. These spaces can 

present opportunities for commercial activity and allow for future changes to 

street-level retail with proper designs. 

Reduce Setbacks, Lot Coverage and/or  

Impervious Area Standards 

Modest reductions in front setback standards can help to expand possible building 

footprint area. In storefront and other dense urban environments, the opportunity 

to build a firewall up to the side property line allows greater flexibility and 

expansion of the possible building envelope.  

Policies 

• Allow porches and covered entries to project into front setbacks to encourage 

their integration and maximize building envelope opportunities. 

• Consider design standards to enhance the streetscape and provide for the 

privacy, comfort and livability of the adjacent residential units. 

• Consider separate minimum setbacks for private garages to reduce their 

visual prominence on the building and to provide enough space for cars to 

park in driveways without obstructing pedestrians on the sidewalk. For 

example, the minimum setback for garages should be at least 20 feet. 

Use a Form-Based Approach 

A form-based approach to regulating development emphasizes predictable built 

results and a high-quality public realm by using physical form and design rather 

than separation of uses and density limits. This approach uses prescriptive 

standards for building massing, layout, orientation and design to help achieve a 

community’s specific vision. It places a big emphasis on the design of streetscapes 

and how private development looks from the street. 

Form-based codes (FBCs) were created in response to regulations that placed more 

of a concern with controlling land use than shaping the physical form of 

communities. Whereas a strict form-based code has little or no land use 

restrictions, many zoning codes for urban Washington communities now function as 

a hybrid of strict FBC and traditional zoning code by integrating stronger form-

based design regulations with use-based regulations. FBCs can help add housing by 

letting the market determine how many units of what size are feasible. 

Policies 

• First determine the desired physical form your community wants to achieve. 

Second, explore “workable” regulatory tools that can best help achieve that 

form given the community’s physical, planning, political, and regulatory 

environment, whether it might be a strict form-based code, or a hybrid form 



 

98 
 

that adjusts current zoning provisions and integrates form-based design 

standards. 

• Factors in creating a “workable” form-based approach: 

• Consider the community’s resources available to convert to a form-based 

code due to complexity and expense.  

• Make sure that code provisions are economically feasible given local market 

conditions. 

• Consider creating a system of development frontage standards that apply to 

particular street types. For example, while a community’s main street may 

have strict storefront and parking location standards, side streets might offer 

more flexibility in ground level uses, design and parking lot location. 

PUD/PRD and Cluster Subdivisions 

PUDs and PRDs stand for "planned unit development" and "planned residential 

development," respectively. The terms generally refer to large integrated 

developments that offer special design, use/housing type mix and development 

intensity flexibility, provided they conform to the comprehensive plan. Specifically, 

PUDs and PRDs typically offer flexibility in lot sizes and housing types provided the 

overall development meets the density provisions of the zone. Some PUDs and 

PRDs offer density bonuses for achieving specific goals or integrating community 

amenity features. PUDs and PRDs often also allow flexibility in the design of street 

and other public improvements, provided they meet specific criteria. Thus, PUDs 

and PRDs can be a good tool to integrate a greater mix of lot and housing types to 

meet community demographic needs while providing environmental benefits of 

clustering housing to help preserve sensitive natural areas and/or provide a greater 

amount of usable community open space. 
 

Some communities are increasingly allowing the clustering and lot size averaging 

benefits of PUDs and PRDs through standard zoning and subdivision provisions. 

Clustering usually includes the grouping of lots together on smaller-than-normal 

parcels to provide opportunity to preserve open spaces, critical areas or unique 

landforms that otherwise would not likely be preserved. Lot size averaging allows 

developers to subdivide land into a variety of lot sizes, provided the average lot size 

in the development meets the minimum, often allowing for more efficient use of 

land and potential for additional housing units. These tools also provide for more 

compact roadway arrangements, expanded common open space and allow the 

possibility for different size home choices. This arrangement within the standard 

subdivision process can create more predictability for the applicant by simplifying 

the development review process and eliminating or minimizing the possibility of 

costly conditions of approval. 
 



 

99 
 

Policies 

• Allow cluster subdivision design in the standard subdivision process, without 

the need to go through additional review procedures typical of PRD or PUDs. 

• Consider compatibility standards to avoid major differences in lot sizes 

compared to existing development.  

• Consider density or other incentives to increase the diversity and affordability 

of lot and housing types in cluster subdivisions. 

Manufactured Home and Tiny House Communities 

Some cities are starting to adopt local codes to allow tiny houses as an affordable 

housing option that is in line with community desires for sustainability, limited 

visual impact, and preservation of open space.  
 

Policies 

• Consider allowing different options for tiny house integration, including: 

• Tiny houses as detached accessory dwelling units.  

• Tiny house clusters or villages – designed in a manner similar to cottage 

housing clusters.  

• Tiny house density/massing and review process: 

• Consider allowing a higher number of these units than typical units for the 

zone, due to the small size of tiny houses. Some density increase is essential 

because the units are smaller and usually more expensive to build on a cost-

per-square-foot basis.  

• Consider applying a maximum floor area ratio limit or an across-the-board 

allowed density for tiny houses, such as one tiny house per 1,200-square-

foot lot area. 

• Tiny house design elements: Provide design standards in a manner similar to 

cottage housing clusters: 

• Consider providing design standards for both common open spaces and semi-

private open spaces for individual units. 

• Permit construction of a shared community building to provide a space for 

gathering and sharing tools.  

• Consider how parking can be integrated with tiny house clusters. 

 

Strategic Infrastructure Investments 

One of the costs associated with development is the cost of upgrading existing or 

developing new infrastructure to serve development. In some cases, a community 

may wish to identify priorities for investment in sewer or water extensions or 

sidewalks to support upzones, or to catalyze development around new amenities 

such as transit hubs or community centers. Strategic selection of infrastructure 

priorities in the capital facilities element can help support your housing program.  

In Washington state, the community revitalization financing (CRF) program 

authorizes cities, towns, counties and port districts to create a tax “increment area” 



 

100 
 

and finance public improvements within the area by using increased revenues from 

local property taxes generated within the area (RCW 39.89). The best locations for 

such a program are undeveloped and underdeveloped areas because this program 

depends on an increase in property value. In 2020, HB 2497 amended this program 

to add permanently affordable housing to the list of public improvements that could 

use program funds. Here, “permanently affordable housing” is defined as 40 years 

for rental housing and 25 for ownership housing.  

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) in Washington - MRSC  

Information for Local Governments - Department of Revenue, Washington State  

Spokane's Tax Increment Finance District  

 

 

Process Improvements 

Strategies included in this section provide for a smoother, faster and/or more 

predictable permitting process for developers seeking to build housing that is 

consistent with jurisdictional goals. By streamlining the review process, jurisdictions 

can reduce the level of uncertainty and risk for potential developers. This can make 

it easier to get project financing on favorable terms and reduce constructions costs 

due to delays. 

 
SEPA Infill Exemption 

A city planning under the GMA can establish categorical exemptions for 

development to "fill in" urban growth areas. RCW 43.21C.229 allows a city or 

county planning under GMA to adopt an infill exemption if the comprehensive plan 

was already subject to environmental analysis through an environmental impact 

statement (EIS). Any residential, mixed-use or smaller scale commercial 

development that is roughly equal to or lower than the density goals of the 

comprehensive plan is exempt from further review. The local government must 

consider the specific probable adverse environmental impacts of the proposed 

action and determine that these specific impacts are adequately addressed by the 

development regulations or other applicable requirements of the comprehensive 

plan; subarea plan element of the comprehensive plan; planned action ordinance; 

or other local, state or federal rules or laws. By removing an extra layer of review 

and potential risk, a SEPA infill exemption can encourage development within the 

designated area. 

Policies 

• Consider doing infill exemption in association with SEPA analysis on a 

comprehensive plan update. 

 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.21C.229


 

101 
 

Planned Action 

Planned actions are authorized under SEPA (RCW 43.21C.440 and WAC 197-11-164 

through -172) and provide more detailed environmental analysis during an area-

wide planning phase, rather than during the permit review process. A community 

planning under GMA can develop a planned action EIS or threshold determination18  

to facilitate development consistent with local plans and mitigation measures (see 

more  under  “When and Where Applicable”). 

As a result, future projects in the designated planned action area do not require 

SEPA determinations at the time of permit application if they are consistent with the 

type of development, growth and traffic assumptions, and mitigation measures 

studied in the EIS or threshold determination. Such projects are still required to 

comply with adopted laws and regulations and undergo review pursuant to the 

community’s adopted land use and building permit procedures; however, the 

advanced work streamlines the development review approval process and removes 

a potential layer of appeal. 

Policies 

• Integrate the GMA and SEPA public engagement processes. Work with the 

community, as well as non- profit and for-profit housing and mixed-use 

developers, to ensure an inspired and realistic plan. 

• Consider having the planned action focus on opportunity sites that are 

publicly and privately owned. 

• Determine where surplus public lands and master planning can jump start 

housing and mixed-use development in an area with limited housing at 

desired densities. 

• Combine a planned action with well-defined vision, infrastructure investments 

and code incentives for greater effect. 

 

 
Protection from SEPA Appeals on Transportation Impacts 

RCW 43.21C.500 provides an option to protect SEPA decisions from appeal for 

impacts to transportation elements of the environment when the approved 

residential, multifamily or mixed-use project in a GMA city or town is: 

1. Consistent with the locally adopted transportation plan or transportation 

element of the comprehensive plan, and 

2. Subject to locally adopted impact fees and/or traffic and parking impacts are 

expressly mitigated under another ordinance, and 

3. If Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) determines the 

project would not present significant adverse impacts to the state-owned 

transportation system. 

 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=43.21C.440
https://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=197-11-164
https://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=197-11-164
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.21C.500


 

102 
 

This provision is intended to encourage development within central infill areas 

because it is less likely to impact the state system. This is an optional process 

where the local SEPA responsible official or developer may consult with WSDOT 

Regional Development Services offices to obtain a letter of no significant adverse 

impact to “transportation elements of the environment," which include  impacts to 

transportation systems; vehicular traffic; waterborne, rail, and air traffic; parking; 

movement or circulation of people or goods; and traffic hazards. 

Policies 

• Ensure goals and policies of transportation element or transportation master 

plan are up to date and clear.  

• Ensure the impact fee procedures and rate studies are up to date, and levels 

of service for traffic and standards for parking are clear to best support the 

decision that impacts are mitigated. 

• Contact the WSDOT development services office to clarify the local process 

and understand review times. 

 
 

Permitting Process Streamlining 

Providing an efficient, predictable and user-friendly permitting process can 

encourage new housing construction by reducing potential confusion or perception 

of risk among developers as well as lowering their administrative carrying costs. 

There are several ways in which jurisdictions can improve the clarity, speed and 

consistency of the permit review process, consistent with legal requirements: 

• Provide clear and informative application materials. 

• Simplify procedures for projects with lower impacts. 

• Provide for pre-application meetings. 

• Provide online application submittal and tracking mechanisms. 

• Provide the option for expedited review for an added fee. 

• Expedite review for certain types of development that the community wishes 

to encourage, such as infill development or affordable housing. 

• Identify permit liaisons or permit teams to support “one window” access for 

applicants. 

• Increase department staffing during busy cycles. 

• Provide public reports on actual permit review times. 

• Ensure permit and building department staff are updated on policy 

development and diverse housing options within the jurisdiction. 

Policies 



 

103 
 

• Review processes for opportunities to streamline 

• Use adaptive management to continually approve permit procedure 

• Track timeliness of permits over time 

 
 

 

Subdivision Process Streamlining 

Several recent changes to the subdivision statute were intended to make housing 

development easier and faster. 

Short Plats: 

Short subdivisions, also  called  “short plats,” are defined in RCW 58.17.020(6). 

"Short subdivision" is the division or redivision of land into four or fewer lots, tracts, 

parcels, sites or divisions for the purpose of sale, lease or transfer of ownership. 

Cities, towns and GMA counties may increase the number of lots to a maximum of 

nine within urban growth areas. This means that these developments may be 

administratively approved instead of needing to go through a more lengthy 

subdivision process. 

Subdivisions: 

RCW 58.17.095 provides that a county, city or town may adopt an ordinance 

providing for the administrative review of a preliminary plat without a public 

hearing. The ordinance may specify a threshold number of lots in a subdivision 

above which a public hearing must be held, and may specify other factors which 

necessitate the holding of a public hearing. If the public hearing is waived, the 

planning commission or planning agency shall complete the review of the proposed 

preliminary plat and transmit its recommendation to the legislative body as 

provided in RCW 58.17.100 to approve or disapprove the preliminary plat.  RCW 

58.17.100 was amended to allow local governments to delegate authority to 

approve the final plat to the planning commission or to staff. This means that a final 

plat does not have to wait as long to get final approval, which reduces the cost of 

the development. 

Policies 

• Consider related regulations and how changes to short plat limits or 

streamlining the approval process for subdivisions can mutually advance 

other goals for diverse housing, such as with cottage housing, small lot 

development, and zero lot line development. 

 

  

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=58.17.095
http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=58.17.100
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=58.17.100
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=58.17.100


 

104 
 

Affordable Housing Incentives 

Affordable housing incentives encourage and support multifamily housing 

development, particularly income-restricted affordable housing. In a typical market, 

affordable housing is typically built by two different kinds of developers:  

 

Mission-driven affordable housing developers are largely public, not-for-profit 

organizations that assemble public and private funding to finance affordable 

housing projects. While these developers usually do not work to maximize profits, 

they still seek projects that allow them to sustain their operations and deliver 

affordable housing in an efficient way. For these developers, incentives reduce total 

costs and can increase the units they can provide.  

 

Affordable housing can also be built by for-profit developers, including market-rate 

housing developers. These businesses use incentives to improve overall returns 

through density bonuses, parking reductions, fee waivers or other allowances in 

exchange for affordable units in the development. Although they can be motivated 

by corporate social responsibility, for-profit companies typically work to receive 

returns from projects and have limited options with respect to providing income-

restricted affordable units unless they are mandatory (i.e., inclusionary zoning) or 

they are offered significant incentives for voluntary participation. 

 

Development incentives work differently in the private market with respect to the 

financial feasibility of projects depending on the market. There are three cases that 

a community may face with tailoring incentives to local markets:  

 

At the low end of the spectrum, a desired project type is infeasible because the 

costs of land, construction and financing are too high and market rents are too low 

to provide enough of a return to investors. If the net revenue received from a 

project is too low given an investment, affordable housing incentives are generally 

unlikely to make enough of a difference to project returns. In these cases, cities 

should focus on incentives for market rate housing production (such as MFTE with 

no affordability requirements) and support for nonprofits to help them provide 

affordable housing.  

 

In a marginal market, the expected financial returns are near the threshold of 

feasibility, and there may be some uncertainty about whether the desired project 

type would be profitable enough to move forward. In these cases, incentives are 

best deployed to “move the needle” and make a project more feasible by reducing 

costs or increasing potential returns. Here voluntary programs may have the most 

leverage to encourage new housing projects.  

 

On the high end of this spectrum are hot housing markets where projects are 

expected to provide an adequate return to investors without any incentives due to 

higher market rents. Cities experiencing these conditions may explore whether 



 

105 
 

mandatory requirement for affordable housing (such as inclusionary zoning), paired 

with incentives, can encourage affordable housing production without significantly 

reducing market-rate housing production.  

 

Note that feasibility can vary by project type. For example, a 2019 study of market 

condition in the South Hill urban corridor in unincorporated Pierce County found 

that low-rise multifamily is likely to be feasible while midrise is not. In this case, a 

density bonus would not provide a strong incentive to provide affordable housing. 

So, understanding what types of projects are most likely to be feasible can help 

tailor incentives to be most effective.  

Multifamily Tax Exemption 

A multifamily tax exemption (MFTE) is a waiver of property taxes to encourage 

affordable housing production and redevelopment in "residential targeted areas" 

designated by cities. The goal of MFTE programs is to address a financial feasibility 

gap for desired development types in the target areas, specifically to develop 

sufficient available, desirable and convenient residential housing to meet the needs 

of the public. The urban centers that are the typical targets for this tax exemption 

policy are often near transit, jobs and amenities, and MFTE programs are designed 

to encourage denser growth in areas with the greatest capacity and significant 

challenges to development feasibility.  

RCW 84.14 allows certain cities planning under the GMA to grant qualified 

residential and mixed-use projects a property tax exemption under an MFTE 

program for the value of new residential improvements, rehabilitation, or 

conversion of residential buildings in the designated areas. This can currently take 

two forms:  

• An eight-year tax exemption can be offered for multifamily projects which 

meet base requirements.  

• A 12-year exemption is allowed for projects that incorporate a minimum 

percentage (typically 20%) of income-restricted units.  

Cities can also limit MFTEs specifically to projects that incorporate only income-

restricted units. 

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very low-income housing  

• Housing near transit, amenities and/or jobs  

When and Where Applicable  

Available to cities with 15,000 or higher population, or others as determined by 

RCW 84.14.  



 

106 
 

• Eight-year MFTE programs with no affordability requirements are most 

effective and appropriate in cities having trouble attracting private developers 

to build multifamily housing anywhere within their borders.  

• Cities with strong housing markets that are already seeing multifamily 

development may consider offering only a 12-year option to encourage the 

inclusion of income-restricted affordable housing development. When both 

options are available, profit-motivated developers will typically select the 

eight-year option.  

• MFTE “residential target areas” should be selected in conjunction with 

designated urban centers that lack residential housing options, including 

affordable housing.21  

• Recommended in areas of high demand, such as along transit corridors and 

near amenity clusters or job centers.  

Potential Drawbacks  

• Loss of property tax revenue through the eight- or 12-year term of 

exemption on the value of residential improvements.  

• If the incentive is offered to projects that would otherwise already be 

feasible, this policy may have little practical benefit. A 2019 report showed 

that in the majority of areas, rents for "affordable units" were higher than 

market rents.22  

• Affordability covenants expire after 12 years and cannot be renewed, which 

means that affordable MFTE units are not part of the long-term affordable 

housing supply.  

Policies 

• Carefully map target zones for implementation to meet local goals.  

• Conduct pro forma analyses of sample projects to estimate a developer’s 

expected return on investment under different scenarios. This can be helpful 

to calibrate requirements such as the amount of affordable units and 

affordability levels to maximize the benefits without discouraging use of the 

incentive by developers. Some local governments require this analysis as 

part of the application.  

• Affordability levels are set within statute but may be adjusted to meet local 

circumstances. Review market rents to ensure that affordability levels 

provided by the exemption are reduced rents compared to market rents.  

• Layering MFTE with other incentives for affordable housing, such as density 

bonuses, fee reductions or planned actions, can magnify the overall effects.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

In-house staff can perform policy design and implementation. Annual monitoring of 

affordability of the designated units will be needed (RCW 84. 14.100). 

Resources  

• Affordable Housing - MRSC (see Multifamily Tax Exemption section)  



 

107 
 

• Housing Market Policy Dashboard - City of Tacoma - Allows users to explore 

the potential outcomes of housing policy scenarios (including MFTE and 

inclusionary zoning) on the feasibility of development and projected 

affordable housing development.  

• Bellingham code 17.82.030: Eight-year exemptions are available for projects 

in residential target areas and 12-year exemptions for projects incorporating 

20% or more income-restricted affordable housing units.  

• Vancouver code 03.22: Target areas include the downtown core and a buffer 

surrounding their BRT service route. An eight-year exemption is offered for 

all projects of four+ units, and a 12-year exemption for projects 

incorporating 20% of income-restricted units for residents at 60% area 

median income (AMI).  

Alternative Development Standards  

for Affordable Housing 

Jurisdictions can relax development regulations in return for affordable housing 

development as an incentive. One common strategy is to reduce minimum parking 

requirements  for projects that include affordable housing. This is often 

implemented by reducing or eliminating the required number of parking stalls per 

unit only for the income-restricted affordable units in a new development. Other 

alternative development standards that are commonly used to encourage affordable 

housing are Reducing Minimum Lot Sizes, Increasing Building Height, Offering 

Density and/or Height Incentives for Desired Unit Types, and Reducing Setbacks, 

Lot Coverage and/or Impervious Area Standards. In return for flexibility in 

development standards, RCW 36.70A.540, Affordable Housing Incentive Programs, 

requires affordability for at least 50 years.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Housing diversity  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Very-low income housing  
 

When and Where Applicable  

• Parking minimums will be most effective/applicable for multifamily housing, 
especially where expensive structure parking would otherwise be needed.  

• Minimum lot size reductions are most meaningful in older residential areas 

where the original platted lot size is smaller than the zoning district’s 
minimum lot size or in residential zones with undeveloped tracts that could 

be subdivided.  
 

Potential Drawbacks  

See relevant housing strategies for details.  



 

108 
 

Policies 

• These often work most effectively as part of a broader package of incentives 

to encourage affordable housing production.  

• Where flexibility is allowed by code, ensure flexibility for affordability is clear.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

See relevant housing strategies for details. Annual monitoring of affordability of the 

designated units will be needed.  

Resources  

RCW 36.70A.540: Affordable Housing Incentive Programs  

Pierce County offers several alternative design standards in its Affordable Housing 

Incentives. See Pierce County Affordable Housing Incentives: Independent 

Evaluation and Recommendations to Increase Effectiveness (BERK Consulting, 

2019).  

Fee Waivers for Affordable Housing 

Fee waivers reduce the up-front cost of construction for residential development. 

Fees, such as impact fees, utility connection fees and project review fees, can run in 

the thousands per unit for residential properties in some jurisdictions. Waiving 

some, or all, of these fees for income-restricted units can be a valuable incentive 

for encouraging the creation of income-restricted affordable units. This incentive is 

most effective when paired with a larger incentive package for affordable housing.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

All residential and mixed use areas  

Useful to promote integration of affordable housing units within market rate 

developments  

Potential Drawbacks  

• Loss of revenue for public amenities such as parks, schools and infrastructure 

improvements  

• For impact fees, municipalities may need to backfill a portion of payments for 

waived fees (RCW 82.02.060(3))  

Policies 

• Offer this incentive along with a suite of financial and/or regulatory incentives 

to promote income-restricted affordable housing.  



 

109 
 

• Ensure that the length of time units are required to remain affordable and 

the income brackets to whom they must cater are in parity with the benefits 

received for the community and authorizing statute.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Planning department staff can implement regulatory benefit and annual monitoring 

of affordability of the designated units. Coordination with other city departments on 

fee waivers will be needed. 

Resources  

Affordable Housing - MRSC (See "Waiver of Fees or Standards" Section)  

RCW 82.02.060(3) authorizes cities, counties and towns to grant impact fee 

exemptions for affordable housing. Jurisdictions may choose a partial exemption of 

not more than 80% of impact fees, in which case there is no explicit requirement to 

pay the exempted portion of the fee from public funds other than impact fee 

accounts; or provide a full waiver, in which case the remaining percentage of the 

exempted fee must be paid from public funds other than impact fee accounts.  

A city or town may waive or delay collection of tap-in charges, connection fees or 

hookup fees for low-income persons connecting to water, sanitary or storm sewer 

service, electricity, gas and other means of power and heat (RCW 35.92.380 

(1980), RCW 35.92.020(5)).  

RCW 36.70A.540 authorizes affordable housing incentive programs including fee 

waivers or exemptions.  

Pierce County Code 18A.65: Fee waivers are offered for building fees, traffic impact 

fees, school impact fees, park impact fees, sanitary sewer system/facilities charge 

and preliminary plat application fees.  

 

Funding Options for Affordable Housing Development 

This section identifies options available to communities for directly funding or 

subsidizing affordable housing production. These include grants, loans and options 

for new revenue generation.  

Local Option Taxes, Fees and Levies  

Cities may provide direct project funding, through grants or loans, to encourage the 

production of income-restricted affordable housing. Securing this funding can occur 

in different ways:  

A local housing tax levy, authorized through RCW 84.52.105, can allow up to 

$0.50 per $1,000 of property tax to be allocated toward an affordable housing fund 

for projects serving very-low income households (50% median family income or 

less) if approved by a majority of the voters of the taxing district. Housing levy 

funds may be used for a variety of purposes detailed in an affordable housing 

finance plan such as for matching funding for not-for-profit housing developments. 



 

110 
 

This support can improve a project’s competitiveness for receiving additional 

financing from state or national sources. The county, city or town that imposes the 

levy must declare an emergency with respect to the availability of housing that is 

affordable to very low-income households in the district. SB 6212 (laws of 2020) 

expands the use of this tax to include affordable homeownership, owner-occupied 

home repair and foreclosure prevention programs for low-income households up to 

80% of median family income as of October 1, 2020.  

Sales and use tax: With voter approval, counties can pass a sales and use tax of 

up to 0.1% to fund affordable housing programs serving households with incomes 

below 60% of the AMI and within specific categories. These categories include 

individuals with mental illness, veterans, senior citizens, homeless families with 

children, unaccompanied homeless youth, persons with disabilities, or domestic 

violence victims (RCW 82.14.530).  

Real Estate Excise Tax (REET 2): A city or town planning under GMA can impose 

an additional 0.25% real estate excise tax ("REET 2") under RCW 82.46.035. This 

requires voter approval only for communities voluntarily planning under GMA. 

Revenues may be used only for financing “capital projects” in the capital facilities 

plan element of the comprehensive plan, which may include building, 

rehabilitating/repairing and/or purchasing affordable housing.  

Other funds: See MRSC's Revenue Guide for Washington Cities and Towns for 

updated information.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

This strategy is best suited for communities that face a shortage of very low 

income-restricted affordable housing whose community would support such a tax, 

fee or ballot measure (if required).  

In the case of REET 2, this is most effective in communities that are seeing active 

markets and significant real estate sales.  

Potential Drawbacks  

• A housing levy must be approved by the voters and may be assessed for only 

10 years.  

• There is a financial cost to local residents subject to the property tax levy, or 

to new homeowners with REET 2.  

• REET 2 funding is restricted to projects in the capital facilities plan.  

• A sales and use tax must be approved by the voters. No more than 10% of 

the revenue may be used to supplant existing local funds. If a county 



 

111 
 

imposes this tax after a city located within that county has imposed this tax, 

the county must provide a credit against its tax for the full amount imposed 

by the city.  

Policies 

• Coordinate city funding with other known funding sources for maximum 

impact.  

• Work with area groups to develop information about ballot initiatives, 

demonstrating the types of housing needs in the community.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Staff time to create and administer program, including development of an 

affordable housing financing plan or amendments to the Capital Facilities Plan to 

direct the expenditure of funds.  

Resources  

• Affordable Housing - MRSC (See "Affordable Housing Property Tax Levy" 

Section)  

• Affordable Housing - MRSC (See "Affordable Housing Sales Tax" Section)  

• Real Estate Excise Tax - MRSC  

• Example legislation from Bellingham and program description in Vancouver  

• Sample real estate tax ordinance from San Juan County  

 

Local Housing Trust Fund 

Housing trust funds are distinct funds established by local governments that receive 

an ongoing source of dedicated funding to support housing affordability. They can 

be designed to meet the most critical housing needs in each community.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

Communities with sufficient capacity to manage a housing trust fund and generate 

sufficient capital for desired outcomes. Can also be coordinated at the county and 

regional level.  

Potential Drawbacks  

Requires management of the fund.  

Policies 

• Leverage additional funding from state or national programs (e.g., 

Community Development Block Grants) to maximize the benefit of dollars 

raised. 



 

112 
 

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Staff time to report on the distribution and use of funds.  

Resources  

• General Information on Housing Trust Funds at Housingtrustfundproject.org  

• Bellingham Home Fund  

"Found Land": Surplus Land and Other Opportunities 

In areas with high land costs, acquiring suitable land can add significant expense to 

an affordable housing project. Cities or counties may own surplus or underutilized 

lands that may be suitable for housing development. These public lands can be 

donated or leased to affordable housing developers to reduce the cost of 

development and help make a project more financially feasible. Other land might 

hold potential, too:  

Surplus publicly owned land: Under RCW 39.33.015 (2018), public agencies 

(local governments or utilities) can discount or gift land they own for “public 

benefit,” defined as affordable housing (up to 80% AMI). These agencies must 

adopt rules to regulate the transfer of property. Staff should inventory publicly 

owned available lands that may meet criteria for donation and assess 

environmental or other constraints that may inhibit project suitability prior to site 

selection. Consider the broad range of public agencies that may be willing to sell, 

trade, or donate land for a public purpose. Consider lands purchased as staging 

areas for major construction that may be turned toward housing at the end of the 

project.  

Brownfields: Certain properties that can safely be rehabilitated (if necessary) may 

be eligible for Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) brownfield redevelopment 

grants. This can be a strategic move to both satisfy goals for infill development and 

provide additional affordable units in a community. The 2018 Washington State 

Legislature authorized a competitive process to fund recipients that use their 

cleaned-up property to build affordable housing and provided funds to the 

Department of Ecology to distribute to local governments to investigate and plan 

cleanup for potential affordable housing development. The health and safety of 

residents should be a top priority in site selection, and only parcels where 

remediation can ensure safe residential use should be selected. 

Adaptive reuse is the process of reusing an existing building for a purpose other 

than what it was designed for. After buildings become disused or abandoned, 

adaptive reuse can be an effective way to put new uses into existing buildings, 

reusing existing infrastructure and preserving historic assets. Historic preservation 

tax credits provide a 20% federal income tax on the qualified amount of private 

investment on certified rehabilitation of a National Register listed historic building.  



 

113 
 

Service groups and churches: In most communities, service groups or churches 

may be considering divestment of property as their membership changes. These 

groups may be willing to provide property for a benevolent use. 

School district-owned land can be leased for affordable housing. HB 2617 (laws 

of 2020) was passed to remove recapture provisions when used for affordable 

housing under RCW 39.33.015. This facilitated affordable housing development on 

Everett School District property, which leased a ballfield for an affordable housing 

complex.  

Co-location: building housing with other community facilities: Another way 

to “find land” is by adding housing above community facilities such as daycares, 

libraries, recreation or community centers, or on the same property. This strategy 

takes advantage of land and utilities already planned for the main use. Planners 

should ensure zoning allows for such mixed uses, along with adequate height. 

Vacant, abandoned and tax delinquent property23: These properties generally 

have negative impacts on surrounding properties while also preventing productive 

use of the land. Cities or agencies can help to assemble these properties and 

coordinate a sale to developers or non-profit organizations to develop affordable 

housing. This process of assembling is called land banking, and often includes 

resolving ownership issues and/or addressing tax liens or land encumbrances that 

otherwise deter developers from pursuing these properties. Like with surplus 

publicly owned land, MRSC notes that the state constitution generally restricts cities 

and counties from giving property to private individuals or from selling it for less 

than market value unless the property would be used to directly benefit the “poor 

and infirm.”  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

Best suited for communities that face a shortage of income-restricted affordable 

housing and that own surplus land in desirable locations.  

Potential Drawbacks  

• Loss of public land ownership on a long-term or permanent basis  

• Opportunity cost of other potential uses for public lands  

• Be aware of any lands that might have use restrictions based on their funding 

source at the time of purchase, or any covenants on the land  

Policies 

• Establish a transparent procedure for selecting eligible sites.  



 

114 
 

• Determine if any community benefits, in addition to income-restricted 

housing units, should be required on the site.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Staff resources may be used to inventory and assess public lands.  

Resources  

• Public Land for Affordable Housing - PRSC  

• Use of Publicly Owned Property for Affordable Housing - Local Housing 

Solutions  

• Project examples from Bellevue: Hopelink Place, Habitat Eastmont, 

Brandenwood Apartments and Park Highlands at Wilburton  

Partner with Local Housing Providers 

Local governments may want to coordinate with local housing groups and non-profit 

developers to look for shared goals and identify ways both groups can work 

together. This may include identifying property, crafting incentives, developing 

housing assistance programs, supporting grant applications, code enforcement, 

property owner assistance or other programs to help increase affordability and 

reduce homelessness.  

Gaps Addressed  

• Increase housing supply  

• Affordable homeownership  

• Middle-income rental housing  

• Senior housing  

• Very-low income housing  

When and Where Applicable  

• Any town can work with its development community to craft custom solutions 

that address most urgent needs and leverage available resources. If assisting 

with low-income housing tax credit (LIHTC) applications, it is important to 

remember distinctions between the 9% and 4% programs.  

• The 9% program is administered through a competitive application process, 

with preference for projects targeting lower-income households.  

• The 4% program is typically preferred for for-profit developers and often 

focuses on workforce housing. Although nominally it was not designed as a 

competitive process, limited availability of the associated bonds has meant 

that this process has become competitive as well.  

Potential Drawbacks  

• Jurisdictions have limited capacity. Forging partnerships and developing 

concepts that achieve shared goals can be a time-intensive process.  

• Projects owned by private or non-profit developers may have affordability 

covenant expiration dates.  



 

115 
 

Policies 

• Reach out broadly to identify local organizations, resources and housing 

needs of high-need groups, such as the disabled, elderly or homeless.  

• The city can support applications, but tax credits are applicable for 

developers only.  

Time/Capacity/Skill Needed  

Work can be done in-house. Established relationships with the development 

community can help promote partnerships that lead to positive outcomes.  

Resources  

• ULI Guidebook on successful Public-Private Partnerships  

• Snohomish County Affordable Housing Trust Fund  

Funding Resources for Affordable Housing 

There are a variety of sources of funding for affordable housing, and normally 

several forms of funding are required to make a project feasible. Below are some of 

the more prominent funding sources available.  

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program. This program is a federal 

initiative that authorizes affordable housing developers to sell tax credits to 

investors to generate equity for development costs. Investors can use the credits to 

reduce their federal tax liability. In Washington, this program is administered 

through the Washington State Housing Finance Commission (WSHFC) for projects 

building units affordable at the 60% area median income (AMI) level for 30 years. 

Through LIHTC, there is a 9% tax credit program and 4% tax credit program. 

Nationally, the LIHTC program has helped to create over 3 million affordable 

housing units over 30 years, according to the National Multifamily Housing Council.  

Washington State Housing Trust Fund. The Department of Commerce manages 

these funds that provide amortized loans, deferred loans and recoverable grants to 

support projects that acquire, build and/or rehabilitate affordable housing. Units 

must be accessible to households earning up to 80% of the AMI, with federal HOME 

funding requiring affordability at 50% AMI. A covenant is typically secured to 

ensure that the required affordability of units is maintained for 40 years.  

HUD/FHA Loans. These loan programs support affordable housing projects by 

allowing for more favorable lending terms than private-market providers will offer. 

The Section 221(d)(4) program insures construction loans for new construction or 

substantial rehabilitation of moderate- and low-income rental housing that contains 

five units or more. The Section 223(f) program insures mortgages for the purchase 

or refinance of existing multifamily housing.  

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Grant and Loan Programs. 

The USDA offers a variety of programs aimed at increasing affordable multifamily 

rental housing in rural areas. These include: Housing Preservation and 



 

116 
 

Revitalization Demonstration Loans and Grants, Housing Preservation Grants, 

Multifamily Housing Direct Loans and Multifamily Housing Loan Guarantees.  

Community Development Block Grants (CDBGs). These grants are federal 

funds administered to smaller cities/towns and counties for projects that improve 

the economic, social and physical environment. CDBG funding cannot be used for 

new housing construction. It can, however, be used for housing rehabilitation, 

homeownership assistance, affordable housing plans and infrastructure projects 

that support affordable housing development. Specific CDBG grants are available to 

Native communities through the Indian Community Development Block Grant 

Program (ICDBG). ICDBG funds have added flexibility that allows for land 

acquisition to support new housing and, under some circumstances, new housing 

construction. Some communities get funding directly from HUD; Commerce 

administers funds for the balance of the state.  

Resources:  

Information Resources from WSHFC, including list of all active LIHTC rental 

properties in Washington  

Housing Trust Fund Handbook  

HUD/FHA loan information  

USDA programs for developers  

Department of Commerce description of various CDBG funding programs and 

resource lists: https://www.commerce.wa.gov/serving-communities/community-

development-block-grants/  

Local CDBG program manager contact information: 

https://www.hud.gov/states/washington/community/cdbg  

 

 

  



 

117 
 

Appendix 5: Displacement Prevention Strategies 

What is Displacement? 

Displacement refers to instances where a household is forced or pressured to move 

from their home against their wishes. This can be for economic, cultural, or physical 

reasons, and the result can be catastrophic for households that are impacted. It can 

also disrupt the social fabric and networks of trust and support that exist within a 

community. For housing actions plans funded by Commerce, RCW 36.70.600 (2) 

requires local governments to consider strategies to minimize displacement of low-

income residents resulting from redevelopment and strategies of the plan. The goal 

of housing action plans is to adapt housing strategies to ensure housing exists for 

all members of a community. This often requires housing opportunities to change, 

and so operating as though change will not occur is not feasible. So how can a 

community plan for change in a way that is minimally disruptive for those who live 

there, and in a way where displacement does not occur? This section will examine 

displacement, and strategies that can be used to prevent and/or mitigate it.  

Types of Displacement: 

Physical Displacement 

Physical displacement typically occurs with an eviction or lease termination. Various 

circumstances can lead to physical displacement, including a property owner’s 

choice to demolish an existing residence to enable the construction of new buildings 

on the same site. Owners may also choose to rehabilitate an existing residence or 

building. For example, strong demand for housing can encourage property owners 

to upgrade or refurbish existing rental buildings with new finishes to increase rents 

and attract higher- income tenants. A third cause of physical displacement is the 

expiration of covenants on rent- or income-restricted housing. When covenants 

expire, the building owner can raise the rent for a unit, making it unaffordable to a 

low-income tenant. 

When a city adopts strategies, such as an upzone, to encourage more intense 

housing development, it also increases the chances that current residents in the 

affected neighborhood will be physically displaces to make way for redevelopment. 

The areas may have low levels of investment, many renters, and be seen as “in 

need of redevelopment.” Residents in these neighborhoods generally have lower 

income, are renters and are more vulnerable to displacement than those in 

established stable neighborhoods that may not be considered for upzones. This can 

lead to exacerbating inequities that already exist. 

Economic Displacement 

Economic displacement occurs when pressures of increased housing costs compel a 

household to relocate. Market-rate housing costs are largely driven by the 

interaction of supply and demand in the regional housing market. Lower-income 



 

118 
 

households living in market-rate rental housing are at greater risk of economic 

displacement when housing costs increase. Even homeowners can be at risk of 

economic displacement when property tax bills increase significantly. 

Vulnerability to economic displacement can disproportionately impact communities 

of color. Across Washington state, communities of color experience higher rates of 

housing cost burden when compared to white, non-Hispanic households. Cost 

burden is when a household is paying more than 30% of its income for housing and 

utilities.  

Cultural Displacement 

Cultural displacement occurs when people choose to move because their neighbors 

and culturally related businesses and institutions have left the area. The presence 

(or absence) of these cultural assets can influence racial or ethnic minority 

households in their decisions about where to live, more than for broader 

populations. The same segregation and discrimination challenges that may limit 

access to job and educational opportunities may also limit access to housing for 

these communities. 
 

For example, if neighboring households or community serving businesses within a 

racial or ethnic community experience direct or economic displacement, other 

households within the same racial or ethnic community may face increased 

pressure to relocate due to cultural factors. Since cultural anchors, gathering 

spaces, arts organizations, businesses and religious institutions often are not 

widespread in alternative locations, the presence of these cultural assets often can 

have added importance to racial or ethnic minority households in their location 

decisions. Cultural displacement can be reasonably assumed to accelerate or 

amplify the impacts of other displacement pressures, specifically for racial and 

ethnic minority populations. 

  

 

Strategies to Address Physical Displacement 

Strategic Acquisition and Financing of  

Existing Multi-family Housing 

To better retain affordable housing, cities and housing authorities can catalog 

naturally occurring affordable housing and housing with income restrictions or 

covenants that are about to expire. Some of this information could be found in the 

HNA or with further analysis of HNA data. Cities, counties, and housing authorities 

may then identify funds to acquire existing multifamily buildings that serve low- or 

moderate-income residents to avoid displacement of residents. Selected properties 

should be likely targets for redevelopment with residents otherwise unable to afford 

to stay in the neighborhood or projects with expiring affordability contracts. 



 

119 
 

Alternatively, public funds can support private or non-profit owners of buildings with 

expiring affordability covenants, as discussed in the next strategy. This practice 

preserves existing communities and retains long-term affordable housing stock.  

Support Third-Party Purchases of  

Existing Affordable Housing 

Community-based organizations, non-profits and community land trusts can be 

important property owners within a neighborhood. Using public resources to 

empower trusted institutions can preserve or create affordable housing and space 

for community-serving organizations and businesses. Municipal and other funds can 

assist these institutions in land and property acquisition efforts that preserve 

affordable housing and prevent displacement within a neighborhood.  

Notice of Intent to Sell/Sale Ordinance 

A “notice of intent to sell” ordinance requires owners of multifamily buildings to 

provide official notification to tenants and local housing officials. This ordinance can 

apply specifically to properties with rents at or below certain income levels. The 

notice gives public authorities the opportunity to plan for a potential purchase in the 

interest of preserving housing that serves low- or moderate-income residents. It 

also acts as a mitigation measure for residents, providing additional time to prepare 

for a potential need to move.  

A related strategy uses existing databases, such as the National Housing 

Preservation Database (NHPD) and PolicyMap to identify properties with expiring 

income-restricted covenants. These resources empower cities to proactively identify 

units for preservation as affordable to low-income households.  

Foreclosure Intervention Counseling 

Foreclosure intervention counselors serve as intermediaries between homeowners 

and financial institutions to advocate for at-risk homeowners in need of budgeting 

assistance, refinanced loan terms or repaired credit scores. Cities can use affordable 

housing funds to support these programs, or community land trusts can step in to 

purchase foreclosed property, helping to restore ownership for residents.  

Mobile Home Park Conversion to Cooperative 

A community investment program for mobile home parks offers financial tools 

enabling mobile home park residents to organize and purchase the land that serves 

their community. Mobile home parks often house moderate- and low-income 

residents, and this program, which operates as a co-op, protects residents from 

unexpected rent increases over time. It also empowers residents to complete much-

needed deferred maintenance projects.  

The Washington State Housing Finance Commission, in partnership with Resident 

Owned Communities (ROC) Northwest and ROC USA, offers the financial tools and 



 

120 
 

expert guidance for manufactured-housing (“mobile home”) communities to 

become self-owned cooperatives. The commission works in partnership with ROC 

USA to provide financing for the purchase, and sometimes improvement, of the 

property. This financing means a bank loan with favorable terms for the 

cooperative.  

Tenant Relocation Assistance 

Upzoned neighborhoods may see an increase in demolition of existing housing units 

to build newer, higher-density housing types. This process displaces existing 

tenants who then incur moving costs. Local governments, authorized by WAC 365-

196-835 and detailed in RCW 59.18.440, can pass an ordinance that requires 

developers, public funds or a combination of the two to provide relocation funds for 

these displaced tenants. Tenants at or below 50% of the county median income, 

adjusted for family size, qualify for available funds. Resident relocation assistance 

as a result of public action is required, with details outlined in RCW 8.26. 

Just Cause Eviction Protections 

Washington state requires that tenants receive at least 20-day notice when asked 

to leave a property. However, state law does not require landlords to provide an 

explanation for the demand. This is particularly disruptive for those without longer-

term lease agreements, such as month-to-month tenants. Local jurisdictions can 

pass just cause eviction protections that mandate that landlords provide tenants a 

legally justifiable reason when being asked to vacate. Legally justifiable reasons 

may include failure to pay on time or meet terms of the lease agreement, sale of 

the building, or owner’s desire to assume occupancy of the unit. This protection 

does not avoid displacement, but it promotes rental stability and provides legal 

recourse for residents who are asked to vacate without reasonable justification.  

“Right to Return” Policies for Promoting Home Ownership 

A “right to return” policy works to reverse the effects of past physical displacement 

by providing down payment assistance for first-time homebuyers who can prove 

that they have been victims of displacement. Programs may prioritize cases of 

displacement by direct government action. 

In Portland, priority is given to residents of certain neighborhoods whose property, 

or whose parents’ property was seized through eminent domain, which has 

historically impacted communities of color and low-income residents at 

disproportionate rates. Northeast Portland is one qualifying neighborhood, where 

displacement from public urban renewal projects in the early 2000’s contributed to 

a dramatic decrease of the neighborhood’s historically Black community. 



 

121 
 

Regulating Short-term Rentals 

Many communities have adopted short-term rental (STR) regulations to reduce 

their impact on displacement and housing affordability. A first step is to track STR 

activity by requiring registration and reporting from owners of these units. Policy 

regulations should prioritize actions that reduce the likelihood of converting long-

term rentals into STR’s. Some examples include: 

• Restrict short-term rentals to zones allowing tourist accommodations (e.g. 

City of Chelan) 

• Set caps on the number of allowed short-term rentals per host (e.g. Seattle, 

Okanogan-Methow) 

• In a residential zone, limit the number of nights a short-term rental can be 

rented to guests annually (e.g. Bend, Oregon). This helps minimize the 

ownership of property purely for use as a full-time short-term rental. 

• Require permanent resident occupancy for a period of time prior to the unit 

being offered for a short-term rental. 

In addition, as a mitigation measure, STRs can be charged transient rental or hotel 

taxes, with revenue contributing to anti-displacement initiatives. 

The regulation of short-term rentals can be complex and involve establishing an 

annual license or permit, standards for the protection of guests and/or standards 

for the protection of neighbors. There may also be a need for added code 

enforcement resources.  

 

 

Strategies to Address Economic Displacement 

These are proactive strategies focused on making residents more economically 

resilient and less vulnerable to rapidly rising housing costs. 

Community Land Trusts 

A community land trust (CLT) is a non-profit organization, owned by a collective of 

community members which buys and holds land within a neighborhood. It may 

raise funds through public or private sources to build structures on this land to be 

used for community purposes or to be sold to low- or moderate-income residents. 

These building occupants pay a monthly land lease fee to the trust, which maintains 

ownership of the land itself. CLT’s build community wealth by cooperatively owning 

land and provide affordable housing within a neighborhood. They also prevent 

displacement by keeping ownership of the land and property out of the private 

market and ensuring that new development serves community goals such as 

housing affordability. Public policy can support CLT’s by land donation or 

contributing funds for land acquisition.  



 

122 
 

Need-based Rehabilitation Assistance 

Rehabilitation projects for existing housing that serves low- and moderate-income 

residents encourages community longevity. Need-based rehabilitation assistance 

helps low-income, disabled or senior residents make needed home repairs and 

safety upgrades by offering favorable financing terms or time-limited tax 

abatements to qualified homeowners. Projects that address weatherization and 

energy efficiency improvements can improve long-term affordability for the 

homeowner by reducing monthly energy costs.  

• Affordable housing funds can be used to directly provide loans or to partner 

with non-profit organizations specializing in this type of work. 

• RCW 84.37 and RCW 84.38 provide for property tax deferral for homeowners 

with limited incomes. 

• Local housing web sites may also provide information about state and local 

programs for home repair assistance and help with energy bills. 

Down Payment Assistance 

Some renters desire long-term investment in a neighborhood through home 

ownership. Saving enough money for a down payment can take years for many 

households. Economic displacement pressures can push these households to 

relocate long before their savings accounts are sufficient for a home purchase. 

Down payment or assistance programs proactively address this barrier by offering 

no-interest or low-interest capital for qualified buyers. These programs typically 

pair with home ownership education courses to encourage financial preparedness 

for participants. Many programs target first-time home buyers. Home ownership is 

not the best fit for all households, but many renters pay a mortgage-equivalent in 

rent and desire the added stability offered by ownership. 

Property Tax Assistance Programs 

Certain neighborhoods experience dramatic increases to property values that result 

in proportional increase to property tax values. Longtime residents who own their 

home but wish to stay in their neighborhood but struggle to keep up with these cost 

increases can be helped through a property tax assistance program. This currently 

exists in Washington for widows and widowers of veterans, but other states have 

introduced programs that offer this assistance to low-income, elderly, or disabled 

homeowners as well. Maryland’s program extends this benefit to renters who often 

bear the burden of property tax payments through increased rental rates. 

  



 

123 
 

Strategies to Address Cultural Displacement 

Strategies addressing cultural displacement preserve business and cultural anchors 

to maintain the physical spaces that support place-based social networks. These 

actions protect, foster and minimize physical displacement of existing businesses or 

anchors and provide for appropriate and affordable commercial/cultural space in 

new development. 

Success stories tend to use multiple strategies to achieve affordable commercial 

and community space in new development, and at least one non-profit is usually 

involved.  

Grants/Loans to Directly Support Small Businesses 

Small businesses and cultural anchors, especially in areas with high displacement 

risk, may struggle to invest in their space and keep up with rent. Washington state 

law establishes local governments’ authority to support businesses: 

Economic development programs. “It shall be in the public purpose for all cities 

to engage in economic development programs. In addition, cities may contract with 

nonprofit corporations in furtherance of this and other acts relating to economic 

development” (RCW 35.21.703) 

Restrictions on city/county funds. Washington’s prohibition against using 

general government funds for gifts or loans to private parties for economic 

development (State Constitution Article 8 Section 7) is often cited as a barrier to 

supporting businesses and cultural anchors. It can be hard to justify how funding 

the business or organization provides “necessary support of the poor and infirm.” 

Instead of using this prohibition to take affordable commercial space off the table, 

communities are getting creative about how to support their important spaces by 

using federal and private funds which have greater flexibility than general 

city/county funds, and a variety of partnerships described below.  

Federal and private funds. Federal and private funds, without the stringent 

restrictions on general city/county funds, can pay rent and operating costs. The City 

of Seattle’s Office of Economic Development’s Small Business Tenant Improvement 

Fund uses private money and federal funds (outside of the city’s general fun) to 

support small and Black, indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC)-owned businesses 

where there is a high risk of displacement. A limited-liability company, overseen by 

the city but not a city entity itself, manages a federal tax credit program and 

investor fee revenues.  

Seattle uses federal CDBG funds for its Small Business Stabilization Fund and 

recently shifted further CDBG funds here to better support businesses impacted by 

the coronavirus pandemic. Seattle’s Cultural Facilities Fund also aids organizations 

and businesses with initial rent or building improvements.  



 

124 
 

Community Lenders. Seattle also connects small and entrepreneurial businesses 

with community lenders. These loans are flexible for meeting a range of needs. 

Sharia-compliant loans – where no interest is charged and fees are based on 

profit—are important for businesses who are prohibited from paying interest on 

loans for religious reasons.  

Financing Ground Floor Commercial 

Because of state restrictions on city/county funds, financing the commercial space 

can be more challenging than the affordable housing on the upper floors. However, 

cities and counties can use federal and private funds. Seattle used federal CDBG 

funds to support the Liberty Bank Building redevelopment, which includes 

affordable commercial space and community amenities on the ground floor. Using 

the federal funds avoids the state restrictions; however, CDBG’s regulatory process 

and compliance is challenging, especially for smaller projects that can’t absorb that 

cost.  

Preservation Development Authorities (PDA) and Ports 

Partnering with PDA’s and ports can also offer flexibility in providing affordable 

commercial and arts spaces. PDA’s, as quasi-public corporations, serve and are 

accountable to the public and administer public funds, while having the flexibility of 

a corporation. PDA’s are particularly useful for developing and maintaining the 

ground floor space for commercial and arts activities and leasing to businesses and 

nonprofits. Ground floor improvement costs can otherwise be insurmountable to 

individual businesses and nonprofits.  

Commercial Community Land Trust 

Like the Community Land Trust listed above, these nonprofit corporations secure 

and maintain access to land for public benefit, in this case, to preserve affordable 

commercial space. Preservation of existing affordable business and cultural space is 

often more useful than new construction, especially when considering the 

economics of nonprofit arts organizations that may need specialized physical spaces 

and micro-businesses that struggle to afford rents in new construction. Land trusts 

can help preserve existing affordable space or increase affordability in new space.  

Community Benefits/Development Agreements 

Development agreements, or community benefits agreements, are voluntary, 

negotiated contracts between a developer and a city/county that specify the public 

benefits the development will provide and each parties’ responsibilities. They can 

achieve affordable housing, affordable commercial space, community gathering 

space and other public amenities. For example, developers can agree to build out 

the ground floor space for small businesses and cultural anchors, making it more 

affordable for them to get into a new space, and then gradually afford market rent 

over time.  



 

125 
 

Micro-retail and Flexible Cultural Space Design 

Preservation of existing affordable space is typically most effective for maintaining 

affordability, but if you must build new or adapt a space, design the ground floor 

with nontraditional commercial uses in mind. Making a flexible space for a range of 

businesses (e.g. restaurants, micro-retail) and arts organizations will reduce initial 

move-in/tenant improvement costs.  

Business incubators, Co-working Spaces, and  

Artisan/Maker Spaces 

These types of share work spaces allow businesses, artists/artisans, and nonprofits 

to pool resources in a shared space and spark collaboration. They are typically run 

by non-profit organizations.  

Other strategies 

• Racial equity impact assessment and business support during public 

infrastructure construction 

• Business relocation and business planning assistance when physically 

displaced 

• Cooperative ownership models 

• Worker-owned cooperatives 

• Rental relocation assistance 

 

 



Meeting Date: 

From: 

July 10, 2023 

Sharon Bounds, City Manager 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Presentation - Interlocal Agreement - Yakima Consortium for Regional Public 
Safety (YAKCORPS)- Kyle Curtis, County Commissioner and YAKCORPS 
Executive Board Chair 

---------------------------·-·. ·····-······---·--····--···--·-···--

SYNOPSIS: Kyle Curtis, County Commissioner and YAKCORPS Executive Board Chair, will be 
discussing the YAKCORPS Interlocal Agreement with the City. 

RECOMMENDATION: Presentation only. 

LEGAL REVIEW: N/A 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: N/A 

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATIACHMENTS: 
1. Letter from Kyle Curtis 
2. Interlocal Agreement 



May 24th, 2023 

City of Union Gap 

COMMISSIONER KYLE CURTIS 
DISTRICT 2 

Attn: Mayor John Hodkinson, Council and Staff 
102 W Ahtanum Road 
Union Gap, WA 98903 

Dear Mayor John Hodkinson, Council and Staff -

I am writing to you as the Executive Board Chair of the Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety 
(YAKCORPS) of which your jurisdiction is a member. YAKCORPS was established to provide public safety 
services to Yakima County by establishing terms of efficiency, economy, improved tools, improved 
coordination of data and improving the ability to better protect and serve the citizens of Yakima County. 

A YAKCORPS Special General Membership Meeting was called and took place on May 1, 2023 to consider two 
(2) proposed amendments to the YAKCROPS lnterlocal Agreement and approve the proposed 2024 Budget. 
Both of those amendments and the 2024 Budget were discussed and approved to be forwarded to all 
member jurisdictions. Per Article 30 of our lnterlocal Agreement I am forwarding the recommended 
amendments and I am attaching the following signature page that will need to be signed and filed with 
Yakima County. 

YAKCORPS lnterlocal Agreement I Article 30 - Amendments: Each member jurisdiction shall bring 
all recommended amendments, modifications or a replacement to the Agreement before its 
governing body within forty-five (45} days of receipt of such from the Executive Board. Approval by at 
least two-thirds of the legislative bodies of member jurisdictions is required to authorize any 
amendment, modification or replacement to this Agreement. 

Proposed 2024 YAKCORPS Budget 
The attached budget was reviewed, discussed and approved to be forwarded to member jurisdictions. 

YAKCORPS lnterlocal Agreement I Article 12 (D) - Annual Budget: July 31st Deadline: Each member 
jurisdiction shall submit, in writing, any objections, concerns and/or change requests regarding the 
proposed budget, if any, to the Executive Board no later than July 31st. 

REQUESTED NEXT STEPS 
The amended YAKCORPS lnterlocal Agreement with the two (2) proposed two amendments need to be 
approved by your jurisdiction. A signature page has been provided for your signature upon ratification by 
your board. 

I would be happy to present at an upcoming meeting to your jurisdiction and to provide an overview of the 
proposed two (2) amendments, 2024 Budget and answer any questions you may have. 

128 North Second Street I Room #2321 Yakima, WA 989011509-574-1500 I www.yakimacounty.us/cmrs 



COMMISSIONE KYLE CURTIS 
DISTRICT2 

Once the necessary signature pages have been collected and filed I will provide a printed copy and electronic 
copy of the amended YAKCORPS lnterlocal Agreement 

Thank you for you time and your continues membership in YAKCORPS. If you'd like to get in touch with me 
my phone number is 509-654-0582. 

With appreciation, 

M~ 
Kyle Curtis 
Chair, YAKCORPS Executive Board 

Board of Yakima County Commissioners - District 2 

C: 509-654-0582 I E: =='""':.:..::!.:-:C~~,=~!~= 

Attached 
YAKCORPS lnterlocal Agreement (June 2010) 
DRAFT of new YAKCORPS Article 9 - Operating Committees 
DRAFT of new YAKCORPS Article 11- Fiscal Agency 
2024 YAKCORPS Budget 

Signature Page 

2023- 2024 YAKCORPS EXECUTIVE BOARD 

Board of County Commissioners Kyle Curtis (Chair) 

Mayor of Yakima Janice Deccio 

Mayor Upper Valley Cities Sherry Raymond 

Mayor Sunnyside Dean Broersma 

Mayor Lower Valley Cities Jose Trevino, Granger 

Fire Commissioner Lower Valley Dave Charvet 

Fire Commissioner Upper Valley Brad Helms 

128 North Second Street I Room #232 I Yakima, WA 98901 1509-574-1500 I www.yakimacounty.us/cmrs 



Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF UNION GAP 

APPROVED this 10th day of July, 2023. 

Signature 

Print Name: Sharon Bounds 

Title: City Manager 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk 

Date: 

Approved as to form: 

City Attorney 



-PROPOSED AMENDMENTS-
ARTICLE 9 - Operating Committees 

A. The Operations Board shall establish the following standing 5e¥eft eight-rn+l Committees to 

conduct the day-to-day business of YAKCORPS: 

1. Public Safety Dispatch/ Mobile Data -Fire 

2. Public Safety Dispatch/ Mobile Date-Law 

3. Public Safety Records -Fire 

4. Public Safety Records - Law 

5. Jails and Corrections 

6. Prosecutors 

L_Public Safety Technology 

+~!l~Public Safety Radio Communications 

ARTICLE 11 - Fiscal Agency 

A. The shall act as the fiscal agent for YAKCORPS. All YAKCORPS funds 
shall be deposited with and disbursed by the Yakima ~County Treasurer's office, pursuant to vouchers 
approved by (1) the Chair of the Executive Board or authorized designee, or (2) the Chair of the Operations 
Board, or authorized designee, if such expenditure is authorized within the approved budget, or by (3) the 
Consortium's Technology Services Provider, for expenditures less than $7,500, if such expenditure is 
authorized within the approved budget and if the Service Provider is also an employee of a Consortium 
Member. 

B. Emergency Situations: However, not withstanding the above, in the case of an emergency, the 
Service Provider Director and/or the Chair of the Operations Board is/are authorized to purchase 
materials, equipment and professional services for the purpose of (1) preventing an imminent system 
failure that would cause an emergency situation for one or more members of the Consortium, or (2) 
restoring the public safety systems to an operational status during an emergency situation. The 
Consortium will be fully liable for the actions and purchases of the Service Provider Director and the 
Operations Board Chair during an emergency situation. 

1. For the purposes of this lnterlocal Agreement, a system emergency shall mean an actual or 
imminent failure of the Consortium's system the nature of which could jeopardize the 
security or confidentiality of system information and/or cause critical elements of the 
Consortium's system to stop functioning properly and thereby jeopardize the safety and 
security of citizens, public safety employees or their property. 

2. It is intended that the Consortium's systems shall include those systems owned and 
operated by, or on behalf of, the Consortium, including software and server hardware and 
as defined in Article 15, herein. It is further intended that the Consortium's systems do not 
include systems, services and/or hardware that may be necessary for the proper operation 
of the Consortium systems, but are not owned , /operated by the Consortium; such as the 
communications network, jurisdictions' individual workstations and the like. 



Wapato Fire 

Wapato Police 

Proposed 2024 YAKCORPS Budget 

1 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 284.32 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 
____ 1""3_sc.._ ____ _:s ___ =115.23 s 

934.48 

10,192.16 

Wapato Sub-Total 14.0 $ 328.63 $ 124.10 $ 
4, 749.:.:23:._:S,___-::!3,=25:.:5:.::.8:.:o'--'s,_ __ ....:2::.c,o:.:1,.:1::;.8:.09......:;$ ____ _ 
5,033.55 $ 3,409.08 $ 2,231.27 $ 

Zillah Fire 

Zillah Police 

Other Ag~ncies 

ALSABM 

AMR 

ATF 

DEA 

LEAD 

US Probation 

Washington DOC 

Washington State Patrol 

Yakima Training Center Fire 

Yakima Training Center Police 

$ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 
____ 1_2_s _____ ~s ____ 10_6.37 s 

Zillah Sub-Total 13.0 $ 328.63 $ 115.23 $ 

Cities Total 413.0 2,957 .71 3,687.46 

284.32 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 
4,383.91 s,~--3'-,1_0_2_.s_2-cs ___ 1"",_91_2_.s~2_sc,------
4,668.23 $ 3,255.80 $ 2,071.89 $ 

147,084.80 $ 80,120.67 $ 63,750.51 31,633.36 

$ 
$ 
$ 

934.48 $ 
9,505.31 $ 

10,439.79 $ 
329,234.51 

8 $ $ 70.91 $ 2,274.56 $ 1,226.24 $ 1,275.01 $ $ 4,846. 72 $ 
0$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
4 $ $ 35.46 $ 1,137.28 $ 613.12 $ $ $ 1,785.86 $ 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
13 $ $ 115.23 $ 3,696.16 $ 3,255.80 $ 2,071.89 $ $ 9,139.08 $ 

6 $ $ 53.18 $ 1,705.92 $ 919.68 $ $ $ 2,678.79 $ 
2 $ $ 17.73 $ 568.64 $ 530.32 $ $ $ 1,116.69 $ 
4 $ $ 35.46 $ 1,137.28 $ 613.12 $ $ $ 1,785.86 $ 

0.5 $ $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ $ 465.78 $ 
19 $ $ 168.42 $ 6,941.19 $ 2,912.32 $ 3,028.15 $ $ 13,050.08 $ 

$ $ 8.86 $ 284.32 $ 153.28 $ $ $ 446.46 $ 

(387.18) ·29.3% 

Yakima Valley Office of Emergency Manageme1 

YVCOG 3 $ $ 26.59 $ 1,095.98 $ 1,723.00 $ 478.13 $ $ 3,323.70 c,.$ ___ , 

___ 6 .. o"".s;,;;.;,$ ______ ._L~:~:~-L--E.:!.!!2:~~=~$·--38.639.02 s Other Agencies Total 

Fire Districts 

Fire District 1 (Cowiche) 1 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 284.32 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 934.48 $ 
Fire District 3 (Naches) 0.5 $ $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 465.78 $ 
Fire District 4 (Nile) 0.5 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 794.41 $ 
Fire District 5 (Yakima) 21 $ 328.63 $ 186.15 $ 5,970. 72 $ 3,218.88 $ 3,346.90 $ 13,051.29 $ 
Fire District 6 (Gleed) 0.5 $ $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 143.38 $ 159.38 $ 455.88 $ 
Fire District 7 (Glade) 0.5 $ $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 465. 78 $ 
Fire District 9 (Naches Heights) 0.5 $ $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 465.78 $ 
Fire District 12 (West Valley) 1 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 284.32 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 934.48 $ 

814.40 \ftl!Wil~§W!~1~--tll!~'liitl 
507.26 

1

'

828

.

92 

'11~1~'1ijjiii1rjii 10,452.39 "l 
507.26 

507.26 

507.26 

(41.48) -8.2% 
(41.48) ·8.2% 

Fire DistrictsTotal ___ =,,,,2"'6=""$--.wl;;,,3;;;1;;;4;;;;.54;;;;,.=$~--;;;;2,,,;48;;;.;;;;1;;;9_-,,,;S __ •• ,,;;;;7,;;,2;;,;60=.6;;;5~$~-,,,,,,;;4,;;;2;;.81;;;.;;.94,;,_;;S, __ ,,=4;;,,,4;,,;6;;;;2;,;.5;,,4;~;,.,.,,. _____ .;,S __ ,,,1;7;.;,;'S;,;;6,;.7;,;.8;;;;6,-:$m.=-=~=== 



Proposed 2024 YAKCORPS Budget 

Spillman & 
2024 Spillman Spillman County 

A~e'!'Y . 

. 9.1_1,.c.•.U.S!~.ter L()isp."1::~ 
SunComm 

0 $ $ 
County Procesecutor 72 $ $ 638.21 20,471.04 12,299.33 111,584.96 144,993.54 

Department of Corrections 173 $ $ 1,533.49 49,187.37 47,136.21 97,857.06 

District Court Probation 4 $ $ 35.46 1,137.28 1,876.28 3,049.01 

Family Court 0 $ $ 
PreTrtai 3 $ $ 26.59 852.96 1,723.00 2,602.55 

Sheriff 119 $ $ 
Superior Court 

Cities 
Grandview Fire 0.5 $ 328.63 8,86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 

Grandview Police 
Grandview 

G ra :1ger Fire 0.5 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 
Granger ?oUce 

Mabton Fire o.s $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 465.78 $ 507.26 $ {41.48) '6.1% 
Mabton Police 

Mabton 

Moxee Police 10 $ $ 88.64 3,653.26 $ 2,795.96 $ 1,593.76 $ 8,131.62 $ 
Nile Fire District 0.5 $ $ 8.86 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 465.78 $ 

Prosser 0 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Selah Fire 328.63 8.86 284.32 153.28 $ 159.38 934.48 $ 678.85 

Selah Police 16,373.77 $ 13,557.08 

Selah 17,308.25 $ 14,235.93 

Sunnyside Fire 0.5 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ 159.38 $ 794.41 $ 
Sunnyside PoUce 59 $ $ 522.98 $ 21,554.21 $ 11,201.74 $ 9,403.20 $ 42,682.13 $ 

Sunnyside Sub-Total 59.S $ 328.63 $ 531.85 $ 21,698.47 $ 11,355.02 $ 9,562.58 $ 43,476.55 $ 

Yakima Fire 22 328.63 195.01 6,255.04 3,372.16 $ 3,506.28 $ $ 13,657.13 $ 

Yakima Police 175 1,551.22 63,931.98 29,653.53 $ 27,890.85 $ $ 123,027.57 s 
Yakima Prosecutor 15 132.96 $ $ 31,633.36 $ 38,330.33 $ 

Yakima $ 31,397.13 $ 31,633.36 $ 175,015.02 $ 151,847 

Tieton Poltce 6 $ $ 53.18 $ 2,191.95 $ 919.68 $ 956.26 $ $ 4,121.08 $ 
Toppenish Fire 2 $ 328.63 $ 17.73 $ 568.64 $ 306.56 $ 318.75 $ $ 1,540.32 s 
Toppenish Police 15 $ $ 132.96 s 5,479.88 $ 3,562.36 $ 2,390.64 $ $ 11,565.85 $ 

Toppenish Sub-Total 17.0 $ 328.63 $ 150.69 $ 6,048.52 $ 3,868.92 $ .40 $ 13,106.16 $ 

Union Gap Fire 0.5 $ 328.63 $ 8.86 $ 144.26 $ 153.28 $ $ $ 635.04 s 1,828.92 $ 

Union Gap Police 23 $ $ 203.87 $ 8,402.49 $ 4,788.60 $ 3,665.65 $ $ 17,060.62 $ 12,392.92 

Union Gap Sub-Total 23.5 $ 328.63 $ 212.74 $ 8,546.75 $ 4,941.88 $ 665.65 $ $ 17,695.65 $ 14,221.84 



Union 

Count 2024 Price Total 

Server Depreciation 23 6.28 

Spillman Storage 23 $ 2.59 $ 
GIS Service - Yakima County 23 $ 79.69 $ 1,832.83 

GIS Services - City of Yakima 23 $ 79.69 $ 1,832.83 

Spillman Red Hat License 23 $ 4.20 $ 96.52 

County FTE for Support of Spillman 23 $ 133.48 $ 3,070.02 

Spillman License and Vendor Support 23 $ 280.12 $ 6,442.84 

WSPACCESS 1 $ 1,263.16 $ 1,263.16 

KITCOM Quality Checks 23 $ 1.55 $ 35.60 

Sundry Operating Expenses 23 $ 11.06 $ 254.28 

On-call Overtime* 23 $ 7.20 $ 165.54 

CommandCentral Ext & CC Vault 23 $ 81.01 $ 1,863.13 

$ 17,060.62 

Last Year {2023) $ 12,392.92 



Union 

Charge Description Count 2024 Price Total 
'. -~· -~ .. 

---.w·------~--~-.~----------

Spillman ERS interface for Fire 1 $ 
Spillman Server Depreciation 1 $ 6.28 $ 6.28 

Spillman Storage 1 $ 2.59 $ 2.59 

GIS Service -Yakima County 0 $ 79.69 $ 
GIS Services - City of Yakima 0 $ 79.69 $ 
Spillman Red Hat License 1 $ 4.20 $ 4.20 

County FTE for Support of Spillman 1 $ 133.48 $ 133.48 

Spillman License and Vendor Support 0.5 $ 280.12 $ 140.06 

KITCOM Quality Checks 1 $ 1.55 $ 1.55 

On-call Overtime* 1 $ 7.20 $ 7.20 

$ 635.04 

Last Year (2023) $ 1,828.92 



• 

• 

•• 

lnterlocal Agreement 

For the Establishment of the 

Yakima Consortium 
for 

Regional Public Safety 

(YAKCORPS) 

(June 2010) 



• 
Section 

Article 1 

Article 2 

Article 3 

Article 4 

Article 5 

Article 6 

• Article 7 

Article 8 

Article 9 

Article 1 O 

Article 11 

Article 12 

Article 13 

Article 14 

Article 15 

Article 16 

Article 17 • 

YAKCORPS 
lnterlocal Agreement 

Table of Contents 

Title 

Consortium Purpose 

Creation 

Definitions 

General Membership 

General Membership Board 

Executive Board 

Legal and Other Professional Assistance 

Operations Board 

Operating Committees 

Consortium Resources and Expenditures 

Fiscal Agency 

Annual Budget 

Insurance 

Consortium's· Authority 

1ntegrated Public Safety Systems Project 

Technology Services Provider 

Member Responsibilities 

2 

Page 

1 

2 

2 

3 

4 

5 

9 

9 

11 

13 

14 

15 

17 

17 

17 

18 

19 



Article 18 Duration of Agreement 20 

Article 19 Dispute Resolution 21 

. Article 20 Member Withdrawal from Consortium 21 

·Article 21 Default 22 

Article 22 Dissolution of Consortium 22 

Article 23 Indemnification 24 

Article 24 Non-Discrimination 24 

Article 25 Americans with Disabilities Act 24 

Article 26 No Conflict of Interest 24 

Article 27 Severability 25 

Article 28 Execution 25 

Article.29 Hold Harmless 25 

Article 30 Amendments 25 

Article 31 Entire Agreement 26 

Article 32 Signatures 26 

Article 33 Filing of Agreement 26 

Addendum: 

A Public Safety Systems Project - Implementation Costs and Funding 

B Consortium Annual Assessments - Allocation of On-going Costs 

C Contingent Purchase Agreement with Spillman Technologies, Inc., and 
Attachments 

3 

• 

• 

• 



• 
INTER-LOCAL AGREEMENT 

YAKIMA CONSORTIUM 
for 

REGIONAL PUBLIC SAFETY 

WHEREAS this Agreement is made and first entered into by and among the undersigned 
governmental jurisdictions; and 

WHEREAS the members and the residents of Yakima County would benefit both in terms 
of efficiency and economy from a consortium for Public Safety services for Yakima County and the 
participating cities, and fire protection districts within Yakima County; and 

WHEREAS the undersigned governmental jurlsdictions have a goal of establistting and 
maintaining a Consortium, to be hereafter known as the "Yakima Consortium for Regional Public 
Safety (Y AKCORPS)"; and 

WHEREAS this Agreement and the activities described herein below are authorized by the 
provisions and terms of the 11lnterlocal Cooperation Ad" pursuant to RCW 39.34 et seq.~ and 

WHEREAS the establishment of the YAKCORPS will provide improved public safety within 
the boundaries of the consolidated seNice area of the participating jurisdictions, together with such 

. other jurisdictio.ns; and · 

• WHEREAS the establishment and maintenance of YAKCORPS will provide substantial 

• 

benefit to the citizens of the participating governmental jurisdictions and the public in general; and 

WHEREAS the participating jurisdictions desire to expressly state the powers held by 
YAKCORPS pursuant to RCW 39.34.030(3)(b); and 

WHEREAS the participating jurisdictions expressly state that YAKCORPS is authorized to 
acquire, hold and dispose of property pursuant to RCW 39.34.030(4)(b); and 

WHEREAS YAK CORPS is funded by the methods described herein. 

NOW THEREFORE; it is hereby agreed and covenanted among the undersigned as 
follows: 

ARTICLE 1 - Consortium Purpose 

A The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the Yakima Consortium for Regional Public 
Safety (YAK CORPS) to provide public safety services for its' members, thereby benefiting them in 
terms of efficiency, economy, improved tools, improved coordination of data (:lnd/or improving the 
members' ability to better protect and serve the citizens of Yakima County. 

B. YAKCORPS shall serve as a liaison to develop and promote communication, 
understanding and cooperation among the YAKCORPS members and participants on matters 
commonto the parties and/or affecting the public served by the participants in the Consortium 

4 



and help ensure the coordination and sharing of integrated public safety information among · 
members and participants. • . 

C. YAKCORPS may provide technical and professional services to aid the administration 
and operations of member jurisdiction's and participants' regional, integrated public safety 
systems in a manner that provides greater expertise, lower costs, improved services to Its' 
members I participants and/or better communications between its' members I participants. 
Such services may include, but are not limited to, the acquisition, enhancement, replacement. 
operations, maintenance and performance of regionalized public safety technology systems. 

D. Further, YAKCORPS may provide technical and professional assistance on public safety 
related subjects of mutual concern and interest to the members when requested to do so and 
approved by a majority of the Executive Board. 

ARTICLE 2- Creation 

Y AKCORPS is hereby created as a consolidated public safety services consortium, 
which is a public agency. The parties hereto each assign to such agency the responsibility for 
public safety services to achieve the purposes provided in Article 1. Such agency shall be and 
is hereby created as a separate legal entity as is authorized by RCW 39.34.030(3}b. 

ARTICLE 3 - Definitions 

A As used in this Agreement, the following words and phrases shall have the following 
meanings: 

1. ·eonsortiumM and "YAKCORPS" shall mean the entity that consists of and 
represents the entire group of Members to this Agreement. 

2. The "County'" shall mean the administrative and governing body headed by the 
Soard of County Commissioners, and ·vakima County" shall mean the geographic 
area over which the County Commissioners exercise jurisdiction. 

3. "Lower Valley CityfTown" shall mean any one of the following cities or towns: 
Grandview, Granger, Harrah, Mabton, Wapato, Sunnyside, Toppenish or Zillah. 

4. . ·Lower Valley Fire District" shall mean any one of the following fire districts: Lower 
Valley- No.5 or Glade - No.7. 

5. "Member(s)" and "Participating Member(s)8 shall mean those governmental 
agencies I jurisdictions within Yakima County represented by the signatories to this 
Agreement and such other Yakima County governmental entities as may become 
signatories or otherwise become members in the future; but excluding any 
signatory agency who has since withdrawn from or whose membership has been 
terminated by the Consortium, per Articles 18 and 20 her.ein and who has not 
subsequently re-joined the Consortium, per Article 18 herein. · 

6. "Non-Member agency or Jurisdiction" shall mean any agency or jurisdiction that is 

• 

eligible to join the Consortium as a member, per Article 4 herein, but Is not a •. 
current member thereof. 

5 
Last printed 6/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 



• 

• 

7. "Participant" shall mean any/all Participating Agencies, as defined in #8 below, and 
Participating Members, as defined in #5 above . 

8. "Participating Agency" shall mean an agency(s} who participates in the utilization of 
and/or payment for some or all portions of the public safety systems but who are 
not members of the Consortium. 

9. "Public Safety" shaft include a'ny or all of the following activities: 911 call taking; 
dispatch of law enforcement, firefighting and/or ambulance services; law · 
enforcement; fire fighting; prosecuting attorneys; incarceration (e.g.: jail and 
Department of Corrections); probation and the technology and other services th.at 
support these functions. 

10. "Public Safety Systems• shall mean, the Software and/or Hardware required to 
support the County-wide Regional Public Safety Systems as identified in Article 12 
herein and as may be included in the vendor contracts included as Addendums 
hereto, or as such may be modified from time to time. 

11. "Services" shall mean the perfonnance of duties/activities, and/or the operation and 
maintenance of software, hardware and other equipment utilized to enhance public 
safety for the participating members. 

12. "Upper Valley CityfTownp shall mean any one of the following cities or towns: 
Moxee, Naches, Selah, Tieton, Union Gap or Yakima. 

13. "Upper Valley Fire District(s}° shall mean any one of the following fire districts: 
Cowiche/Tieton - No.1 ; Selah - No.2; Naches - No.3; East Valley - No.4; Gleed -
No.6; Naches Heights - No.9; Fruitvale - No.10; Broadway - No.11; West Valley -
No.12 or Nile/Cliffdell - No.14. 

ARTICLE 4 - General Membership 

A. . General membership in the Consortium shall be composed of all member agencies. 
Representatives from all members are welcome to attend any meeting of the General 
Membership, the ~x.ecutive Board, the Operations Board, the Operating Committees and anyfall 
other meetings of the Consortium that may occur. 

B. Eligible Entities: All local, public safety related governmental agencies I jurisdictions 
whose governing body is located within the geographic boundaries of Yakima County are 
eligible to become a Member of the Consortium, subject to proper authorization by that 
governing body, as evidenced by reference to the motion and vote in the minutes of said agency 
I jurisdiction and by the signature of the highest ranking official of said agency~urisdiction on this 
lnterlocal Agreement or the then current lnterlocal Agreement. Additionally, all requests for 
membership after the effective date of this lnterlocal Agreement will be subject to the eligibility 
requirements noted above and as included in Article 18 herein, and to all additional criteria, if 
any, as may be required by the Executive Board. Such additional criteria, if any, will be at the 
sole discretion of the Executive Board and addressed on a case by case basis. 

C. Modifications and/or amendments to the text of the lnterlocal Agreement shall required a 213 
majority vote of the Governing Bodies of the Members (i.e.: of the General Membership); 

6. 
Last printed 511ono10 4:17:00 PM 



however, the Executive Board has authority to authorize and approve modifications I •. 
. amendments to the Addendums to this lnterlocal Agreement. 

ARTICLE 5 - General Membership Board 

A. The affairs of YAKCORPS shall be governed by a General Membership Board 
composed of one representative from each participating member. Such representative shall be 
the highest-ranking elected member of the jurisdiction or his/her designee, who shall be an 
elected official. Each Board member shall have an equal vote fi!.nd voice in all Board decisions. 

B. The Functions of the General Membership Board shall include: 

1. Establish rules and policies for the General Membership Board's operation and 
regulation of itS affairs. 

2. Manito~ the performance of the Executive Board and take aJ)propriate action when 
deemed necessary by the Board. Any member of the Board may request the full 
General Membership Board to review a decision of the Executive Board. 

3. The general Membership Board, by a two-thirds (213) majority vote of its members 
present at a properly authorized and noticed meeting of the Board, may overturn any 
decision or action of the Executive Board. 

C. The General Membership Board shall meet onty as necessary, but at least annually and 
at the request of any member of the General or Executive Board. 

1. All materials of regular and special meetings shall be prepared in packets and 
distributed to al! Board Members at least ten (10) days in advance of the meeting 
date. 

2. The minutes of each General Membership Board meeting shall be prepared and 
distributed to each Board Member not more than fifteen ( 15) days after the date of 
the meeting. A quorum shall consist of a majority of those present at a property 
noticed, scheduled meeting. 

3. No action is deemed taken by the Board unless the matter was subject to a proper 
motion, which was approved by a majority of the Board present at a properly 
noticed meeting and recorded as such in the approved minutes of the meeting. 

D. Unless otherwise agreed to by a majority of the Board, Robert's Revised Rules of Order 
shall govern all procedural matters relating to the business of the General Membership Board. 

All regular meetings shall include the following: 

1. · Approval of the minutes of the previous meeting 

2. Reports from the Chairperson 

3. Reports from the Executive Board 

4. Reports from the Operations Soard 

5. Reports of any member, as requested 

6. Old Business 

7 
Lui: printed 6110/2010 4:17:00 PM 

••• 

• 
------ ·------------------------------------



• 

• 

• 

7. New Business 

E Members will serve without compensation, but are entitled to reimbursement for 
necessary and reasonable expenses actually incurred in the performance of their duties as 
members of the Board. Board members shall not be reimbursed for normal and customary 
expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as Board members, such as mileage to 

· and from Board meetings, cost of meals and the like. Reimbursable expenditures must have 
been pre-authorized by the General Membership Board or have been included in the currently 
authorized annual budget for reimbursement from the Consortium. 

Members, officers and agents of the Board shall conduct themselves in a professional manner 
and in accordance with Chapter 42.23 of the Revised Code of Washington, Code of Ethics for 
Municipal Officers. 

F. The General Membership Board shall maintain a written record of its proceedings that is 
available for public inspection. The Board shalf. record in the record the ."aye0 and "nay" vote 
count on all matters corning before the General Membership Board at any regular or special 
meeting. All documents, records and accounts maintained by the Board are subject to (1) the 
Public Records Act, RCW 42.56 et seq .• relating to public inspection at all reasonable times and 
(2) the Washington State Preservation and Destruction of Public Records act, RCW 40.14 et 
seq ... 

ARTICLE 6 - Executive Boarc;t 

A The Executive Board shall have the full authority and power of the General Membership 
Board to make decisions regarding the affairs of YAKCORPS on a routine basis . 

B. The Executive Board shall be chosen from the General Membership Board. The 
Executive Board shall be composed of the following seven (7) member representatives, so long 
as the agency I jurisdiction remains a member of the Consortium: · 

c. 

1. One County Commissioner from Yakima County 

2. The Mayor of the City of Yakima 

3. One Mayor from an Upper Valley City (excluding City of Yakima) 

4. The Mayor of the largest populated Lower Valley City 

5. One Mayor from a Lower Vatley City (excluding the largest populated City) 

6. One Commissioner from an upper valley Fire District 

7. One Commissioner from a lower valley Fire District 

All Board Members not specifically identified in "B", above, shall be selected by a majority 
vote of .the entities to be represented by the chosen Board Member. Any Board Member 
may appoint a designee to act en their behalf. The desighee shall be an elected official from 
the same jurisdiction(s) as the Board member he/she ls representing . 

The Functions of the Executive Board shall Include: 

8 
Last printed 6110/2010 4:17:00 PM 



1. Adopt administrative policies for YAKCORPS; 

2. Approve.YAKCORPS annual budget, subject to the provisions of Article 12 of this • 
Agreement; 

i. Review and authorize the total annual assessment amount(s) for inclusion in 
the proposed budget and allocated among the members; 

3. Establish policies for expenditures of budgeted items for YAK CORPS; 

4. Approve or disapprove unbudgeted expenditures L!POn receiving recommendations 
of the Operations Board; 

5. Resolve disputes that may arise between the members of the Operations Board 
and any other issues not resolved by the Operatiol')s Board; 

6. Evaluate and determine the priority of public safety services the Consortium shall 
off er to members, and determine the price and other terms and conditions for and 
effects of providing such services, and advise all members of such; 

7. Authorize professional services to assist the Consortium in order to address 
financial, legal or other technical matters necessary to cany out the functions of the 
Consortium; 

8. Hire employees and/or contractors as necessary. 

9. Approve contracts between YAKCORPS and its members, vendors, or other 
parties for materials, services and other business needs of YAKCORPS, including 
approval of any modifications or amendments to the agreements contained in the 
Addendums to this lnterlocal Agreement, but excluding amendments to the text of •• 
the lnterlocal Agreement, which requires a 213 majority vote of the General 
Membership; 

10. Approve agreements with federal, state or local governmental agencies; 

11. Approve the acquisition of real or personal property, or any interest therein, 
whether by purchase, lease, receipt by gifts, grants, or any/all other legal 
conveyance; 

12. Ensure the General Membership Board is apprised of all proposed changes to 
policies, significant operating practices and contracts for services, including· 
proposed changes to existing software and hardware; 

13. Provide recommendations to the governing bodies of participating members 
regarding Y AKCORPS business issues that may come before such bodies; 

14. Provide annually, a report to the General Membership Board on the status of 
YAKCORPS. Said report shall include, at a minimum, a detailed list of the current 
years' revenues, expenditures; list of all assets and outstanding debt or other 
liabilities as of December 31st of preceding year and of any significant changes 
therein from the preceding year to the date of the report; status of all 
projects/programs included in the current year's annual budget or carried over from 
a previous year's budget, and any/an projects In progress; and status of all 
awarded grants and of all grant applications/requests outstanding; 

· 15. The Executive Board may also perform other duties and responsibilities as may be 
authorized by the General Membership Board from time to time. 

9 
Ust printed 6110120104:17:00 PM 



• 

• 

• 

D. A quorum, or majority vote, of the Executive Board shall consist of a majority of the 
voting members, or their designee, present at a properly noticed meeting; 

E. A Chair and a Vice-Chair, and such other officers as the majority of the Board may 
authorize, shall be elected by a majority of the Executive Board, to serve as an officer of the 
Executive Board. The term of each office shall be one year; 

1. The Board shall elect the Chair and Vice-Chair for the subsequent year no less 
than thirty (30) days prior.to the.end of the current officers' term of office. 

2. The Chair elected by the Executive Board shall serve as the Chair of the General 
Membership Board during his/her term of office. · 

F. The duties of the Executive Board Chair shall be as follows: 

1. 

2. 

Chair: The Chair shall oversee all administrative functions of the Board and shall 
preside at all meetings of the Board. The Chair, or in the event of the 
Chairperson's absence or disability, the Vice Chair, or in the event of the Vice
Chairperson's absence or disability, the Temporary Chair, may sign and execute, 
on behalf of the ·soard", lease agreements, contracts and other instruments 
previously authorized by the Board, and generally shall perform all duties incident 
to the office of Chair and such other duties as may from time to time be assigned ta 
such office by the Board. 

The Chair shall maintain a book of minutes of all meetings of the members, 
recording therein the time and place of holding, whether regular or special, and, if 
special, how authorized, the notice thereof given, and the proceedings thereat; see 
that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement 
or as may be amended from time to time, and as required by law; act as custodian 
of the records; exhibit at all reasonable times to any member, upon written request, 
the minutes of the proceedings of the members of the Board; attest to the official 
signatures of the other offic-ers of the Board. AU such records and minutes shall be 
retained for as long as is required by Washington State records retention 
requirements. 

Signature of the Chair will not be sufficient to bind the Board unless said signature 
is first authorized by and on behalf of said Board at a meeting held pursuant to 
lawful notice with a quorum present. 

At least ten (10) days prior to the end of their term of office, the Chair shall submit 
written notice to the Consortium's Fiscal Agent of the names and effective dates of 
the subsequent year's Chair and Vice-Chair, and any other officials who may hold 
elected office on the Executive Board. The Fiscal Agent is not authorized to act 
upon the authorization of the newly elected officials without such written notice nor 
prior to the effective date of their term of office. Additionally, the Fiscal Agent is not 
authorized to act upon the signature of the current year's elected officials after the 
end of their term. · · 

Vice-Chair: At the request of the Chair or in the event of the .Chair's absence or 
disability, the Vice-Chair shall perform all duties of the Chair, and when· so acting 
shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all restraints upon the Chair. In 

10 
Last printed 6110/2010 4:17:00 PM 



addition, the Vice-Chair shall perfonn such other duties as may from time to time 
be assigned to that office by the Board or Chair. • 

3. Temoorary Chair: A Temporary Chairperson may be appointed by the Board, by a 
. majority vote of the members present at a property authorized and noticed meeting 
of the Board, if both the Chair and the Vice-Chair are absent or otherwise unable 
to perform their duties and responsibilities during their term of office. 

G. The Executive Board shall meet regularly, but no less than quarterly. All materials of 
regular and special meetings shall be prepared in packets and distributed to all Executive Board 
members at least five (5) days in advance of the meeting date. Minutes shall be prepared of 
each meeting and shall be approved at the next Board meeting. All such meeting notes shall be 
distributed to any/all YAKCORP Member(s), upon such member's request or as soon as 
available, whether approved by the Board or not. All meeting minutes shall be marked "Draft" 
until approved by the Board; 

H. The Chair, his/her designee, or a majority of the Board, may call for an executive 
session . of the Board for discussion of matters protected under RCW 42.30.110, executive 
sessions. Such sessions shall comply with the criteria as set forth in the statute; 

I. The Chair shall establish an agenda for each meeting, which shall be distributed with the 
packet of meeting materials, and shall oversee the preparation and distribution of meeting 
materials and meeting notes; 

J. No action will be deemed to have been taken by the Board unless the matter had been 
subject to a proper motion, which was approved by a majority ofthe Board present at a properly 1. 
noticed meeting and recorded as such in the approved minutes of the meeting. 

K. Unless otherwise agreed to by a majority of the Board, Robert's Revised Rules of Order 
shall govern all procedural matters relating to the business of the Executive Board. 

L All regular meetings shall include the foltaw1ng: 

1. Approval of the minutes of the previous meeting 

2. Reports from the Chair 

3. Reports from the Executive Board 

4. Reports from the Operations Board 

5. Reports of any member 

· 6. Old Business 

7. New Business 

M. Members will serve without compensation, but are entitled to reimbursement for 
necessary and reasonable expenses incurred on behalf of the Board if such expenses were pre
authorized and approved for reimbursement by the Board. Board members shall not be 
reimbursed for normal and customary expenses incurred in the perfonnance of their duties as 
members of the Board, such as mileage to and from Board meetings, cost of meals and the like . 

11 
Last printed 6/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 

• 



• 

• 

• 

Members, officers and agents of the Board shall conduct themselves in a professional manner 
and in accordance with Chapter 42.23 of the Revised Code of Washington, Code of Ethics for 
Municipal Officers. 

N. The Executive Board shall maintain a written record of its proceedings that is available 
for public inspection. The Executive Board shall record in the record the "ayew and "nay• vote 
count on all matters coming before the Executive Board at any regular or special meeting. All 
documents, records and accounts maintained by the Board are subject to (1} the Public 
Records Act, RCW 42.56 et seq., relating to public inspection at all reasonable times and (2) the 
Washington State Preservation and Destruction of Public Records, RCW 40.14 et. seq. 

ARTICLE 7- Legal and other Professional Assistance 

The member agencies I jurisdictions may agree to furnish legal, financial or other 
professional assistance. The ExecUtive Board may contract with a participating member(s) for 
professional services. If these services are not available within the necessary time and/or cost, 
the Executive Board may contract with a third party vendor for these services. 

ARTICLE 8 - Operations Board 

A. The Operations Board shall have the authority and responsibility to govern the day-to-day 
operations and activities of YAK CORPS, and to establish such operating practices and 
procedures as are necessary to responsibly, efficiently, effectively and with proper care carry 
out those operations and activities . 

8. The Functions of the Operations Board shall be as follows: 

1. Establish rules, policies, procedures, practices and/or guidelines for the operations 
of the Operations Board and any Operating Committees; 

2. Develop operating practices, procedures, guidelines and codification standards, or 
customization raquiiements if needed, for the operation, maintenance of the public 
safety software systems; 

3. Establish priorities and timelines for the development, enhancement and/ or 
replacement of YAKCORPS' public safety hardware and software computer 
systems and for the utilization and operation thereof; 

a. Steering Committee: The Technology Directors for the County and for the 
City of . Yakima and the Operations Board shall serve as the Steering 
Committee for computer software and hardware implementation projects; 
providing oversight and di.rection to the project manager and the project team. 

4. Prepare YAKCORP's annual operating and capital budgets, with input and 
assistance from the Operating Committees, and forward such to . the Executive 
Board for their review and approval; 

5. Monitor expenditures throughout the year and ensure YAK CORPS operates within 
the authorized budget levels; forward all recommendations far unbudgeted 
expenditures and/or reallocation of budgeted funds to the Executive Board for 
approval; 

6. Resolve disputes regarding YAKCORPS' business operations; or forward such to · 
the Executive Board for resolution; 

12 
Last printed 611012010 4:17:00 PM 



-------------------------- ·-···--

7. Any decision of the Operations Board may be over~tumed by a majority vote of the ;. 
Executive Board; 

C. The Operations Board shall be comprised of the following eleven (11) members: 

1. Sheriff...., Yakima County 

2. Police Chief-City of Yakima 

3. Police Chief - of an Upper Valley Cityfrown, excluding the City of Yakima 

4. Police Chief - of a Lower Valley City ff own 

5. ·Fire Chief - City of Yakima 

6. Fire Representative - of Yakima County Fire District #5 

7. Fire Representative - of an upper valley Fire District!Dept, excluding City of Yakima 

8. Fire Representative - of a lower valley Fire District/Dept 

9. Department of Corrections (DOC} - Yakima County Director 

10. Prosecuting Attorney Representative -from Yakima County or the City of Yakima 

11. 911 - Director 

D. Each Board member shall have an equal vote in all Board decisions. All Board Members 
not specifically identified in "C", above, shall be selected by a majority vote of the entities 
represented by each Board Member. · 

E. Any Board member may designate a representative to attend meetings in that member's '·· 
place. While so designated, the representative shall assume all rights and responsibUit\es of a 
full member. The designee must be from the same jurisdiction(s) as the Board member he/she 
is representing. 

F. The Board shall detennine the time and place of its regular business meetings and shall 
meet as frequently as the Board deems necessary, but shall meet no less than once per 
calendar quarter. 

G. · A quorum shall consist of those members present at a properly authorized and noticed 
business meeting. 

H. The Operations Board shall elect a Chair and a Vice·Chair from its members, by a 
majority vote of the Board. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall serve a on~year term. The Board 
shaH elect the Chair and Vice-Chair for the subsequent year no 'ess than thirty (30) days prior to 
the end of the current officers' regular tenn of office. 

I. The Chair, and in the absence of or at the request of the Chair, the ViceMChair, shall have 
the following authority and responsibility: 

1. To call special meetings of the Board, as appropriate; 

2. To preside at regular and special meetings of the Board; 

3. To appoint Operating Committees, as needed; 

13 
Last printed 611012010 4:17:00 PM 



• 

• 

• 

4. To meet with the Executive Board and attend their meetings and to keep that 
Board apprised of the actions ·of the Operations Board. and significant issues 
facing, or likely to be facing, YAKCORPS and/or its members. 

J. The Chair, or any two (2) Board members, may call a special meeting of the Board. All 
special meetings shall require a minimum of seven (7) business days, and a maximum of forty 
five (45) business days, advance notice to each Board member; such notice must be in writing 
and the meeting purpose must be included is such notice. 

K. At least ten (10) days prior to the end of their term of office, the Chair, or in his/her 
absence the Vice-Chair, shall submit written notice to the Consortium's Fiscal Agent of the 
names and effective dates of the subsequent year's Chair and Vice-Chair of the Operations 
Board. The Fiscal Agent is not authorized to act upon the authorization of the newly elected 
officials without .such written notice .nor prior to the effective date of their term of ·office. 
Additionally, the Fiscal Agent is not authorized to act upon the signature of the current year's 
elected officials after the end of their term. 

L. Unless otheiwise agreed to by a majority of the Board, Robert's Revised Rules of Order 
shall govern all procedural matters relating to the business of the Operations Board. 

M. All regular meetings shall include the folfowing: 

1. Approval of the minutes of the previous meeting 

2. Reports from the Chairperson 

3. Reports from Operating Committees 

4. Reports from other Committees or any member, as requested 

5. Old Business 

6. New Business 

N. All materials for regular meetings and minutes from the prior meeting shall be prepared in 
packets and distributed to all Board members, and any/all members upon their request, at least 
five (5) business days prior to the date '?f the next meeting. 

0. No action is deemed to have been taken by the Operations Board unless the matter was 
the subject of proper motion, which has been approved by a majority of those Board members 
present at a properly noticed meeting, and as provided in the minutes. 

P. Members will serve without compensation, but are entitled to reimbursement for 
necessary and reasonable expenses incurred on behalf of the Board if such expenses were pre
authorized and approved for· reimbursement by the Board. Board members shall not be 
reimbursed for normal and customary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties as 
members of the Board, such as mileage to and from Board meetings, cost of meals and the like. 

Q. · Members, officers and agents of the Board shall conduct themselves in a professional 
manner and in accordance with Chapter 42.23 of the Revised Code of Washington, Code of 
Ethics for Municipal Officers .. 

R. The Operations Board shall maintain a written record of its proceedings that is available 
for public inspection. The Board shall record in the record the "aye• and "nay" vote count on all 

14 
Last printed 6110/2010 4:17:00 PM 



matters coming before the Operations Board at any regular or special meeting. All documents, 
records and accounts maintained by the Board are subject to (1) the Public Records Act, .Rew ,. 
42.56 et seq., relating to public inspection at all reasonable times and (2) Washington State 
Preservation and Destruction of Public Records, RCW 40.14 et. seq .. 

ARTICLE 9 - Ooeratins Committees 

A. The Operations Board shall establish the following standing seven (7) Committees to 
conduct the day-to-day business of YAKCORPS: · 

B. 

1. Public Safety Dispatch I Mobile Data - Fire 

2.. Public Safety Dispatch I Mobile Data - Law 

3. Public Safety Records - Fire 

4. Public Safety Records - Law 

5. Jails and Corrections 

6. Prosecutors 

7. Public Safety Technology 

The Functions of the Operating Committees shall be as follows: 

1. Responsibile for establishment of operating practices, procedures, and utilization 
of the systems relative to the Committee's functional area of responsibility; 

2. Establish Codification and other general operating standards by which the 
system(s) will be designed and operated; 

3. Coordinate and work jointly as needed, with the other Operating Committees to 
ensure the best overall utilization of the system(s) while maintaining necessary 
security features, accesses and data confidentiality; 

4, Evaluate and provide rec.ommendations to the Operations Board regarding system 
changes, codification and/or customization proposals, as needed. 
Recommendations to the Operations Board should be · made jointly with other 
Operating Committees, as applicable; 

5. Provide user and technical updates and recommendations to the Operations Board 
regarding system utilization and status and recommendations for system 
enhancements, updates and/or replacements; 

6. During significant computer software and/or hardware implementation I installation 
projects, Operating Committees may function as Subject matter Experts for the 
project or the Operations Board may establish special project teams to the project 
for its duration; once the software I hardware is implemented and operating in the 
production environment in a sa~isfactory manner, the Operating Committees will 
incorporate this .new technology into their Committees, as appropriate. 

C. The members of the Consortium's Public Safety Technology Committee shall include, at 
a minimum, the head of the Information Technology Departments for Yakima County and for the 
City of Yakima, or their designees, and other subject matter experts whom they, or the 
Operations Board, may assign at their discretion. 

15 
Last printed 6/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 



• 

• 

• 

D. The Operations Board shall appoint members to all Operating Committees by majority 
vote of the Board. Committee members shall consist primarily of key operating and/or technical 
personnel from the associated functional area of member agencies {i.e.: 911/dispatch, mobile 
data, law records, fire, prosecutors and jail). 

E. All Operating Committees shall report to the Operations Board: Committees are advisory 
only bodies to the Operations Board, unless specifically authorized by the Operations Board to 
act in their behalf. The Public Safety Technology Committee shall also act as an advisory body 
to the Executive Board. 

F. Operating Committees shall meet as frequently as they deem necessary and shall 
provide an update of their status and activities to the Operations Board at least quarterly. 

G. To assist ·in conducting YAKCORPS business, the Operations Board may create 
additional standing and/or Ad~hoc Committees, as may be deemed necessary from time to time, 
by a majority vote of the Board. Such additional Committees may be created for a specified 
period of time, for a specified purpose, or may serve indefinitely at the pleasure of the 
Operations Board. 

H. Each Operating Committee shall elect a Chairman from their Committee membership, by 
majority vote of the Committee. · 

I. Any disagreements within and/or between the Operating Committees that are not 
satisfactorily resolved by the Committee members will be forwarded to the Operations Board for 
resolution. Jn the event that the Operations Board is unable to reach a satisfactory resolution 
the matter will be forwarded to the Executive Board for review and final determination . 

ARTICLE 10- Consortium Resources and Expenditures 

A. Funding sources for the operation of the Consortium shall include the following: 

1. Revenue derived from the Annual Assessment to member agencies. Such 
assessment shall be calculated by applying the then current year's approved 
annual budget amount to the agreed upon cost allocation methodology, as 
described in Attachment "B", attached and incorporated hereto by reference, or as 
may be amended by the Executive Board from time to time; 

2. Revenue derived from fees or charges to Members for additional services over and 
above those included in the Annual Assessment, as defined in Section A.1., above, 
whether contracted or otherwise, if any. Any such special service provided by the 
Consortium would be at the request of the individual member and must be pre
authorized by the Executive Board. 

3. Revenue derived from fees or charges for services to non-Member public safety 
agencies, whether contracted or otherwise, if any; 

4. Revenue derived from grants, donations or other gifts, if any; 

5. Proceeds derived from loans or other borrowings, if any; 

6. other legally authorized revenues as may be approved by the Executive Board. 
from time to time . 

16 
Last printed 6110/20104:17:00 PM 



B. Expenditures of the Consortium shall be limited to the following: 

1. Expenditures for purchase of, reimbursement for and/or payments for materials1 
supplies, software and related licenses. hardware and related licenses, equipment, 
professional and administrative services, repair and/or maintenance contracts on 
Consortium assets, contracts for operation and maintenance support of vendor 
software/hardware, preparation and distribution of meeting materials, publication of 
meeting notices and related costs, and other reasonable or incidental costs related 
to the business, operations and professional stewardship of the Consortium. 

2. Other expenditures as may be authorized by a majority vote of the Executive 
Board from time to time. 

C. All revenues and expenditures of the Consortium shall require proper authorization prior 
to accepting revenue, incurring a liability, or paying for an expenditure, as follows: 

1. The Chair of the Executive Board is authorized to approve acceptance of funding 
from grants, donations, loans, member assessments, contract payments or any 
and all other funding sources if such revenue has previously been authorized by 
the Executive Board or if the Board approves, by majority vote of the members 
present at a properly notice meeting, the acceptance of such revenue/funding. If 
such revenue is included in the annual budget, it is deemed authorized by the 
Executive Board. 

2. The Chair of the Operations Board is authorized to approve payments for 
equipment, software, materials, professional services, contract payments and the 
like that have been pre-authorized by the Executive Board and included in the 
approved budget. · 

3. All proi)osed purchases, expenditures and contracts not pre-authorized by the 
Executive Board or not included in the approved budget must be submitted to the 
Executive Board for approval prior to incurring any obligation for the purchase, 
expenditure or contract. Such approval will be evidenced by a majority vote of the 
Board members present at the meeting where the vote took place. 

Before a vote may be taken to authorize unbudgeted and/or unauthorized work or 
contracts, written notice must be given to all members of the General Membership 
Board, the Executive Board and the Operations Board that such a vote will be 
taken at the next meeting of the Executive Board. Such notice must be given at 
least ten (10) days prior to the meeting at which the vote will be taken. 

Pre-authorization of Expenditure Exception: in the event of an emergency, as 
defined in Article 11, the Chair of the Operations Board and the Service Provider 
Director are authorized to take steps necessary to prevent system failure or repair 
system ·functionality without prior expenditure authorization, as defined and 
authorized in Article 11 herein. 

D. The financial operation of the Consortium shall be subject to atl applicable Federal and 
State statutes and other regulatory bodies governing legal, financial, accounting, budgeting, 
auditing and financial statement f reporting requirements. 

17 
laa\ printed 611012010 4:17:00 PM 

• 

• 



• 

• 

ARTICLE 11 - Fiscal Agency 

A The City of Yakima shall act as the fiscal agent for YAKCORPS. All YAK CORPS funds 
shall be deposited with and disbursed by the Yakima City Treasurer's office, pursuant to 
vouchers approved by (1) the Chair of the Executive Board or authorized designee, or (2) the 
Chair of the Operations Board, or authorized designee, if such expenditure is authorized within 
the approved budget, or by (3) the Consortium's Technology Services Provider, for expenditures 
less than $7,500, if such expenditure is authorized within the approved budget and if the Service 
Provider is also an employee of a Consortium Member. · 

B. Emergency Situations: However, not withstanding the above, in the case of an 
emergency, the Service Provider Director and/or the Chair of the Operations Board is/are 
authorized to purchase materials, equipment and professional services for the purpose of (1) 
preventing an imminent system failure that would cause an emergency situation for one or more 
members of the Consortium, or (2) restoring the public safety systems to an operational status 
during an emergency situation. The Consortium will pa fully liable for the actions and purchases 
of the Service Provider Director and the Operation$ Board Chair during an emergency situation. 

1. For the purposes of this lnterlocal Agreement, a system emergency shall mean an 
actual or imminent failure of the Consortium's system the nature of which could 
jeopardize the security or confidentiality of system information and/or cause critical 
elements of the Consortium's system to stop functioning properly and thereby 
jeopardize the safety and security of citizens, public safety employees or their 
property. 

2. It is intended that the Consortium's systems shall include those systerns owned 
and operated by, or on behalf of, the Consortium, including software and server 
hardware and as defined in Article 15, herein. It is further intended that the 
Consortium's systems do not include systems, services and/or hardware that may 
be neriessary for the proper operation of the Consortium systems, but are not 
owned I operated by the Consortium; such as the communications network, 
jurisdictions' individual workstations and the like. 

ARTlCLE 12-Annual Budget 

Under the direction of the Operations Board 

A. Under· the direction of the Operations Board, an annual budget shalt be prepared and 
presented to the Executive Board and to the General Membership Board. The Consortium's 
fiscal year shall be the calendar year, and shall end on December 31't of each year. An annual 
budget shall be prepared for each fiscal year and.shall include:. 

1. Revenues - A detailed list of projected revenue from each revenue source, 
including: recommended assessments of each member agency, a detailed list of 
each budgeted contract for service from the Consortium and related revenues; a 
detailed list of each budgeted contract for services to the Consortium; a detailed list 
of individual budgeted grants, donations and any/all other revenue sources. 

The annual assessment may include: (1) annual vendor software operation and 
maintenance support costs, (2) authorized technology service provider costs, (3) 
authorized system hardware replacement costs, (4) Consortium liability premium 

18 
Last pri~ed 611012010 4:17:00 PM 

.-·: .-~:":I, .t~. . ........ _. .... 



----------------------~···---·---·· 

costs and (5} other costs that may be authorized by the Executive Board from time • 
to time. 

2. Expenditures " A detailed list of all anticipated expenditures; including, but not 
limited to; planned software and/or hardware purchases or replacements; 3n1 party 
(vendor) suppqrt service costs; internal consortium support costs; annual 
consortium insurance costs, and detaUed list of any/all other expenditures greater 
than $5,000; other items less~ $5,000 may be aggregated so long as the sum 
of all aggregated amounts does not exceed $101000. · 

3. The proposed budget shall also include the work plan for the budget year, 
including: an explanation of planned I projected and budgeted expenditures; 
replacement cycles for major hardware devices and software, if applicable; 
changes in costs of vendor maintenance agreements; new, or modifications to, 
existing external service agreements; overview of Consortium provided service 
agreements and details of any significant planned changes in the operations of the 
Consortium's public safety systems and/or operations. 

4. Any and all other data or information that the Operations Board believes may be of 
significant interest or benefit to the General Membership Board or the Executive 
Board in their review and consideration of the annual budget recommendatron. 

B. May 31 81 Deadline: The Operations Board will present their proposed annual budget to the 
Executive Board no later than May 31st of each year for the subsequent calendar year .. 

C. June 3ot11 Deadline: The Executive Board shall forward the proposed budget and related 
work plan, including their proposed adjustments or modifications thereto, if any, to each member '·· 
of the General Membership Board for their review no later than June 3011'1. 

D. July 31'"t Deadline: Each member jurisdiction shall submit, in writing, any objections, 
concerns and/or change requests regarding the proposed budget, if any, to the Executive Board 
no later than July 31st. 

1. The governing body of any member jurisdiction may request a special meeting of 
the Executive Board to further discuss and/or refine the proposed budget. Such 
request shall be in writing and submitted to the Chairman of the Executive Board, 
no later than July 31st. 

E. August 31 81 Deadline: The Executive Board shall address concerns or objections 
submitted by member agencies, if any, and shall hold a special meeting to discuss the budget, 
as they deem appropriate or if requested in writing by a member agency. If a special meeting is 
to be held, the Chairman of the Executive Board shall schedule, and provide proper notice of 
such special meeting, which shall be held no later than August 31 111

• 

F. If the Executive Board receives no written notice of objection to or request for a meefmg 
regarding the proposed annual budget by July 31st, the Executive Board may assume that the 

· governing bodies of the member jurisdictions do not object to the proposed revenue and 
expenditure budget or to the related work plan. · 

G. September 1 Siil Deadline: The Executive Board shall approve the annual budget for a 
given year no later than September 15th of the year prior to the budget year. 

19 
Last printed 611012010 4:17:00 PM 



• 

• 

• 

. H. Once authorized by the Executive Board, and within five (5) days of such authorization, 
the budget shall be submitted to the governing body· pf each Consortium member and to the 
Chairman of the Genera! Membership and Operations Boards and to the Chairman of eac;h 
Operating Committee. The chairman of each Board I Committee shall. distribute a copy of the 
budget to each member of his/her Board/Committee. · 

I. If agreement between a member agency and the Executive Board regarding the 
subsequent year's annual budget is not reached, the member agency may choose to terminate 
their participation in the Consortium by stating so in writing. Such notice of termination shall be 
provided in writing, signed by the highest elected official of the member agency, and submitted 
to the Chairman of the Executive Board within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the 
Executive Board's approved annual budget. 

Not withstanding the abo"Ve, termination by a member agency shall not relieve that member, or 
any other member, of responsibility for meeting financial and other obligations outstanding at 
the time of termination. 

J. Once the annual budget is approved by the Executive Board, the member assessments 
included in the approved budget shall become a legally binding debt of each member agency, 
owing to the Consortium. · 

K. Each member agency shall pay their annual assessment to the Consortium's Fiscal 
A~ent in two equal semi-annual installments. Payments are to be made on or before February 
111

, and August 1st of each calendar year for that year's assessment. 

ARTICLE 13 - Insurance 

YAKCORPS shall obtain and maintain commercial general liability insurance; auto 
liability for any owned vehicles; public officials liability (directors & officers liabilify); and property 
insurance covering all equipment owned by YAKCORPS with a value greater than $10,000 or 
greater than an amount deemed, by the Executive Board, to be a reasonable and cost effective 
insurance deductible amount. The insurance carriers, level of coverage, deductible and other 
significant coverage issues shall be as approved by the majority of the Executive Board. Each 
member entity will be listed as an additional insured under the C9mmercial general liability 
insurance policy for YAKCORPS. YAKCORPS shall additionally obtain and maintain other 
insurance policies as may be required by applicable law or majority vote of the Executive Board. 

ARTICLE 14- Consortium's Authority 

A. YAK CORPS. may enter into contracts or agreements with governmental agencies, · 
vendors, contractors, consultants or other third party entities and with member agencies as 
deemed necessary and approved by the Executive Board to carry out the purposes and 
functions of the Consortium; · inCluding, but not limited to, providing technical services, 
administration, planning, support and/or conducting studies of problems of mutual concern. 

B. The Consortium may receive grants and gifts in furtherance of its programs and 
business purpose; 

C. The Chairman of the Operations Board is authorized to execute contracts and other 
agreements with third-parties and member agencies; however, all such contracts and 

20 
Last printed 6110/2010 4:17:00 PM 



agreements must first be approved by a majority of the Executive Board at a scheduled meeting 
and included in the approved annual budget. • 

D. · YAKCORPS shalt have authority to acquire (by purchase, lease or otherwise) O'Mi, 

operate {directly or by contract), maintain, equip, reequip, and repair real and personal assets 
necessary to carry out the business of the Consortium. 

E. YAK CORPS shall have the same legal rights and authority as each individual member to 
enforce the financial, legal and other obligations of the members to the Consortium, including, 
but not limited to, the right ta pursue all legal avenues for the payment of annual assessments 
and other amounts owing to the Consortium by a member and to collect from that member all 
legal and other expenses the Consortium incurred in the collection thereof. 

ARTICLE 15 - Integrated Public Safety Systems Prolect CIPSS) 

A Integrated Public Safety System Project {IPSS): upon execution of this lnterLocal 
Agreement, members agree to immediately commence the implementation of integrated pubtic 
safety systems as defined in the City of Yakima's RFP #10809P, dated March 19, 2008 and as 
may have been modified by the IPSS Project team and/or vendor agreements thereafter. This 
project shall be known as the Integrated Public Safety System Project or "IPSS: 

-8. For purposes of defining the scope of work and the related costs to be included in the 
implementation phase of the Integrated Public Safety Systems Project, the members 
acknowledge and agree the scope and funding shall include the foRowing: (1) vendor's 
computer software and related costs as included in the Contingent Purchase Agreement, ·• 
Licensing Agreement and Support Agreement with Spillman Technologies Inc. dated December 
22, 2009 and as modified herein in Addendum "C" and its related Attachments, (2) vendor's 
computer software and related costs and licensing and support agreements as may be included 
in agreements with the vendor(s) of the prosecuting attorney's systems, as may ~ executed by 
the Executive Board of the Consortium in the future, (3) the software licensing and 
implementation costs as included in Addendum "A" of this Agreement, (4) conversion of 
member's existing systems ta the new public safety systems, such work and costs shall include 
the costs of the necessary interfaces to existing systems, costs to upgrade agency specific 
hardWare to be compatible with the new vendor systems, and, as may be authorized by the 
Operations Board during implementation, the costs to convert a limited amount of member's 
existing data, (5) the server and other related hardware, if any, necessary to run and operate 
the software systems for the Consortium as a whole, (6) cost of a project manager to coordinate 
and oversee the implementation of the systems for all members, and (7) other incidental and 
customary costs ~hat may arise during the implementation of the systems, if authorized by the 
Executive Board. 

C, Addendums: Addendum "A" - Public Safety Systems Project - Implementation Costs 
·and Funding; Addendum "B: - Consortium Annual Assessments - Allocation of On-going Costs, 
and Addendum "C• -Contingent Purchase Agreement with Spillman Technologies, Inc., and the 
related Attachments, are all included in thi~ lnterlocal Agreement herein, by reference. 

21 
Last printed 6/1012010 4:17:00 PM 



• 

• 

• 

ARTICLE 16 - Technoloay Services Provider 

A. The Consortium shall contract with a Service Provider for software and hardware 
maintenance and operations support for the public safety systems implemented as part of the 
integrated Public Safety Systems Project (IPSS), as described in Article 15 herein. These 
services shall include: vendor network administration; database administration; operation and 
maintenance of system server(s); acting as technology·expert on behalf of the members and as 
the primary point of contact between the member agencies and the vendo~·s support personnel 
to address system-wide questions and resolve problems; provide user training, as needed; 
coordinate implementation of vendor software updates; and other functions that may be deemed 
appropriate by the Executive Board from time to time. 

B. The Consortium's Technology Services Provider will not be responsible for the operation 
or maintenance of member's workstation hardware, mobile units, or any public safety 
software/hardware other than that included in Article 15 herein, if any. · 

C. The members agree and authorize the Yakima County Information Technology 
Department to function as the Technology Services Provider immediately upon implementation 
of the new public safety systems, as defined in Article 15, herein. Members further authorize the 
·Executive Board to change the Technology Service Provider and/or the services provided by the 
Technology Services Provider as they deem appropriate, from time to time. 

D. In the event that the Executive Board authorizes another party to perform the tasks of 
the Technology Services Provider for the Consortium, the governing body of Yakima County 
and. Yakima County's Information Technology Department agree to fully cooperate with the 
Executive and Operations Boards and the newly authorized Services Provider in transitioning 
their duties and responsibilities to the new Service Provider, including but not limited to, the 
physical transfer of the Consor:tium's servers and other hardware and software to a new 
location, if so requested by the Executive Board and to, in good faith, provide the technical 
expertise to assist in the transfer as may be needed to ensure a safe, secure and smooth 
transition and as may be requested by the Executive Board. 

E. All reasonable and customary expenses incurred by the Consortium, the existing Service 
Provider and the new Service Provider to accomplish the safe and secure transfer of the 
Consortium's software and hardware and the technical expertise to operate the software and 
hardware to the new Service Provider shall be paid by the Consortium, unless otherwise agreed 
to by the parties. All expenses incurred by the existing or new Service Provider must be pre
approved by the Executive Board or reimbursement may be. denied. 

ARTICLE 17- Member RespgnsibUlties 

A. The governing body of each member agency acknowledges and agrees that, upon 
execution of this Agreement, Y AKCORPS shall step into the position of "Customer" as defined 
in the Contingent Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 2009 between Yakima County, the 
Customer, and Spillman Technologies, Inc and as modified herein and included as Addendum 
~c··. Additionany, YAKCORPS shall be responsible to fulfill all obligations of the "Customer" as 
required in stated Contingent Purchase Agreement. 

22 
L.aet printed 6/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 



B. The governing body of each member agency I jurisdiction: 

1. Acknowledges awareness and acceptance of the Request for Proposal (RFP) 
#10809-P, dated March 19, 2008, and included herein by reference, for county-
wide public safety computer systems; 

2. Agrees to abide by the requirements, terms and conditions of any/all Federal grant 
funding accepted by YAKCORPS' Executive Board; 

3. Acknowledges the value and importance of this system and are committed to 
seeing it come together. Further, the County .and the City of Yakima realize the 
critical nature of this project to the point of committing to funding any capital cost 
shortfall needed to see the project to fruition . 

4. . Acknowledges that the ongoing support and maintenance costs of the systems wil\ 
be borne by all members; 

5. Agrees to abide by the requirements, terms and conditions of all grants or other 
agency's whose funding is accepted by Y AKCORPS' Executive Board; 

6. Agrees that a full year's assessment shaff be owed and payable by each agency 
for each full or partial year that the agency is a member of the Consortium, unless 
otherwise agreed to by a two·thirds (2/3) majority vote of the Executive Board~ 

7. Agrees that no member or participating agency shall be entitled to a refund, in 
whole or in part, of any annual assessment the member or participating agency 
may have paid to the Consortium for replacement funding of existing equipment or 
for any other purpose. 

8. · Agrees to comply with all current and future Federal and State Public Safety 
Technology requirements in all manners· that have, or could reasonably be 
expected to have, an impact on the public safety systems governed by the 
Consortium. 

9. Agrees to pay the full amount of any and all financial obligations assessed upon 
member as a condition(s) of withdrawal from the Consortium, the termination of 
their membership, or expulsion from the Consortium as provided in Articles 18, 20 
and 21 herein. Additionally, the governing body of the member agency I 
jurisdiction agrees to pay all reasonable and customary costs incurred by the 
consortium, if any, in an effort to enforce such payment by the member. 

10. Agrees to abide by all the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

c. ·The governing body of each member agency is responsible to ensure that all 
requirements of the Consortium are carried out as intended and agreed to herein and as are 
authorized from time to time by the General Membership Board, the Executive Board and the 
Operations Board, including, but not limited to the following: 

1. · All properly authorized and approved annual Member Assessments shall be paid to 
the Consortium's Fiscal Agent by the due date; 

2. Members acknowledge that data contained within the public safety systems 
operated and maintained by the Consortium is confidential, and members shall 
ensure that physical, electronic and procedural safeguards and controls are 
implemented and maintained within the member agency, and between member 

• 

,. 

agencies, to ensure that all confidential information is secure and to prevent •. 
unauthorized access to or use of such information by unauthorized individuals; 

23 
Last printed 6110/.2010 4:17:00 PM 



• 

•• 

3. If a member has reason to believe that any confidential information has or may 
become known by unauthorized persons, whether or not employed by that member 
agency, the member shall immediately notify the Chairs of the Executive Board 
and the Operations Board. 

4. Members agree to utilize all systems operated and maintained by the Consortium 
only in the manner intended. Further, all members agree to follow and utilize only 
the codification standards as established and approved by the Operations Board, 
including, but not limited to, the codes established within the system(s) to identify 
each individual member agency, each type of criminal offense, type of booking in 
the jails, type of arraignment, and the like. 

ARTICLE 1 B - Duration of Agreement 

A. The initial term of this Agreement is for a period of five (5) years from the date hereof 
and thereafter is automatically extended for consecutive three (3) year periods. Any party 
seeking modifications to the Agreement shall provide written notice ·of such to the Chairman of 
the Executive Board by June 1 N of the year prior to the end of the then current extension period. 
Notice in writing is required and time is of the essence in giving notice. 

B. Within 30 days of receipt of a written notice of a modification request by a member 
agency, the Executive Board shall notify all members of the General Membership Board and 
shall schedule a meeting of the Executive Board to discuss the requested modifications to the 
Agreement. 

C. All member agencies shall work in good faith to agree to retain the existing Agreement 
or execute a new or revised lnterlocal Agreement prior to the last effective date of the current 
extension period. 

D. If a majority of the governing bodys do not approve a new or revised Agreement by the 
end of the current extension period, the existing Agreement will become effective for another 
three (3) year period, unless subsequently modified by a majority vote of the governing body's 
of the member jurisdictions. 

E. If a majority of the governing bodys of the member jurisdictions adopt a new or revised 
Agreement it shall become effective 30 days after the date such majority approval was attained, 
or on the effective date stated therein, whichever comes later. 

The member jurisdictions whose governing bodys do not adopt the new or revised Agreement 
by its' effective date shall continue participation in the Consortium until the existing Agreement 
expires, at which time their membership in and the benefits of the Consortium shall terminate. 

F. Termination of membership from the Consortium does not eliminate the member 
jurisdiction's previous legal or financial responsibilities to YAKCORPS. 

G. Should the governing body of a non-member agency I jurisdiction request to join, or 
rejoin, the Consortium, whether or not such non-member agency was previously a member of 
the Consortium, all of the following criteria must be met: (1) the governing body of the 
requesting agency I jurisdiction must approve the lnterlocal Agreement in effect at that time; (2) 
the General Membership Boa.rd must approve, by a majority vote of the members present at a 
properly authorized and noticed meeting, the membership request; and (3) the requesting 

24 
Last printed 6/10/'2010 4:17:00 PM 



··--·----

agency I jurisdiction must accept the terms and conditions, if any, for joining the Consortium as 
may be required by the Executive Board. Such terms and conditions may include, but are not • 
limited to, a "buy-in• amount to be paid by the agency to cover the agency's proportionate share 
of Consortium's assets and/or liabilities or to cover any costs/expenses incurred by the 
Consortium on the agency I jurisdiction's behatf caused by such agency I jurisdictions previous 
termination, expulsion, or other withdrawal from the Consortium. The Executive Board will 
determine such terms and conditions, if any, at their discretion and on a case by case basis. 

ARTICLE 19 - Dispute Resolution 

A. Any controversy or dispute between the parties regarding the application or 
interpretation of this Agreement is subject to resolution by the following procedures: 

1. Initial review by the Executive Board to facititate prompt resolution through 
agreement. 

2. If the initial review does not achieve resolution, the Executive Board Chair shall 
appoint a committee with members from the Executive Board and the General 
Membership Board with authority to facilitate resolution through agreement. 

3. If the matter is not resolved through the work of the committee, the committee will 
make a report to the Executive Board and the Executive Board shall refer the 
matter to the General Membership Board for final and binding resolution! by a 
majority vote of the Board Members present at a proper1y authorized and noticed 
meeting of the Board. 

ARTICLE 20 - Membefs Withdrawal or Expulsion from Consortiurp 

A In addition to tennination of a member as provided for in Article 18, a member agency 
and/or jurisdiction may withdraw from the Consortium by providing notice of intent to the 
Executive Board no later than September 1 Slh of any given year to be effective on January 1st 
of the subsequent year. Such notice must be in writing and time is of the essence in giving 
notice. 

B. Upon proper written notice of intent to withdraw from the Consortium by a member, the 
Executive Board shall determine the conditions under which the Member may withdraw, 
including, but not limited to: (1) assessment of outstanding payments, if any, due from the 
Member to the Consortium, (2) assessment of assets or liabilities, if any, due to/from the 
Member from/to the Consortium. Such conditions shall be communicated in writing to the 
governing body of the member agency I jurisdiction within sixty (60) days of receipt of members 
notice to withdraw. 

C. Members agree that upon their withdrawal, or expulsion, from the Consortium they are 
not entitled to, nor will they receive any refund or reimbursement of costs for any amounts the 
member may have paid into the Consortium for: (1) proration of annual assessment 
costs/payments; (2) funds paid into a reserve or dedicated account for the purpose of replacing 
hardware in the future or (3) the purchase of assets still in use, or intended for future use,_ by the 
Consortium. The member will not, however, be responsible for any future payments towards 

· the hardware replacement fund, unless such expenditure related to a long-term contract or bond 
that was previously authorized by the Consortium and the authorization for that liabUity 
specifically stated that all members at that time would be responsible for their proportionate \. 
share of that liability until it is paid in full. 

25 
La&t printed G/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 



• ARTICLE 21 - Default 

A. Any of the events shall constitute a "default" by the offending member(s) under this 
Agreement: · 

1. Member fails to pay the Fiscal Agent all, or any part thereof, of a properly 
authorized and approved assessment when due, and such failure has not been 
corrected within fifteen (15) business days after written notification has been given 
to the governing body of the member agency; 

2. Member improperly utilizes and/or maintains the system{s} coding structure as 
approved by the Executive Board and/or the Operations Board; · 

3. Member's use of information maintained within the system(s) operated and 
maintained by YAKCORPS in an illegal or unethical manner; 

4. Member's failure to ensure that physical, electronic and procedural safeguards and 
controls are implemented and maintained within the members' agency(s), and 
between member agencies sufficient to safeguard confidential information and to 
prevent access by unauthorized individuals; 

5. Member's failure to utilize all systems operated and maintained by the Consortium 
only in the manner intended or member's failure to follow and utilize only the 
codification standards as established and approved by the Operations Board; 

6. Failure to maintain compliance with all Federal and State Public Safety technology 
requirements in all manners that have, or could reasonably be· expected to have, 
an impact on the public safety systems governed by the Consortium; including, but 
not limited to: federal Criminal Justice Information Systems (CJIS) and Washington 
Criminal Information Center WACIC); 

7. Member's failure to perfonn any other obligation set forth in this Agreement if such 
failure has not been corrected within thirty (30) days after Y A.KCORPS has given 
written notice of sue~ failure to the governing body of the member agency; 

B. The Executive Board shall review the circumstances of any default and determine by 
majority vote the appropriate action(~) to be taken in response to th~ default, .which may include 
any one or more of the following: 

1. Technical and/or professional assistance to facilitate resolution of the underlying 
problems causing the default; 

2. Restrictions ori participation in the Consortium for a specific period of time 
preceding resolution; and/or · 

3: Expulsion from the Consortium. 

26 
last prir.\ed 61'\0l2Q10 4:17:00 PM 



ARTICLE 22 - Qlsaofution of Consortium 

A Dissolution of the consortium shall take place through either one of the following two 
procedures: 

1. The Executive Board shall formulate and approve, by a majority vote of its' 
members, a recommendation for dissolution and shall forward it to the General 
Membership Board and to the goveming bodies' of all member agencies I 
jurisdictions. No less than sixty (60) days and no more than one hundred and 
eighty (180) days after such recommendation is forwarded to the governing bodies · 
of aH member agencies I jurisdictions, the General Membership Board shaH 
approve, by a two-thirds majority vote of the then current members, the 
recommendation of dissolution. 

2. The General Membership Board shall formulate a recommendation for dissolution 
and shall forward It to the goveming bodies' of all member agencies I iurisdictions. 
No less than sixty (60) days and no more than one hundred and eighty (180) days 
after such recommendation is forwarded to the governing bodies of all member 
agencies I jurisdictions, the General Membership Board approves, by a two-thirds 
majority· vote of the then current members, the recommendation of dissolution. 

B. Dissolution shall not take effect until the Executive Board has completed the wrap up of 
the Consortium's duties and obligations, set forth in a final report and submitted to the General 
Membership Board and to the governing bodies of all member agencies I jurisdictions. The 
wrap up shall include resoiution of any outstanding liabilities, disposition of assets, final 
accounting and resolution of all legal, financial and regulatory requirements. 

C. Disposition of property and assets shall take place as follows: 

1. Actual identifiable personal property contributed in total by one member: for the 
benefit of the Consortium shall be returned to the member agency I jurisdiction 
that contributed it, if possibie and fiscally reasonable to do so and if contributing 
member desires the items return. 

2. New personal property I real property purchased in the name of YAKCORPS 
shall be partitioned on an equitable basis to the current members based upon a 
prcrrated share of contributions from the current members as determined in the 
current, or last utilized if no current calculation exists, annual cost allocation 
calculation. A then current member shall have the option of purchasing any 
real/personal property from YAKCORPS in the event of dissolution of the 
Consortium, by approval of the Executive Board, at its current fair market value.· 
In the event that more than one member of the Consortium is interested in 
purchasing the property at fair market value, the Consortium shall sell the 
property at auction or by sealed bid to the highest bidder above the minimum 
price of fair market value. The Executive Board shall use their best judgment to 
determine the current fair market value of personal property. 

In the event that real property is not sold to a member-entity, the parties agree 
that the subject property(s) shall be sold for its current fair-market value; in either 

• 

• 

case, the Executive Board shall determine the fair-market value of real property • 
from the Yakima County Assessor's Office, and/or an independent third party 

.27. 
Last printed 6110/20104:17:00 PM 



• 

•• 

3. 

appraisal from a licensed realtor or real estate appraiser, or if these sources are 
not cost effective, the Board shall, in good faith, use their best judgment to 
determine the fair market value of the asset. 

Any remaining funds or assets after payment of all debts and liabilities shall be 
returned to each then current member based upon the members' proportionate 
share of the total members' current annual cast allocations, or the most recent 
allocation if a current allocation is not available. 

D. Resolution of any outstanding liabilities shall take place as follows: 

1. All funds received by the Consortium from the sale of assets shall be utilized first 
to pay debts/ liabilities of the Consortium; 

2. All current members of the Consortium shall share resolution of any outstanding 
liabilities of the Consortium. 

3. The Executive Board shall prepare a final accounting for any outstanding 
liabilities of the Consortium and provide a copy to the General Membership 
Board. · 

4. The Executive Board shall adopt the final accounting after considering any 
comments submitted by the General Membership Board. 

ARTICLE 23 - Indemnification 

Each member shall have reaponsibility for and assume the risk of liability for it& own 
wrongful and/or negligent acts or omissions, or those of its elected officials, officers, agents, 
employees or volunteers to th~ extent that liability exists, and agrees to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless the other members from any such liability. 

ARTICLE 24 - Non-Discrimination 

The parties shall not discriminate in violation of any applicable federal, state and/or local 
law or regulation on the basis of age, sex, race, creed, religion, color, national origin, marital 
status, disability, honorably discharged veteran or military status; pregnancy, sexual orientation 
and any other classification protected under federal, state or local law. This provision shall 
include but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, 
recruitment, advertising, layoff, or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, 
selection for training and th.e provision of services under this Agreement 

ARTICLE 25 - The Americans with Disabilities Act 

The parties shall comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 12101 et seq. (ADA) and its implementing regulations and Washington State's anti
discrimination law as contained in RCW Chapter 49.60 and its implementing regulations with 
regard to the activities and services provided pursuant to this Agreement. The ADA provides 
comprehensive civil rights to individuals with disabilities in the area of employment, public 
accommodations, public transportation, state and local govemment services and 
telecommunications. 

28 
Last printed 611012010 4;17:00 PM 



ARTICLE 26 - No Conflict of Interest 

The members covenant that neither they nor their employees have any interest and.shall 
not hereafter acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or 
degree with the performance cf this Agreement. The parties further covenant they will not hire 
anyone or any entity having such a conflict of interest during the performance of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 27-Severabllltv 

If any part, paragraph, section or provision of this Agreement is adjudged to be invalid by 
any court of competent jurisdiction;. such adjudication shall not affect the validity of any 
remaining section, part or provision of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 28 - Execution 

This ,Agreement or Amendments hereto, shall be executed on behalf of each member 
pursuant to an appropriate Motion, Resolution or Ordinance of the governing body of each 
member. This Agreement or any Amendment thereto, shall be deemed adopted upon the date 
thei governing body of the last member agency authorized the appropriate Motion, Resolution or 
Ordinance. 

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, and each such 
counterpart shall be deemed to be an original instrument. AH such counterparts together will 
constitute one and the same Agreement. 

ARTICLE 29 - Hold Hannless 

The parties to the Agreement shall defend, indemnify and save one another harmless 
from any and all claims arising out of the performance of this Agreement, except to the extent 
that the harm complained of arises from the sole negligence of one of the participating 
members. Any loss or liability resulting from the negligent acts errors or omissions of the 
General Membership Board, the Executive Board, the Operations Board or the Operating 
Committees, while acting within the scope of their authority under this Agreement, shall be 
borne by YAKCORPS exclusively. 

ARTICLE 30 - Amendments 

This Agreement is subject to amendment, modification or replacement by the Governing Bodies 
of the then current members. Additionally, the Addendums to this Agreement are subject to 
amendment, modification or replacement by the Executive Board. 

A. Recommendations for amendments to this Agreement shall require a two-thirds (213} 
majority vote of the members present at any properly authorized and noticed regular or special 
meeting of the General Membership Board. A requested amendment, .modification or 
replacement of this Agreement shall be forwarded to the General Membership Board and the 
Executive Board a minimum of ten (10) calendar days prior to a scheduled meeting at which a 
vote on such amendment, modification or replacement is to take place. · 

29 
Last printed 6/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

B. Within ten (10} business days of approval by the General Membership Board, the Chair 
of the · Executive Board shall forward the recommended amendment, modification or 
replacement to this Agreement to the governing body of each member jurisdiction for review 
and approval. 

C. Each member jurisdiction shall bring all recorrimf!nded amendments, modifications or a 
replacement to the Agreement before its' governing body within forty.five (45} days of receipt of 
such from the Executive Board. Approval by at least two~thirds of the legislative bodies of 
member jurisdictions is required to authorize any amendment, modification or replacement to 
this Agreement. 

D. Any member agency's governing body that did not approve the amendment within the 
required timeframe.above, may withdraw from the Consortium by providing written notice to the 
Execµtive Board within ninety (90) days of receipt of the approved amendment, modification or 
replacement Agreement from the Executive Board. The member agency's withdrawal shall be 
effective immediately upon receipt by the Executive Board or simultaneously with the effective 
date of the approved amendment, modification or replacement Agreement, if later . than the 
notice receipt date by the Executive Board. The provisions of Article 20.B and C shall apply to 
any such withdrawal by a member. Should a member agency's governing body not approve the 
amendment and not withdraw from the Consortium as provided herein, said member agency 
shall be deemed to have waived any objection to the amendment, modification or replacement 
Agreement and shall be subject to such amendment, modification or replacement Agreement. 

E. Addendums to this Agreement are subject to amendments, modifications or replacement 
by a tw~thirds (213} majority vote of the members of the Executive Board present at a properly 
authorized and noticed meeting of that Board . 

ARTICLE 31 - Entire Agreement 

This document, including the Addendums attached hereto, encompasses the entire 
Agreement of the members. No understanding or amendment, addendum or addition to this 
agreement shall be effective unless made in writing and approved by a majority vote at a 
properly scheduled and noticed meeting of the Executive Board. 

ARTICLE 32 - Signatures 

Each party to this Agreement shall sign a signature page in a form required by law to 
constitute valid execution. Each signature page shall be titled "Yakima Consortium for 
Regional Public Safety's lnterLocal AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE" FOR (NAME OF 
ENTITY)". 

ARTICLE 33 - Filing of Agreement 

Upon execution hereof, this Agreement shall be filed with the City Clerk of the respective 
participating members, the Yakima County Auditor, and such other governmental agencies as 
may be provided by law. 

30 
Last printl!ld 6/10/2010 4:17:00 PM 



•• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCALAGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF GRANDVIEW . 

APPROVED this 13tti day of July, 2010. 

rint Name: Norm Childress · 

Title: Mayor 

• ATTEST: 

Q Yf?L~--= 
· Anita Palacios 

City Clerk: 

Date: 7/13/2010 

·~· 



•• 

• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Puplic Safety (YAKCORPS) . 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

TOWN OF GRANGER 

APPROVED this 

&;too & na drbz"c'C2-
Signature 

P~int Name:·~ 111 t'i<U\. £i!L1 s. e?" ~ 
I 

Title: (v~ a. ~ V: 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk: ....JA.J4...:tfdomi::...A,.,.,...JA..&.oQia.i..""" 

Date: _.....:...t.....:..:..:~.i...=;..-----

Approved as to form: 

City Attorney 



• 

• 

·----

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT .SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

TOWN OF HARRAH 

APPROVED this I 2010 .. 

~<!4 I 1'1..o.!IJ\ QA L · 
Signature 

Print Name: 8 a. iC. b a If' a Ha V"' Ye r 
Title: Ma ya r 

AITEST: 

City Clerk: /Jj~g 
Date: c:!? !k Id.. , 

Approved as to form: 

Sohn U1IJt. YW< I { 
· City Attorney 



• 

• 

••••• • 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF MABTON 

SlgnatU?;~ ~ 

Print Name: .Jr.ge-J f e.yvi 11,, 

Title: MtJ~ C 

ATTEST: 

City Cle~ 11,,,,.,. if; 
Date: 2-rt3~·lD 

Approved as to form: 

City Attorney 



• 

• 

·-·-

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF MOXEE 

APPROVED this s""1 . day of _J..:;;;u..-.:ly,__ __ • 2010. 

s1QnatUre 

Print Name:_ Ct. c /' J.... as. IJ r --e. "f 

Title: )11C< 'f 6 Y-

i 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk: ~ .../·~ 
Date: <.Jid!/ ~~Io 

Ap~-----:..~-. 
City Attorney 



• 

• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS). 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

ature 

· TOWN OF NACHES 
,...-:--

1 c9:: day of (j "'~ '2010 .. 

Print Name:~ c.... ? , 
. Title: Mlt<{tJ?..-

ATTEST: 



•• 

•• 

·~-. 

Yakhna Consorti.um mr Regional Public Safety CYAKCORPS) 

·INip.LoCAt AGJU1BMENT SIGNAmRE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF SELAH 

APPROVEDthl$ 27th . day of .....,JuJ,-..,.y __ ___._. 2010 . 

Print Name:-.=::~:..::....:=+--==--

Title: __ • _ _!!M.aSDvZ£Ol:r _· __ _::::::::==::::. 

ATTEST: 

. . 

•. 
·-" ~. 



• 

• 

Apptoved by RES 2010 -.:J.l 
July 12, 2010 

Yakima Cons~um for Regional Public S~ty (YAICCORPS) 

INTER.LOCAL AGRBBMHN'I SIGNATI.JIB PAGB PQI 

CJlY OF SUNNYSIDE 

APPROVED this 12th day of July .• 2010. 

Bridges 

Title: Interim City Manager 

ATIES~ 

City Clerk: ~~~~~~~~ 

Date: 
~_..-=....ua~..::;.;;::...;;;..~::..--



• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNAI!lRE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF TIETON 

APPROVED this \ 2. ~ day of s:_) v--\ =1 , 2010. 

s~d·~ 
Print Name: $-\r..n ~ R . l±-l \ 

Title: M°1 oC 

ATIEST: 

· City Clerk: 4JJz> ~ 
Date: I ~1~-10 

Approved as to form: 

. City Attorney 



Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF TOPPENISH 

APPROVED this 12th day of July '2010. 

Print Name: WIT, LIAM C. MURPHY 

Title: ____ C_i.-ty.___M_a_n_a.::::.g_er __ _ 

•• ATTEST: 

CityCl~,5.~ • , IC 
Date: July 12, 201() 

Approved as to form: 

City Attorney 



• 

Yakima Consortium·for Regional Public Safety O'AKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATIJRE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF UNION GAP 

APPROVED this 13 day of ~vfy ,2010. 

.si~ · 

Print Name: ~ LetM a lfl. 

Title: _ _......M'-""'-'A,_,.Yi ...... 1.?'""'L------
1 

ATTEST: 

City Cieri<: \{p,_~~e=n- 1 c;.vv-.c 

Date: 7-\~· \O 



• 
Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

CITY OF WAPATO. 

:2 41 APPROVED this _ ...... q:_ __ day of _ _._f1v..;;..;::;_7+---'' 2010. 

~tt;re = 

Print Name: J r S S'< Fcu- ;~.s 
Title: fV\. t..-1 t1-Y-

) 

~· ATTEST: 

CltY Attorney 1 /, l Seu.a wll:t ru-1'1~ . 

·•--



• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAK CORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FQR 

CITY OF YAKIMA 

APPROVED this e dayof ~11= ,2010. 

SignatUre 

Print Name: · R. A. Zais, Jr • 

• AITEST: 

Approved as to form: 

Cfty :lltL6v-

• 



• 

• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS} 

INTER.LOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATUR.E PAQE FOR 

APPR.OVED this 

CITY OF ZILLAH 

u -tli d~y at Ju h.1 
I 

. .tJ42 (({ {!/~ . 
Signatur~ 7 . · · 
Print Name: Gar \l V, C Jar K 

. I 

Title: yY)Q yo C 

ATTEST: 

'2010. 

City Clerk: ...::.';;z::J..J.W..a.M.....i:t-i....µ~...:::i..-L..f "-..,,._~ 
Date: Jy,,,L!j lp 1 · ~ 0 l Q 



• 

• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

.INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

YAKIMA COUNTY 

APPROVED this dayof~ 

Kevin J. Bouchey, Commissioner 

Constituting the Board of County Commissioners 
for Yak;ma County, Washington 

ATTEST: 

Christina S. Steiner, Clerk to the Board 

Date: f.e/?1_// 0 
~C.C. . 4Dlo -;;;D rO 
Ap~form: 

A~.&£ 



Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLQCAL AGREEMENT SIGNAUIRE PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 1. COWICHE J. TIETON 

·~ ~ 

APPROVED this £ day of ~ l:+ , 20.10. 

Print Name Chairman · 

Print Name 

• 
ATIEST: 

~ b~te_ k-+t 
Print Name: 

~~~ 
Signature 

Title:Sc(e.. ~ 

• 



•• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (Y AKCORPS} 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PA!JE FOB. 

FIRE DISTRICT No 2, SELAH 

APPROVED this _.._13""'--_day of ---..J..;.;tt-../-rv __ _., 2010. 
I 

Print Name Chairman 

Print Name 

• Print N e 

ATTEST: 

Print Na~ 

Title: f ~ N C.1-:u~ d 

• 



• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 3, NACHES 

• l 

/}1 ~}~ 
Print Name 

ATTEST: 

{{ e. I/,· ~1"·r11 :rfi'e-/el 1<e4.c . ...? l'tl-41¥---=sriZ-/ 
Signature . . Print Name: 

Title: 5" ec · \./ 
I 

Date: C/ - 1t. ··-10 

·--



•• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INIERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 4, EAST VALLEY 

APPROVED this '2010. 

Print Name Commissioner 

• ~010 ffi°'\\)u\tu 
Print Name i Commissioner' 

ATTEST: 

Print.Name: 



• 

• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREtiMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR . 

FIRE DISTRICT No 5, LOWER VALLEY 

APPROVED this te :z:J day of ~o/- . I 2010 .. 

Print Name 

£/j A/e.r f tv-. C/(1/111/ff 
Print Name 

ATTEST: 

Title: 4 

Commissioner 

Date: 7/rk 



• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety {YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 7,GLADE 

APPROVED this _d<._.J!)_-~_b_day of ...;:; £Pr .EJ-1'1 Rge2010. 

Print Name Chilrman 

Print Name Commissio r 

•• 
ATTEST: 

Printame: 

Date: _ ..... 9_· ..... ;.:0_~/_ZJ ____ _ 

·-·-



• Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 7 ,GLADE 

APPROVED this __ l'f __ day of :/<'Ly • 2010 . 

. PnntName Chairman 

Print Name Commissioner 

• Print Name Commissioner 

ATIEST: 

· Title: /J !/t '£ /-



• 

• 

• 

Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) 
. . 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE.PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 91 NACHES HEIGHTS 

APPROVED this '2 . 2010. 

Print Name 

Print Name· 

Print Name 

ATIEST: 

Print Name: 

Chain:nan 

~~ 
Commissioner 

~.· 
~ 

~~ 
Signature 

Date: 1 / & /£b 

RECEIVED 

JUL 2 8 2010 

FINANCE· DEPT. 



• · Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAKCORPS) . 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT SIGNATURE PAGE FOR 

FIRE DISTRICT No 11, BROADWAY 

APPROVED this Ito day of ~~,MS± . 2010. 

C airm ,...,, __ 

Print Name ~rf:#Lry 
• Print Name Commissioner 

ATIEST: 

Print Name: 

g.._~ 
Slg~ · 

f l"-/0 Title: ---------- Date: ---------



Meeting Date: 

From: 

July 10, 2023 

Sharon Bounds, City Manager 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Resolution - Interlocal Agreement - Yakima Consortium for Regional Public 
Safety (YAKCORPS) 

SYNOPSIS: Kyle Curtis, County Commissioner and YAKCORPS Executive Board Chair, will be 
discussing the YAKCORPS lnterlocal Agreement with the City. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a resolution authorizing the Qty Manager to sign an interlocal 
agreement with YAKCORPS. 

LEGAL REVIEW: The City Attorney has reviewed the ILA and resolution. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: N/A 

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 



CITY OF UNION GAP, WASHINGTON 
RESOLUTION NO. ---

A RESOUTION authorizing the City Manager to sign an Interlocal Agreement with 
Yakima Consortium for Regional Public Safety (YAK CORPS), for public safety services. 

WHEREAS, the City is currently a member of Y AKCORPS, which provides public 
safety service that offers efficiency, economy, improved tools, improved coordination of data, 
and improved ability to better protect its citizens; and 

WHEREAS, at their May 1, 2023 Special General Membership Meeting, YAKCORPS 
made amendments to the Interlocal Agreement and are requiring members to sign the updated 
agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Council wishes to remain members of Y AKCORPS, and therefore 
authorize the City Manager to sign the updated Interlocal Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE UNION GAP CITY COUNCIL 
as follows: 

The City Manager is authorized to sign the updated Interlocal Agreement with 
YAKCORPS, for public safety services. 

PASSED this 10th day of July, 2023. 

John Hodkinson, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Karen Clifton, City Clerk Jessica Foltz, City Attorney 



Meeting Date: July 10, 2023 

From: Sharon Bounds, City Manager 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Resolution -Appointing YVCOG General Membership Voting Representative 

SYNOPSIS: The YVCOG General Membership delegate and alternate were appointed on January 9, 
2023, with James Murr as delegate and Dave Hansen as alternate. Due to the resignation of James 
Murr, the Council needs to appoint a new delegate. At the July 3, 2023 study session, it was determined 
that Jack Galloway would till this position. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a resolution appointing Jack Galloway as the YVCOG General 
Membership delegate. 

LEGAL REVIEW: The City Attorney has reviewed the resolution. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: For 2023 the General Membership Member was James Murr, with 
Dave Hansen as Alternate and Jeff Shoemaker as Planning Commission Member. 

ADDMONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 



~ 

'-..._.~~~~~~~~:...!..:~:'!::!~!!!.:~~=~ 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2023 

From: Sharon Bounds, City Manager 

City Council 
Communication 

Topic/Issue: Resolution - Appointment of Public Safety Council Committee Co-Chair 

SYNOPSIS: James Murr resigned from Council on May 31, 2023 and Council would like to appoint 
Greg Sewell, who was appointed on July 26, 2023 to fill his former Council seat, to replace him as 
Public Safety Committee Co-chair. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a resolution appointing Greg Sewell to replace James Murr as Public 
Safety Committee Co-chair. 

LEGAL REVIEW: The City Attorney has reviewed this resolution. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: N/A 

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 



CITY OF UNION GAP, WASHINGTON 

RESOLUTION NO. __ _ 

A RESOLUTION appointing Greg Sewell as a Public Safety Committee Co-chair. 

WHEREAS, On May 31, 2023 Jam es Murr resigned from council; and 

WHEREAS, at the June 26, 2023 Council meeting the Council appointed Greg Sewell to 
replace former Council Member Murr; and 

WHEREAS, the Council would like to appoint Greg Sewell to replace former Council 
Member Murr as Public Safety Committee Co-chair. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNION GAP, 
WASHINTON, HEREBY RESOLVES as follows: 

The Council hereby appoints Greg Sewell to replace James Murr as a Public Safety 
Council Committee Co-chair. 

PASSED this 10th day of July, 2023 

John Hodkinson, City Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Karen Clifton, City Clerk Jessica Foltz, City Attorney 



CONSENT 

AGENDA 



UNION GAP CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 
UNION GAP COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

Call to Order 

Council Members Present 

Staff Present 

Audience Present 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Consent Agenda 

General Items 

Police 

Ordinance No. - 3047 -
Amending UGMC Chapter 
8.12 Sections 230 - 240 and 
Adding Section 245 
Regarding the Possession 
and use of drugs and drug 
paraphernalia 

Union Gap, Washington 
June 26, 2023, Regular Meeting 

MINUTES 

Mayor Hodkinson called the Regular Meeting of the Union Gap City 
Council to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Council Members Wentz, Galloway, Schilling, and Dailey were 
present. 

City Manager Bounds, City Attorney Foltz, Fire Chief Markham, 
Police Chief Cobb, Public Works/Community Development Director 
Henne, Civil Engineer Dominquez, Deputy Clerk Treasurer Bisconer 
were present. 

See attached list. 

Council Member Galloway led the pledge of allegiance. 

Motion by Council Member Wentz, second by Council Member 
Galloway to approve the consent agenda as follows: 

Regular Council .Meeting ·Minutes dated Jun.e 12, 2023, as attached to 
the agenda and maintained in electronic format. 

Claims Vouchers-EFT's, and Voucher No. 106658through106719 
for June 26, 2023, in the amount of $360,985.18. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

City Attorney Foltz gave an overview, and explained that this 
Ordinance will amend UGMC Chapter 8.12 230 to remove some 
adopted RCW' s that are no longer valid, or not needed, and to update 
the current codes to reflect State law in regard to knowing of 
possession of drugs, which is a gross misdemeanor, as well as the 
knowing of public use, which is also a gross misdemeanor. 



CITY OF UNION GAP REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES-June 26, 2023 

City Manager Report 

Communications/Questions/ 
Comments 

Development of next 
Agenda 

Recess to 10 Minute 
Executive Session 

Reconvene & Appoint 
Council Member 

Adjournment of Meeting 

speeding on Main, and 1st Streets, as well as loud vehicle muffler 
noises. She is aware of at least one animal that has been hit, and does 
not want to be the one that witnesses the next accident. Haynes stated 
that she would be happy to be part of the solution, and not just bring 
the complaint. 

Helen Canatsey distributed flyers regarding another Dining for 
Dollars, to help the Library & Community Center, which will be held 
at Reno's on the Runway Wednesday, June 28, 2023 from 10:00 a.m. 
to 4:00 p.m. 

Tom Naaz stated that he has noticed the speed problem, and would 
like to know what the plan of action will be. Police Chief Cobb stated 
the he just looked, and between 9:00 and 3 :30 today, they had stopped 
seven cars on Main Street. Main Street is part of the focus, they know 
it is an issue, and is part of the summer-wide emphasis, but as for 1st 

Street, they will need to do a census to get a feel for what is actually 
going on, in terms of speeding. 

None. 

None. 

Council Member Galloway stated that they needed to appoint 
YVCOG representative. 

At 6:40 p.m., Mayor Hodkinson adjourned to executive session to 
evaluate the qualifications of a candidate for appointment to elective 
office, per RCW 42.30.110 (h); and the Council may be taking action 
after the executive session. City Council, City Manager and City 
Attorney attended. At 6:50 p.m., Mayor Hodkinson announced a five 
(5) Minute extension. 

At 6:55 p.m., Mayor Hodkinson reconvened the regular Council 
meeting. Council Member Galloway nominated Gregory Sewell for 
the open Council position number 2, second by Council Member 
Wentz. Wentz thanked all of those who applied, and asked that they 
stay involved and active, because it's needed as much as possible. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Mayor Hodkinson adjourned the June 26, 2023 regular Council 
meeting at 6:57 p.m. 

- 3 -



CITY OF UNION GAP REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES-June 26, 2023 

Sharon Bounds, City Manager 
ATTEST: 

Karen Clifton, City Clerk 

- 4 -



\ \yakima_city\ugch\City Clerk\ Council Packet Process\ Preparing Council Packets\Sign In Sheet\SIGN IN SHEET.docx 



' ... ,., ................ , ............. ···-· ·--·-·· ... -····' ·-· .... ~ -···-····-· ...... ·--· - ···~ ... ·-· -· -···· ....... ~ .. . 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2023 

City Council 
Communication 

From: 

Topic/Issue: 

Karen Clifton, Director of Finance and Administration 

Claim Vouchers - July 10, 2023 

SYNOPSIS: Claim Vouchers Dated July 10, 2023 

RECOMMENDATION: Request Council to approve Effs and Voucher Nos. 106720 through 106793, 
in the amount of $1,194,977.96. 

LEGAL REVIEW: N/A 

FINANCIAL REVIEW: N/A 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: N/A 

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Claim Voucher Register 
2. Detailed Claim Voucher Register 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP Time: 14:12:10 Date: 07/05/2023 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 Page: 1 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant Amount Memo 

3712 06/21/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 54.35 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/21/2023 

3729 06/22/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 323.98 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/22/2023 

3761 06/23/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 14.95 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/23/2023 

3762 06/24/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 16.53 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/24/2023 

3802 06/27/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 53.79 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/27/23 

3821 06/29/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 18.46 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/29/2023 

3840 06/29/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 10.71 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/29/23 

3853 07/03/2023 Claims 2 EFT PATHPOINT MERCHANT 2.50 ONLINE PAYMENTS FEE - 06/2023 

SERVICES LLC 
3854 06/30/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 318.85 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -

06/30/23 

3855 07/01/2023 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 7.50 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
07/01/2023 

3858 07/05/2023 Claims 2 EFT XPRESS BILL PAY 617.54 ONLINE PAYMENTS FEE - 06/2023 

3859 07/10/2023 Claims 2 EFT CENTURY LINK 763.74 PUBLIC WORKS - 06/2023; CIVIC 
CENTER TRUNK SVC - 06/2023 

3860 07/10/2023 Claims 2 EFT OFFICE DEPOT-CITY HALL 120.44 BROTHER LC406 HY INK 
CARTRIDGE - MAGENTA; 
BROTHER LC406 HY YELLOW INK 
CARTRIDGE 

3861 07/10/2023 Claims 2 EFT OFFICE DEPOT-PD 18.38 THINGS TO DO PAD - 8.5"X11 

3862 07/10/2023 Claims 2 EFT VERIZON WIRELESS - CH 383.99 CITY HALL CELL SERVICE -

#742100945-0001 06/2023 

3863 07/10/2023 Claims 2 EFT VERIZON WIRELESS - 480.64 PD MODEMS - 06/2023 

PD2#672326319 
3864 07/10/2023 Claims 2 EFT VERIZON WIRELESS - PW 419.96 PW & BLDG/PLANNING CELL 

#542075407 SERVICE - 06/2023 

3865 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106720 AED ADVOCATES, INC. 212.27 HEARTSINE ADULT PAD PAK & 
DONATED RECONDITIONED AED 
HEARTSINE PADS-300 

3866 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106721 AMB TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 59.09 KIT TURBINE GUNS 

3867 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106722 AT&T MOBILITY 270.66 PD MODEMS - 06/2023 

3868 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106723 ATLAS STAFFING INC 8,296.78 SEASONAL PARKS - WEEK 
WORKED 06/17/2023 - CARLS, 
PELCASTRE, RAMIREZ & VANDER 
HOUWEN; SEASONAL PARKS -
WEEK WORKED 06/24/2023 -
CARLS, PELCASTRE, RAMIREZ & 
VAN DER HOUWEN 

3869 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106724 JUAN C. AYALA NAVA 25.00 BUSINESS LICENSE REFUND -
LICENSE #11911 -APPLICATION 
NOT APPROVED 

3870 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106725 BAER TESTING, INC 663.50 LIBRARY & COMMUNITY CENTER 
TESTING - JOB #23-101 

3871 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106726 BASIN DISPOSAL OF YAKIMA LLC 121,276.17 GARBAGE/RECYCLING SERVICE -
06/2023 

3872 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106727 BATIERIES & BULBS 21.79 6PK 6V ALKALINE 28A PH010009 
BATIERIES 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP Time: 14:12:10 Date: 07/05/2023 

01/01/2023 To: 07 /31/2023 Page: 2 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant Amount Memo 

3873 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106728 BURROWS TRACTOR COMPANY 1,749.62 SPINDLE ASSEMBLY FOR PARKS 
MOWER; PARKS MOWER REPAIR -
RELAYS, IGNITION SWITCH, 
POSITIVE BATIERY CABLE & 50 
AMP FUSE 

3874 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106729 CANON FINACIAL SERVICES 186.28 PD COPIER- 06/2023 

3875 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106730 CASCADE VALLEY LUBE 51.93 BASIC SERVICE -VEH #1020 

3876 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106731 CHRISTENSEN, INC. 3,383.08 PD FUEL- 06/16/2023 -
06/30/2023 

3877 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106732 CINTAS CORP #605 71.99 CIVIC CENTER & PD MAT SERVICE 
-06/30/2023 

3878 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106733 CITY OF YAKIMA 80,932.38 WHOLESALE SEWER 3 PARTY 
AGREEMENT - 05/2023 

3879 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106734 COLEMAN OIL COMPANY 5,054.11 PW FU EL/CED FUEL - 06/2023 

3880 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106735 CONCORD CONSTRUCTION, INC. 300, 197.56 LIBRARY & COMMUNITY CENTER 
PROJECT - APPLICATION # 
2302-03 THRU 06/30/2023 

3881 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106736 COPIERS NORTHWEST 225.82 PD COPIER LEASE - 06/2023 

3882 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106737 CORE & MAIN LP 7,902.51 2X17 FLG MACH10 MTR, 2" MTR 
FLANGES, 2 FLG RUBBER GASKETS 
& ZINC BOLTS/NUTS; STARBUCKS 
WATER CONNECTION SUPPLIES; 
UNIVERSAL METER NUT 
WRENCH, NEPTUNE ANTENNAS 
& RUBBER METER WASHERS 

3883 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106738 D & G CLEANING,LLC 6,006.00 ACTIVITIES BLDG/YOUTH BARN 
CLEANING SVC - 06/2023; CIVIC 
CENTER & PD CLEANING SVC -
06/2023 

3884 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106739 E3 SOLUTIONS, INC 3,781.97 CITY IMPOUND BUILDING 
CAMERA & SECURITY ALARM 
SYSTEM 

3885 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106740 EDGE CONSTRUCTION SUPPLY 36.27 PYRAMEX RIDGELINE HAT - FULL 
BRIM WITH WHITE GRAPHITE 

3886 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106741 EDUCATIONAL SERVICE DISTRICT 150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 

105 REFUND - YOUTH BARN RENTAL 
06/15/2023 - RESERVATION 
#5146 

3887 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106742 ELITE TOWING & RECOVERY LLC 102.89 PD TOWING 06/27/2023 - VEH 
#120 

3888 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106743 PATRICK & DANIELLE A. 150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 

ESPINOZA REFUND - YOUTH BARN RENTAL 
06/17/2023 - RESERVATION 
#4872 

3889 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106744 EVERGREEN SERVICES 1,011.99 CIVIC CENTER LAWN SERVICE & 
SPRINKLER SYSTEM 
MAINTENANCE - 06/2023 

3890 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106745 DANIEL FONSECA 150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND - YOUTH BARN RENTAL 
06/24/2023 - RESERVATION 
#5214 

3891 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106746 FRANK'S POINTS 21.64 FLAT REPAIR-VEH #1025 

3892 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106747 FREIGHTLINER NORTHWEST 49.56 ALARM BACK-UP - VEH #2011 

3893 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106748 CARLA HERNANDEZ 150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND - ACTIVITIES BLDG 
RENT AL 06/24/2023 -
RESERVATION #4811 

3894 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106749 HYUNDAI OF YAKIMA 40.06 LUBE, OIL & FILTER - VEH #26 



WARRANT /CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP Time: 14:12:10 Date: 07/05/2023 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 Page: 3 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant Amount Memo 

3895 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106750 INTERSTATE BATIERIES OF 151.57 BA TIE RY FOR PARKS JOHN DEERE 

COLUMBIA VALLEY MOWER 

3896 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106751 JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL 414.23 15 GALLON ROUND TUB & 
FS91/90 TRIMMER BIKE HANDLE 

3897 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106752 KAZCADE ENGRAVING & 190.43 ENGRAVED PLAQUES -YEARS OF 

TROPHIES SERVICE - D. HANSEN & E. 
TURLEY 

3898 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106753 KEN LEINGANG EXCAVATING 948.95 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND - UB 
ACCT #13864 - 2232 GOODMAN 
ROAD 

3899 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106754 GAVIN KNOWLES 108.14 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND - UB 
ACCT #12404 - 3711 2ND STREET 

3900 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106755 LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL POLAGE 8, 100.00 PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 

3901 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106756 PATRICIA LOPEZ 150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND - ACTIVITIES BLDG 
RENTAL 06/17/2023 -
RESERVATION #4818 

3902 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106757 LOWES COMPANY INC 526.71 6-FT X 8-FT REVERSIBLE TARP; 
BATIERIES - AAA, 9V & AA, 
KOMELON SELF LOCK 25-FT TAPE 
MEASURE; 3M SAFETY GLASSES, 
HITCH PINS & ROUND/SQUARE 
WIRE LOCK PINS; WASP/HORNET 
INSECT KILLER, KLEAN STRIP 
ACETON 

3903 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106758 LOWES COMPANY INC 20.03 RANGE SUPPLIES - 3/8" ARROW 
HEAVY DUTY STAPLES; 3" WIRE 
CUP BRUSH FOR PD GRILLS 

3904 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106759 MCCOYS DISTRIBUTING, INC 61.67 SENIOR CENTER BINGO SUPPLIES 
- DAUBERS 

3905 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106760 MEDSTAR CABULANCE, INC. 74,971.31 DIAL A RIDE/FIXED ROUTE -
06/2023 

3906 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106761 MINUTEMAN PRESS 604.58 CREDIT/DEBIT CARD SUPS & 
COLOR LOGO ENVELOPES; UB 
STATEMENTS - 06/2023 

3907 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106762 KEVIN WAYNE MORGAN 19.09 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND - UB 
ACCT #13563 - 3403 2ND STREET 

3908 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106763 OFFICE SOLUTIONS NORTHWEST 155.14 BINDER CLIPS, CLIP BOARDS, 
COPY PAPER, HP 962XL INK 
CARTRIDGES & POST-IT NOTES 

3909 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106764 OWEN EQUIPMENT CO 173. 7 4 PUSH-LOK TEE CONNECTORS -
VEH #2012; SWEEPER PARTS - Y 
CONNECTORS Pl-6-4 MALE & 
UNION Y CONNECTORS - Pl-6 
TUBE - VEH #2012 

3910 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106765 OXARCINC 35.37 VGUARD 4 MIL NITRILE GLOVES -
MED 

3911 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106766 PACIFIC POWER 12,714.23 WELLS - 06/2023 & AREA LIGHTS 
- 06/2023 

3912 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106767 PAPE MACHINERY, INC. 168.81 JOHN DEERE 15W-40 OIL & OIL 
FILTERS 

3913 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106768 REPUBLIC PUBLISHING CO 92.40 NOTICE OF IN-PERSON LTAC 
MEETING - 06/27/2023 

3914 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106769 RIO FOLTZ PLLC 8,500.00 CITY ATIORNEY - 06/2023 

3915 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106770 SHERWIN-WILLIAMS COMPANY 589.36 STREET PAINT SUPPLIES - ELASTIC 
BAG STRAINERS; PAINT FOR 
PARKS - SW 7652 MINERAL 
DEPOSIT, UG PICNIC GREEN & 
COLOR MATCH 



WARRANT /CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP Time: 14:12:10 Date: 07/05/2023 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 Page: 4 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant Amount Memo 

3916 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106771 SIX ROBBLEES INC 109.13 PARK SUPPLIES - 7-WAY RV 
VEHICLE TO 4-FLAT TRAILER 
ADAPTER & 2"X27' RATCHET 
STRAP 

3917 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106772 DON C. SMITH 1,581.30 LEOFF 1 RETIREE RX; LEOFF 1 
RETIREE - MASSAGE THERAPY -
03/23/2023, 03/28/2023 & 
03/30/2023; LEOFF 1 RETIREE -
MASSAGE THERAPY - 04/06, 11, 
13, 18, 20, 25/2023; LEOFF 1 
RETIREE - MASSAGE THERAPY -
05/ 

3918 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106773 THE REAL YELLOW PAGES 321.02 PARK AD - 06/2023 

3919 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106774 PATRICK THOMPSON 164.90 MEDICARE PREMIUM - 07/2023 

3920 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106775 TRANS-ACTION 1,000.00 2023 TRANS-ACTION 
MEMBERSHIP ASSESSMENT 

3921 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106776 TRAVELERS 40.00 NOTARY BOND - R. PINA 

3922 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106777 U.S. LINEN & UNIFORM 669.12 PW UNIFORM SERVICE -
06/05/2023 - 06/26/2023 

3923 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106778 UNION GAP WATER FUND & 15,327.37 FIRE DEPT - 107 W. AHTANUM 

SEWER ROAD - 06/2023; CIVIC CAMPUS -
102 W. AHTANUM ROAD -
06/2023; CITY SHOP - 06/2023, 
PARKS - 06/2023 & STREETS -
06/2023 

3924 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106779 UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE 424.00 P.O. BOX 3008 - 2023 RENEWAL 

3925 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106780 UNUM LIFE INSURANCE 135.30 LEOFF 1 LONG TERM CARE -
07/2023 

3926 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106781 UPS 35.32 PD SHIPPING - 06/2023 

3927 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106782 VALLEY LOCK & KEY SERVICE 363.89 SERVICE CALL 06/14/2023 @3007 
2ND STREET - REPLACE EXISTING 
LEVER; 3 DUPLICATE KEYS - PRICE 
LEVEL 3 - ACTIV!T!ES BLDG 

3928 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106783 VIC'S AUTO & SUPPLY UNION 86.22 SPARK PLUG, CARBURETOR 

GAP- PW CLEANER, MOTOR TUNE-UP & 
WIPER BLADES 

3929 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106784 WA ASSN OF SHERIFFS & 375.00 FULL CONFERENCE 
REGISTRATION MEMBER - G. 
COBB 

3930 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106785 WA STATE DEPT OF LICENSING 108.00 CPLS - JUNE 2023 

3931 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106786 WA STATE DEPT OF 1,513.74 SIGNAL MAINTENANCE, REPAIR 

TRANSPORTATION & ADDITIONS - 05/2023 

3932 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106787 WA STATE PATROL 13.25 BACKGROUND CHECKS - 06/2023 

3933 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106788 BARRY M WOODARD 17,620.00 PUBLIC DEFENDER & 
INTERPRETING SERVICE - 06/2023 

3934 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106789 YAKIMA CITY TREASURER 35,743.48 POLICE DISPATCH FEE & 
SURCHARGE - 2ND QTR 2023 

3935 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106790 YAKIMA CITY TREASURER 444,219.50 UNION GAP FIRE PROTECTION 
SERVICE - 2ND QTR 2023 

3936 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106791 YAKIMA CITY TREASURER 19,895.03 IT SVCS - 2ND QTR 2023 -
DESKTOP, MOBILE & POLICE C/E 

3937 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106792 YAKIMA CO PUBLIC SERVICES 179.40 YARD WASTE & GARBAGE 
DISPOSAL 

3938 07/10/2023 Claims 2 106793 YAKIMA VALLEY TOURISM 500.00 STATE OF WASHINGTON 
TOURISM - BASIC MEMBERSHIP 
2023 

001 Current Expense Fund 573,006.81 
101 Street Fund 5,929.01 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

Trans Date 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Type Acct # War# Claimant 

107 Convention Center Reserve Fund 
108 Tourism Promotion Area Fund 
111 Library & Community Center Fund 
114 Seniors Activity Fund 
123 Criminal Justice Fund 
127 Commute Trip Reduction Fund 
128 Transit System Fund 
170 Housing Rehabilitation Fund 
401 Water Fund 
402 Garbaqe Fund 
403 Sewer Fund 
414 Water Deposits 
630 General State/County-Shared Rev Fund 

Time: 14:12:10 Date: 07/05/2023 

Amount Memo 

500.00 
92.40 

300,197.56 
61.67 

4,132.54 
4.97 

75,604.86 
663.50 

22,230.21 
122,399.94 
88,970.31 

1,076.18 
108.00 

----Claims: 
1,194,977.96 

Page: 5 

1,194,977.96 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant 

3712 06/21/202E Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3729 06/22/2022 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3761 06/23/2022 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3762 06/24/2022 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3802 06/27 /202E Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3821 06/29/202E Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3840 06/29/202E Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3853 07 /03/202E Claims 2 EFT PATHPOINT MERCHANT 
SERVICES LLC 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3854 06/30/2022 Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3855 07 /01/202E Claims 2 EFT MERCHANT SERVICES 

401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3858 07 /05/2022 Claims 2 EFT XPRESS BILL PAY 

001 - S24 20 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS-BUILDING 
401 - S34 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
403 - S3S SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
402 - S37 SO 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 
001 - SS8 60 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 

3859 07 /10/2022 Claims 2 EFT CENTURY LINK 

18.12 
18.12 
18.11 

107.99 
107.99 
108.00 

4.98 
4.98 
4.99 

S.S1 
S.51 
S.51 

17.93 
17.93 
17.93 

6.1 S 
6.16 
6.1S 

3.S7 
3.57 
3.S7 

0.83 
0.83 
0.84 

106.28 
106.28 
106.29 

2.50 
2.SO 
2.SO 

123.50 
123.51 
123.SO 
123.50 
123.S3 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 
Page: 

07/05/2023 
1 

Amount Memo 

54.35 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -

06/21/2023 

323.98 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/22/2023 

14.95 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/23/2023 

16.53 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/24/2023 

53.79 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/27/23 

18.46 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/29/2023 

10. 71 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -

06/29/23 

2.50 ONLINE PAYMENTS FEE - 06/2023 

318.85 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
06/30/23 

7.50 CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS FEE -
07/01/2023 

617.54 ONLINE PAYMENTS FEE - 06/2023 

763. 74 PUBLIC WORKS - 06/2023; CIVIC 
CENTER TRUNK SVC - 06/2023 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

Trans Date 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Type Acct# War# Claimant 

001 - S13 10 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES - EXEC 
001 - S14 23 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-FINAi\ 
001 - S14 30 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES - CLER 
001 - S1 S 31 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-LEGAL 
001 - S21 SO 47 00 - PD FACILITIES CIVIC CAMP UTIL 
001 - S24 10 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITY-BUILDll\ 
401 - S34 SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 
401 - S34 SO 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-WATE 
403 - S3S SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 
403 - S3S SO 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-SEWEI 
402 - S37 SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 
402 - S37 SO 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITES - GARB 
101 - S42 30 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-STREE 
101 - S43 30 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 
101 - S43 30 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-STREE 
128 - S47 10 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-TRAN~ 
001 - SS8 60 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-PLAN! 
001 - S76 80 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-PARK 

30.90 
43.10 
38.7S 
18.7S 

392.41 
19.79 
37.70 
17.9S 
37.70 
13.03 
37.70 

1.37 
2.47 

37.70 
6.S9 
S.S2 

17.17 
S.14 

3860 07/10/202E Claims 2 EFT OFFICE DEPOT-CITY HALL 

401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3861 07/10/202E Claims 2 EFT OFFICE DEPOT-PD 

001 - S21 10 31 00 - PD ADMIN SUPPLIES 

3862 07 /10/202E Claims 2 EFT VERIZON WIRELESS - CH 
#742100945-0001 

001 - S11 60 42 01 - COMMUNICATION 
001 - S13 10 42 01 - COMMUNICATION 

3863 07/10/202E Claims 2 EFT VERIZON WIRELESS -
PD2#672326319 

12.04 
12.04 
12.04 
12.04 
12.04 
12.04 
12.04 
12.04 
12.06 
12.06 

18.38 

332.03 
S1.96 

001 - S21 10 42 00 - PD ADMIN COMMUNICATIONS 480.64 

3864 07/10/202E Claims 2 EFT VERIZON WIRELESS - PW 
#542075407 

001 - S24 20 42 00 - COMMUNICATION-BUILDING 20.96 
401 - S34 SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 7S.61 
403 - S3S SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 7S.61 
402 - S37 SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 7S.61 
101 - S42 30 42 00 - COMMUNICATIONS 7S.61 
001 - SS8 60 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 20.96 
001 - S76 80 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 7S.60 

3865 07/10/202E Claims 2 106720 AED ADVOCATES, INC. 

001 - S21SO31 00 - PD FACILITIES SUPPLIES 212.27 

3866 07/10/202E Claims 2 106721 AMB TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 

403 - S3S SO 3S 00 - SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT S9.09 

3867 07/10/202E Claims 2 106722 AT&T MOBILITY 

001 - S21 10 42 00 - PD ADMIN COMMUNICATIONS 270.66 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07 /05/2023 
Page: 2 

Amount Memo 

120.44 BROTHER LC406 HY INK CARTRIDGE 
- MAGENTA; BROTHER LC406 HY 
YELLOW INK CARTRIDGE 

18.38 THINGS TO DO PAD - 8.S"X11 

383.99 CITY HALL CELL SERVICE - 06/2023 

480.64 PD MODEMS - 06/2023 

419.96 PW & BLDG/PLANNING CELL 
SERVICE - 06/2023 

212.27 HEARTSINE ADULT PAD PAK & 
DONATED RECONDITIONED AED 
HEARTSINE PADS-300 

59.09 KIT TURBINE GUNS 

270.66 PD MODEMS - 06/2023 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant 

3868 07 /10/202: Claims 2 106723 ATLAS STAFFING INC 

001 - S76 80 41 00 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES-ATLA 
001 - S76 80 41 00 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES-ATLA 

3869 07/10/202: Claims 2 106724 JUAN C. AYALA NAVA 

001 - S14 81 00 00 - LICENSING EXPENDITURES 

3870 07/10/202: Claims 2 106725 BAER TESTING, INC 

170 - S94 72 62 43 - LIBRARY & COMMUNITY CENTE 

4,141.90 
4,1S4.88 

2S.OO 

663.SO 

3871 07 /10/202: Claims 2 106726 BASIN DISPOSAL OF YAKIMA 
LLC 

402 - S37 60 49 00 - CONTRACTED SERVICES 121,276.17 

3872 07/10/202: Claims 2 106727 BATTERIES & BULBS 

401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3873 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106728 BURROWS TRACTOR 

001 - S76 80 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
001 - S76 80 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 

21.79 

292.44 
1,4S7.18 

3874 07/10/202: Claims 2 106729 CANON FINACIAL SERVICES 

001 - S91 21 70 09 - SBITA TECH LEASE - POLICE 

3875 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106730 CASCADE VALLEY LUBE 

401 - S34 SO 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
403 - S3S SO 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
101 - S42 30 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
101 - S42 66 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
101 - S42 67 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
101 - S42 70 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
128 - S47 10 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 

3876 07/10/202: Claims 2 106731 CHRISTENSEN, INC. 

001 - S21 10 32 00 - PD ADMIN FUEL 
001 - S21 21 32 00 - INVESTIGATION FUEL 
001 - S21 22 32 00 - PATROL FUEL 

3877 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106732 CINTAS CORP #605 

186.28 

20.77 
7.79 
7.79 
2.60 
2.60 
7.79 
2.S9 

S60.98 
400.82 

2,421.28 

001 - S13 10 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 3.63 
001 - S14 23 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- S.06 
001 - S14 30 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 4.SS 
001 - S1S 314800- CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 2.20 
001 - S21 SO 48 01 - PD FACILITIES CIVIC CAMPUS M 46.09 
001 - S24 20 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 2.32 
401 - S34 SO 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 2.11 
403 - S3S SO 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 1.S4 
402 - S37 SO 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 0.16 
101 - S42 30 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 0.29 
101 - S43 30 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 0.77 
128 - S47 10 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 0.6S 
001 - SS8 60 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE- 2.02 
001 - S76 80 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE 0.60 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 
Page: 

07/05/2023 
3 

Amount Memo 

8,296. 78 SEASONAL PARKS· WEEK WORKED 
06/17/2023 - CARLS, PELCASTRE, 
RAMIREZ & VANDER HOUWEN; 

SEASONAL PARKS - WEEK WORKED 

06/24/2023 - CARLS, PELCASTRE, 
RAMIREZ & VANDER HOUWEN 

25.00 BUSINESS LICENSE REFUND -
LICENSE #11911 -APPLICATION 

NOT APPROVED 

663.50 LIBRARY & COMMUNITY CENTER 
TESTING - JOB #23-101 

121,276.17 GARBAGE/RECYCLING SERVICE -
06/2023 

21.79 6PK6VALKALINE28APH010009 
BATTERIES 

1, 7 49.62 SPINDLE ASSEMBLY FOR PARKS 
MOWER; PARKS MOWER REPAIR -
RELAYS, IGNITION SWITCH, 

POSITIVE BATTERY CABLE & 50 AMP 
FUSE 

186.28 PD COPIER • 06/2023 

51.93 BASIC SERVICE-VEH #1020 

3,383.08 PD FUEL· 06/16/2023 - 06/30/2023 

71.99 CIVIC CENTER & PD MAT SERVICE 
-06/30/2023 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07 /31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant 

3878 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106733 CITY OF YAKIMA 

403 - S3S SO 41 03 - INTERGOVERNMENTAL PROFES 80,932.38 

3879 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106734 COLEMAN OIL COMPANY 

001 - S24 20 32 00 - FUEL-BUILDING 22.86 
001 - S24 20 32 00 - FUEL-BUILDING 33.S8 
403 - S31 30 32 00 - STORMWATER FUEL 183.S3 
401 - S34 SO 32 00 - FUEL 1,170.66 
401 - S34 SO 32 00 - FUEL 22.86 
403 - S3S SO 32 00 - FUEL 1,331.04 
403 - S3S SO 32 00 - FUEL 22.86 
402 - S37 SO 32 00 - FUEL 7S.23 
101 - S42 30 32 00 - FUEL SS6.94 
101 - S42 30 32 00 - FUEL 22.8S 
101 - S42 66 32 00 - FUEL 374.09 
101 - S42 67 32 00 - FUEL S 1.19 
101 - S42 70 32 00 - FUEL 373.11 
128 - S47 10 32 00 - FUEL CONSUMED 147.93 
001 - SS8 60 32 00 - FUEL 22.86 
001 - SS8 60 32 00 - FUEL 33.S7 
001 - S76 80 32 00 - FUEL 608.9S 

3880 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106735 CONCORD CONSTRUCTION, 
INC. 

111 - S94 72 60 43 - LIBRARY /COMM CENTER-CONS 300, 197.S6 

3881 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106736 COPIERS NORTHWEST 

001 - S91 21 70 09 - SBITA TECH LEASE - POLICE 

3882 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106737 CORE & MAIN LP 

401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3883 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106738 D & G CLEANING,LLC 

001 - S13 10 41 02 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL 
001 - S14 23 41 03 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-FIN 
001 - S14 30 41 02 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL - CL 
001 - S1 S 31 41 OS - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL -LE< 
001 - S21 SO 41 01 - PD FACILITIES CIVIC CAMPUS J/. 
001 - S24 20 41 02 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-BUI 
401 - S34 SO 41 03 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-WA 
403 - S3S SO 41 04 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-SEV 
402 - S37 SO 41 03 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-GAi 
101 - S42 30 41 03 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-SH 
101 - S43 30 41 02 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-SH 
128 - S4710 41 03 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-TRI 
001 - SS8 60 41 02 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-PU 
001 - S76 80 41 01 - PROF SVC- WHITE GLOVE CLEAi 
001 - S76 80 41 02 - CIVIC CAMPUS JANITORIAL-PAI 

3884 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106739 E3 SOLUTIONS, INC 

123 - S94 21 64 23 - MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT 

22S.82 

1,386.10 
S,94S.SS 

S70.86 

22S.07 
313.94 
282.31 
136.S9 

2,8S8.SO 
144.16 
130.74 
9S.09 

9.9S 
17.98 
48.01 
40.19 

12S.OS 
1,S41.00 

37.42 

3,781.97 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07/05/2023 
Page: 4 

Amount Memo 

80,932.38 WHOLESALE SEWER 3 PARTY 
AGREEMENT • 05/2023 

5,054.11 PW FUEL/CED FUEL· 06/2023 

300, 197.56 LIBRARY & COMMUNITY CENTER 
PROJECT· APPLICATION # 2302-03 
THRU 06/30/2023 

225.82 PD COPIER LEASE • 06/2023 

7,902.51 2X17 FLG MACH10 MTR, 2" MTR 
FLANGES, 2 FLG RUBBER GASKETS & 
ZINC BOLTS/NUTS; STARBUCKS 
WATER CONNECTION SUPPLIES; 
UNIVER.."Al METER NUT WRENCH, 
NEPTUNE ANTENNAS & RUBBER 
METER WASHERS 

6,006.00 ACTIVITIES BLDG/YOUTH BARN 
CLEANING SVC • 06/2023; CIVIC 
CENTER & PD CLEANING SVC· 
06/2023 

3, 781.97 CITY IMPOUND BUILDING CAMERA 
& SECURITY ALARM SYSTEM 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant 

3885 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106740 EDGE CONSTRUCTION SUPPLY 

401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3886 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106741 EDUCATIONAL SERVICE 
DISTRICT 1 OS 

001 - S82 10 00 03 - PARK DEPOSIT REFUND 

7.2S 
7.2S 
7.2S 
7.2S 
7.27 

1SO.OO 

3887 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106742 ELITE TOWING & RECOVERY 
LLC 

001 - S212248 00 - PATROL REPAIRS & MAINT 

3888 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106743 PATRICK & DANIELLE A. 
ESPINOZA 

001 - S82 10 00 03 - PARK DEPOSIT REFUND 

3889 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106744 EVERGREEN SERVICES 

001 - S13 10 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
001 - S14 23 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
001 - S14 30 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
001 - S1S 314800 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
001 - S21 SO 48 01 - PD FACILITIES CIVIC CAMPUS M 
001 - S24 20 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
401 - S34 SO 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
403 - S3S SO 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
402 - S37 SO 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
101 - S42 30 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
101 - S43 30 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
128 - S47 10 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
001 - SS8 60 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE-
001 - S76 80 48 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS MAINTENANCE 

3890 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106745 DANIEL FONSECA 

001 - S82 10 00 03 - PARK DEPOSIT REFUND 

3891 07 /10/202:: Claims 2 106746 FRANK'S POINTS 

102.89 

1SO.OO 

S1.01 
71.1 S 
63.98 
30.96 

647.88 
32.67 
29.63 
21.S8 

2.2S 
4.07 

10.88 
9.11 

28.34 
8.48 

1SO.OO 

403 - S31 30 48 00 - STORMWATER REPAIRS & MAI~ 1.08 
401 - S34 SO 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE S.41 
403 - S3S SO 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 4.33 
101 - S42 30 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 3.2S 
101 - S42 66 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1.08 
101 - S42 67 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1.08 
101 - S42 70 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1.08 
128 - S47 10 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1.08 
001 - S76 80 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 3.2S 

3892 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106747 FREIGHTLINER NORTHWEST 

403 - S31 30 48 00 - STORMWATER REPAIRS & MAI~ 2.48 
401 - S34 SO 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 9.91 
403 - S3S SO 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 37.17 

3893 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106748 CARLA HERNANDEZ 

001 - S82 10 00 03 - PARK DEPOSIT REFUND 1SO.OO 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 
Page: 

07/05/2023 
5 

Amount Memo 

36.27 PYRAMEX RIDGELINE HAT - FULL 
BRIM WITH WHITE GRAPHITE 

150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND -YOUTH BARN RENTAL 
06/15/2023 - RESERVATION #5146 

102.89 PD TOWING 06/27 /2023 - VEH #120 

150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND· YOUTH BARN RENTAL 
06/17/2023 - RESERVATION #4872 

1,011.99 CIVIC CENTER LAWN SERVICE & 
SPRINKLER SYSTEM MAINTENANCE 
• 06/2023 

150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND· YOUTH BARN RENTAL 
06/24/2023 - RESERVATION #5214 

21.64 FlAT REPAIR· VEH #102S 

49.56 ALARM BACK-UP· VEH #2011 

150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND - ACTIVITIES BLDG RENTAL 
06/24/2023 - RESERVATION #4811 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07 /05/2023 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 Page: 6 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant Amount Memo 

3894 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106749 HYUNDAI OF YAKIMA 40.06 LUBE, OIL & FILTER· VEH #26 

001 - 521 21 48 00 - INVESTIGATION REPAIRS & MA 40.06 

3895 07/10/202: Claims 2 106750 INTERSTATE BATIERIES OF 151.57 BATTERY FOR PARKS JOHN DEERE 

COLUMBIA VALLEY MOWER 

001 - 576 80 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 151.57 

3896 07 /101202:: Claims 2 106751 JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL 414.23 15 GALLON ROUND TUB & FS91/90 
TRIMMER BIKE HANDLE 

001 - 511 60 31 01 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
001 - 513 10 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
001 - 514 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
001 - 524 20 31 00 - SUPPLIES-BUILDING 2.21 
401 - 534 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
401 - 534 50 35 00 - SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 77.97 
403 - 535 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
403 - 535 50 35 00 - SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 77.97 
402 - 537 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
402 - 537 50 35 00 - SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 77.97 
101 - 542 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
101 - 542 30 35 00 - SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 77.97 
001 - 558 60 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.21 
001 - 576 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 2.26 
001 - 576 80 35 00 - SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT 77.99 

3897 07/10/202: Claims 2 106752 KAZCADE ENGRAVING & 190.43 ENGRAVED PLAQUES ·YEARS OF 

TROPHIES 
SERVICE • D. HANSEN & E. TURLEY 

001 - 511 60 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 90.89 
001 - 521 22 49 00 - PATROL MISCELLANEOUS 99.54 

3898 07 /101202: Claims 2 106753 KEN LEINGANG EXCAVATING 948.95 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND· UB ACCT 

INC. 
#13864 • 2232 GOODMAN ROAD 

414 - 582 10 04 14 - DEPOSIT REFUND 948.95 Refund Utility Deposit 

3899 07 /10/2022 Claims 2 106754 GAVIN KNOWLES 108.14 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND· UB ACCT 
#12404 • 3711 2ND STREET 

414 - 582 10 04 14 - DEPOSIT REFUND 108.14 Refund Utility Deposit 

3900 07/10/202: Claims 2 106755 LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL 
POLA GE 

001 - 515 91 41 03 - LEGAL SERVICES-PUBLIC DEFEN 8, 100.00 

3901 07/10/202: Claims 2 106756 PATRICIA LOPEZ 

001 - 582 10 00 03 - PARK DEPOSIT REFUND 150.00 

3902 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106757 LOWES COMPANY INC 

001 - 511 60 31 01 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 511 60 31 01 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 511 60 31 01 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 513 10 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 513 10 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
127 - 513 10 31 27 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

7.01 
4.21 
4.94 
7.01 
4.21 
4.97 
7.01 
4.21 

8, 100.00 PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 

150.00 CLEANING/DAMAGE DEPOSIT 
REFUND ·ACTIVITIES BLDG RENTAL 

06/17/2023 ·RESERVATION #4818 

526.71 6-FT X 8-FT REVERSIBLE TARP; 
BATTERIES ·AAA, 9V & AA; 
KOMELON SELF LOCK 2S·FT TAPE 

MEASURE; 3M SAFETY GLASSES, 
HITCH PINS & ROUND/SQUARE 

WIRE LOCK PINS; WASP/HORNET 

INSECT KILLER. KLEAN STRIP 

ACETON 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant 

001 - S14 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S14 30 31 00 SUPPLIES 
001 - S14 30 31 00 SUPPLIES 
001 - S14 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S21 SO 31 00 - PD FACILITIES SUPPLIES 
001 - S24 20 31 00 SUPPLIES-BUILDING 
001 - S24 20 31 00 - SUPPLIES-BUILDING 
001 - S24 20 31 00 - SUPPLIES-BUILDING 
001 - S24 20 31 00 - SUPPLIES-BUILDING 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00- SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - S3S SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - S37 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 SUPPLIES 
101 - S42 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
128 - S47 10 31 00 - OFFICE & OPERATING SUPPLIES 
128 - S47 10 31 00 - OFFICE & OPERATING SUPPLIES 
128 - S47 10 31 00 - OFFICE & OPERATING SUPPLIES 
128 - S47 10 31 00 - OFFICE & OPERATING SUPPLIES 
001 - SS8 60 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - SS8 60 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - SS8 60 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - SS8 60 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 576 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 576 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3903 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106758 LOWES COMPANY INC 

4.97 
7.01 
4.21 
4.97 
4.97 
7.01 
1.8S 
4.21 
4.97 
2.06 
7.01 
1.85 
4.21 

33.46 
4.97 
2.06 
7.01 
1.85 
4.21 

25.71 
4.97 
2.06 
7.01 
4.21 

28.41 
7.71 

-7.71 
4.97 

13.32 
2.06 
7.01 
1.85 

23.65 
4.21 
4.97 

28.40 
7.71 

-7.71 
13.32 

7.01 
1.8S 
4.21 
4.97 
2.04 
7.01 

44.16 
61.47 
4.19 
4.97 

S2.27 

001 - 5214031 00 - PD TRAINING SUPPLIES 13.36 
001 - 521 50 31 00 - PD FACILITIES SUPPLIES 6.67 

3904 07/10/202: Claims 2 106759 MCCOYS DISTRIBUTING, INC 

114-S71213114-SUPPLIES-SENIORCENTER 61.67 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07 /05/2023 
Page: 7 

Amount Memo 

20.03 RANGE SUPPLIES - 3/8" ARROW 
HEAVY DUTY STAPLES; 3" WIRE CUP 
BRUSH FOR PO GRILLS 

61.67 SENIOR CENTER BINGO SUPPLIES· 
DAUBERS 

3905 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106760 MEDSTARCABULANCE, INC. 74,971.31 OIALARIOE/FIXEDROUTE-06/2023 

128 - S47 10 49 00 - TRANSIT SERVICE PAYMENT 74,971.31 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct # War# Claimant 

3906 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106761 MINUTEMAN PRESS 

001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - 534 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - 534 SO 41 00 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
403 - 535 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - 535 50 41 00 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
402 - 537 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - 537 50 41 00 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

3907 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106762 KEVIN WAYNE MORGAN 

145.12 
145.12 
40.45 
64.33 
40.45 
64.33 
40.44 
64.34 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07/05/2023 
Page: 8 

Amount Memo 

604.58 CREDIT/DEBIT CARD SLIPS & COLOR 
LOGO ENVELOPES; UB STATEMENTS 
- 06/2023 

19.09 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND - UB ACCT 
#13563 - 3403 2ND STREET 

414 - 582 10 0414 - DEPOSIT REFUND 19.09 Refund Utility Deposit 

3908 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106763 OFFICE SOLUTIONS 

001 - 511 60 31 01 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 513 10 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 23 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 514 30 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

NORTHWEST 

001 - 521 10 31 00 - PD ADMIN SUPPLIES 
001 - 524 20 31 00 - SUPPLIES-BUILDING 
401 - 534 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
401 - S34 SO 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - 535 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
403 - 535 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - 537 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
402 - 537 50 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - 576 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3909 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106764 OWEN EQUIPMENT CO 

403 - 531 30 48 00 - STORMWATER REPAIRS & MAI~ 
403 - 5313048 00 - STORMWATER REPAIRS & MAI~ 
401 - 534 50 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 
401 - 534 50 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 

3910 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106765 OXARC INC 

101 - 542 70 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

3911 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106766 PACIFIC POWER 

401 - 534 50 47 00 - UTILITIES 
001 - 576 80 47 00 - UTILITIES 

3912 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106767 PAPE MACHINERY, INC. 

001 - 576 80 48 00 - REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 

0.13 
1.06 
2.70 

10.34 
92.23 

2.69 
23.61 
0.37 

15.43 
1.51 
0.70 
1.51 
0.60 
1.51 
0.60 
" 11:v. 1~ 

88.30 
76.7S 
4.6S 
4.04 

35.37 

11,23S.32 
1,478.91 

168.81 

3913 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106768 REPUBLIC PUBLISHING CO 

108 - 557 30 44 14 - ADVERTISING-GENERAL (LTAC ! 92.40 

3914 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106769 RIO FOLTZ PLLC 

001 - 515 31 41 01 - LEGAL SERVICES-CIVIL - CITY Al 8,S00.00 

155.14 BINDER CLIPS, CLIP BOARDS, COPY 
PAPER. HP 962XL INK CARTRIDGES 
& POST-IT NOTES 

173.74 PUSH-LOK TEE CONNECTORS - VEH 
#2012; SWEEPER PARTS - V 
CONNECTORS Pl-6-4 MALE & 
UNION Y CONNECTORS - Pl-6 TUBE 
- VEH #2012 

35.37 VGUARD 4 MIL NITRILE GLOVES -
MED 

12, 714.23 WELLS - 06/2023 & AREA LIGHTS -
06/2023 

168.81 JOHN DEERE 15W-4001L &OIL 
FILTERS 

92.40 NOTICE OF IN-PERSON LTAC 
MEETING - 06/27/2023 

8,500.00 CITY ATTORNEY - 06/2023 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct# War# Claimant 

3915 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106770 SHERWIN-WILLIAMS 

101 - S42 64 31 00 - SUPPLIES 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 

COMPANY 

S8.21 
S31.1 s 

3916 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106771 SIX ROBBLEES INC 

001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 109.13 

3917 07/10/202: Claims 2 106772 DON C. SMITH 

001 - S21 10 22 00 - LEOFF 1 BENEFITS 
001 - S21 10 22 00 - LEOFF 1 BENEFITS 
001 - S21 10 22 00 - LEOFF 1 BENEFITS 
001 - S21 10 22 00 - LEOFF 1 BENEFITS 

21.30 
390.00 
780.00 
390.00 

3918 07/10/202: Claims 2 106773 THE REAL YELLOW PAGES 

001 - S76 80 44 00 - ADVERTISING 321.02 

3919 07/10/202: Claims 2 106774 PATRICK THOMPSON 

001 - S21 10 22 00 - LEOFF 1 BENEFITS 164.90 

3920 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106775 TRANS-ACTION 

101 - S42 30 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 1,000.00 

3921 07/10/202:: Claims 2 106776 TRAVELERS 

001 - S2110 49 01 - PD CLERICAL MISCELLANEOUS 40.00 

3922 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106777 U.S. LINEN & UNIFORM 

401 - S34 SO 21 00 - UNIFORMS & EQUIPMENT 140.S2 
403 - S3S SO 21 00 - UNIFORMS & EQUIPMENT 140.S2 
402 - S37 SO 21 00 - UNIFORMS & EQUIPMENT 46.84 
101 - S42 30 21 00 - UNIFORMS & EQUIPMENT 140.S2 
128 - S47 10 21 00 - UNIFORMS & EQUIPMENT 86.96 
001 - S76 80 21 00 - UNIFORMS & EQUIPMENT 113.76 

3923 07 /10/202: Claims 2 106778 UNION GAP WATER FUND & 
SEWER 

001 - S13 10 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES- EXEC 
001 - S14 23 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-FINAi\ 
001 - S14 30 47 00 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES - CLER 
001 - S1S 314700 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-LEGAL 
001 - S21 so 47 00 - PD FACILITIES CIVIC CAMP um 
001 - S22 SO 47 00 - FD FACILITIES - UTILITIES 
001 - S24 10 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITY-BUILDlfl 
401 - S34 SO 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-WATE 
403 - S3S 50 47 00 - UTILITIES 
403 - S3S 50 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-SEWEI 
402 - S37 SO 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITES - GARB 
101 - S42 30 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-STREE 
101 - S43 30 47 00 - UTILITIES 
101 - S43 30 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-STREE 
128 - S47 10 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-TRAN~ 

60.10 
83.83 
7S.38 
36.47 

763.31 
170.76 

38.SO 
34.91 

4.429.S1 
2S.41 

2.66 
4.80 

826.34 
12.82 
10.73 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07 /05/2023 
Page: 9 

Amount Memo 

589.36 STREET PAINT SUPPLIES • ELASTIC 
BAG STRAINERS; PAINT FOR PARKS 
·SW 7652 MINERAL DEPOSIT, UG 
PICNIC GREEN & COLOR MATCH 

109.13 PARK SUPPLIES- 7-WAY RV 
VEHICLE TO 4-FLAT TRAILER 
ADAPTER & 2"X27' RATCHET STRAP 

1,581.30 LEOFF 1 RETIREE RX; LEOFF 1 
RETIREE • MASSAGE THERAPY • 
03/23/2023, 03/28/2023 & 
03/30/2023; LEOFF 1 RETIREE • 
MASSAGE THERAPY· 04/06, 11, 13, 
18, 20, 25/2023; LEOFF 1 RETIREE· 
MASSAGE THERAPY· 05/ 

321.02 PARK AD· 06/2023 

164.90 MEDICARE PREMIUM· 07/2023 

1,000.00 2023 TRANS-ACTION MEMBERSHIP 
ASSESSMENT 

40.00 NOTARY BOND· R. PINA 

669.12 PW UNiFORM SERVICE· 06/05i2023 
- 06/26/2023 

15,327.37 FIRE DEPT· 107 W. AHTANUM 
ROAD • 06/2023; CIVIC CAMPUS • 
102 W. AHTANUM ROAD· 06/2023; 
CITY SHOP· 06/2023, PARKS· 
06/2023 & STREETS • 06/2023 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

Trans Date 

01/01/2023 To: 07/31/2023 

Type Acct # War # Claimant 

001 - SS8 60 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-PLANr 
001 - S76 80 47 00 - UTILITIES 
001 - 576 80 47 01 - CIVIC CAMPUS UTILITIES-PARK 

33.39 
8,708.46 

9.99 

3924 07/10/202; Claims 2 106779 UNITED STATES POSTAL 
SERVICE 

001 - S11 60 42 01 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 
001 - 513 10 42 01 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 
001 - S14 23 42 00- COMMUNICATIONS 42.40 
001 - S14 30 42 00 - COMMUNICATIONS 42.40 
001 - 524 20 42 00 - COMMUNICATION-BUILDING 42.40 
401 - S34 SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 
403 - S3S SO 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 
402 - S37 50 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 
101 - S43 30 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 
001 - 576 80 42 00 - COMMUNICATION 42.40 

3925 07/10/202: Claims 2 106780 UNUM LIFE INSURANCE 

001 - 521 10 22 00 - LEOFF 1 BENEFITS 13S.30 

3926 07/10/202: Claims 2 106781 UPS 

001 - S21 10 42 00 - PD ADMIN COMMUNICATIONS 3S.32 

3927 07/10/202: Claims 2 106782 VALLEY LOCK & KEY SERVICE 

123 - S21 22 41 23 - CJ PROFESSIONAL SVC 3S0.57 
001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 13.32 

3928 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106783 VIC'S AUTO & SUPPLY UNION 
GAP- PW 

001 - S76 80 31 00 - SUPPLIES 86.22 

3929 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106784 WA ASSN OF SHERIFFS & 

001 - S21 40 49 00 - PD TRAINING MISCELLANEOUS 37S.OO 

3930 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106785 WA STATE DEPT OF LICENSING 

630 - 589 30 02 01 - WEAPONS PERMIT STATE SHAR 108.00 

3931 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106786 WA STATE DEPT OF 
TRANSPORTATION 

101 - S42 6441 DO- INTERGOVERNMENTAL PROFES 1,S13.74 

3932 07/10/202: Claims 2 106787 WA STATE PATROL 

001 - S21 10 41 00 - PD ADMIN PROFESSIONAL SER1 13.2S 

3933 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106788 BARRY M WOODARD 

001 - S1 S 91 41 03 - LEGAL SERVICES-PUBLIC DEFEN 17,SOO.OO 
001 - S17 91 41 00 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 120.00 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 
Page: 

07/05/2023 
10 

Amount Memo 

424.00 P.O. BOX 3008 • 2023 RENEWAL 

135.30 LEOFF 1 LONG TERM CARE -

35.32 PD SHIPPING· 06/2023 

363.89 SERVICE CALL 06/14/2023 @3007 
2ND STREET • REPLACE EXISTING 

LEVER; 3 DUPLICATE KEYS· PRICE 

LEVEL 3 - ACTIVITIES BLDG 

86.22 SPARK PLUG, CARBURETOR 
CLEANER. MOTOR TUNE-UP & 
WIPER BLADES 

375.00 FULL CONFERENCE REGISTRATION 
MEMBER· G. COBB 

108.00 CPLS - JUNE 2023 

1,513. 7 4 SIGNAL MAINTENANCE, REPAIR & 
ADDITIONS • 05/2023 

13.25 BACKGROUND CHECKS· 06/2023 

17,620.00 PUBLIC DEFENDER & INTERPRETING 
SERVICE • 06/2023 

3934 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106789 YAKIMA CITY TREASURER 35,743.48 POLICE DISPATCH FEE & 
SURCHARGE • 2ND QTR 2023 

001 - S21 20 41 00 - INTERGOV PROF SVCS-PD DISP. 35,743.48 

3935 07/10/2022 Claims 2 106790 YAKIMA CITY TREASURER 

001 - S22 10 49 01 - FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES 444,219.SO 

444,219.50 UNION GAP FIRE PROTECTION 
SERVICE - 2ND QTR 2023 

3936 07/10/202; Claims 2 106791 YAKIMA CITY TREASURER 19,895.03 ITSVCS-2NDQTR2023 - DESKTOP, 

001 - 511 60 41 02 - IT SERVICES 
001 - S 13 10 41 03 - IT SERVICES 
001 - S14 23 41 04 - IT SERVICES-FINANCE 

S10.S9 
783.59 

2,S27.29 

MOBILE & POLICE C/E 



WARRANT/CHECK REGISTER 
CITY OF UNION GAP 

01/01/2023 To: 07 /31/2023 

Trans Date Type Acct # War # Claimant 

001 - S 14 30 41 03 - IT SERVICES-CLERK 1,203.69 
001 - S21 10 41 01 - PD CLERICAL IT PROFESSIONAL 9,778.31 
001 - S24 20 41 03 - IT SERVICES-BUILDING 1,461.30 
403 - S31 30 41 01 - STORMWATER - IT SERVICES 216.01 
401 - S34 SO 41 04 - IT SERVICES 6S 1.29 
403 - S3S SO 41 OS - IT SERVICES 442.S3 
402 - S3 7 SO 41 04 - IT SERVICES 1 S3.83 
101 - S42 30 41 04 - IT SERVICES 171.S9 
101 - S43 30 41 03 - IT SERVICES 3S8.14 
128 - S47 10 41 04 - IT SERVICES 287.07 
001 - SS8 60 41 03 - IT SERVICES-PLANNING 870.S6 
001 - SS8 60 41 03 - IT SERVICES-PLANNING 218.82 
001 - S76 80 41 04 - IT SERVICES-PARKS 260.42 

3937 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106792 YAKIMA CO PUBLIC SERVICES 

403 - S313049 00- STORMWATER-MISCELLANEOU 21.00 
001 - S76 80 49 00 - MISCELLANEOUS 1 S8.40 

3938 07/10/202.: Claims 2 106793 YAKIMAVALLEYTOURISM 

107 - SS7 30 41 00 - YAKIMA VALLEY TOURISM 

001 Current Expense Fund 
101 Street Fund 
107 Convention Center Reserve Fund 
108 Tourism Promotion Area Fund 
111 Library & Community Center Fund 
114 Seniors Activity Fund 
123 Criminal Justice Fund 
127 Commute Trip Reduction Fund 
128 Transit System Fund 
170 Housing Rehabilitation Fund 
401 Water Fund 
402 Garbaqe Fund 
403 Sewer Fund 
414 Water Deposits 
630 General State/County-Shared Rev Fund 

S00.00 

Time: 14:13:40 Date: 07/05/2023 
Page: 11 

Amount Memo 

179.40 YARD WASTE & GARBAGE 

500.00 STATE OF WASHINGTON TOURISM • 
BASIC MEMBERSHIP 2023 

S73,006.81 
S,929.01 

S00.00 
92.40 

300,197.S6 
61.67 

4,132.S4 
4.97 

7S,604.86 
663.SO 

22,230.21 
122,399.94 
88,970.31 

1,076.18 
108.00 

----Claims: 
1,194,977.96 

1, 194,977.96 




